GLIAL CELL LINE-DERIVED NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR (GDNF) FAMILY OF LIGANDS IS A MITOGENIC AGENT IN HUMAN GLIOBLASTOMA AND CONFERS CHEMORESISTANCE IN A LIGAND-SPECIFIC FASHION

DR <u>NG</u> WAI HOE MBBS (NUS), FRACS (NEUROSURGERY)

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF MEDICINE JULY 2007

DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY

NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to Associate Professor Too Heng Phon for his guidance and encouragement and opening my eyes to the challenging and engaging world of basic research. The various discussions we have had over the past few years have taught me lessons beyond the laboratory.

I also acknowledge the help from my colleagues in the laboratory (John, Li Foong and Zhun Ni) who have patiently guided me through the nuances of laboratory techniques, thereby allowing me to circumnavigate the steep learning curve.

The Singapore Millennium Foundation (SMF) has been very supportive in my research endeavour and provided me with valuable scholarship support without which this research would have been not possible.

My employers, the National Neuroscience Institute (NNI) have been steadfast in their support in my training as a fledging clinician-scientist for which I am forever grateful.

Most importantly, I am thankful to God, who is the author of all knowledge and whose wisdom is incomprehensible. In my quest for knowledge, I am constantly humbled by how little I know, and how much remains unknown.

Lastly, I dedicate this work to my family (Claire, Seth and Kaela) who mean the world to me and who are my biggest fans.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

- **1.1 Brain Tumours**
- 1.2 Astrocytomas
- **1.3 Malignant Astrocytoma**
- 1.4 Epidemiology of Malignant Astrocytoma
- 1.5 Aetiology
- **1.6 Genetic Factors**
- **1.7 Environmental Factors**
- 1.7.1 Radiation
- 1.7.2 Chemicals
- 1.7.3 Diet
- 1.7.4 Tobacco
- 1.7.5 Drugs
- 1.7.6 Infection
- 1.7.7 Mobile Phone
- **1.8** Clinical Features
- 1.9 Management
- 1.10 Limitations in Treatment
- 1.11 Molecular Biology
- 1.11.1 Multi-step Theory of Tumourigenesis

- 1.11.2 Glioma Invasiveness
- 1.11.3 Angiogenesis
- 1.11.4 Glioma Signaling Pathways and Growth Factors
- 1.12 Glial Cell-Line Derived Neurotrophic Factor (GDNF) Family
- 1.12.1 GDNF Family of Ligands (GFL)
- 1.12.2 GDNF-Family Signalling
- 1.12.3 RET Dysfunction and GDNF in Disease
- 1.12.4 GDNF and Cancer
- 1.12.5 GDNF and Malignant Astrocytoma
- 1.12.6 GFRa Splice Isoforms/Variants
- 1.13 Objective of Research Project

MATERIALS AND METHODS

- 2.1 Cell Culture
 - (a) Cell Lines
 - (b) Cell Stock
 - (c) Maintenance of Cell Lines
- 2.2 Human Glioma Specimens
 - (a) Ethics Approval
 - (b) Patient Consent
 - (c) Specimens

- 2.3 Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)
 - (a) Reverse Transcription (RT) Reaction
 - (b) Sequence Independent Real-Time PCR using SYBR Green I Plasmids Construction
 - (c) Sequence Independent Real-Time PCR
- 2.4 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU)
- 2.5 Ligands
- 2.6 Cytotoxicity Assay
 - (a) MTS Assay
 - (b) Normalisation of MTS Assay
 - (c) Propidium Iodide (Pi) Staining
- 2.7 Western Blot
 - (a) **Protein Quantification by BCA Assay**
 - (b) SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)
 - (c) Western blotting and detection
- 2.8 Study on the Impact of Cell Tumour Burden on Chemoresistance
- 2.9 Study on the effects of GDNF and NRTN on BCNU chemotherapy and its role in chemoresistance

RESULTS

3.1 Higher glioblastoma cell loading required higher concentration of BCNU to acheive similar cell cytotoxicity

- 3.2 Morphology of Cells
- **3.3** Cell Proliferation of Assay
- **3.4 GDNF Expression Level**
- 3.5 Expression of RET Isoforms (RET 9 and RET 51)
- 3.6 Expression of NCAM
- **3.7** Expression of GFRα1a
- 3.8 Expression of GFRa1b
- 3.9 Differential Expression Levels of GFRa1b and GFRa1a
- 3.10 Expression of GFRa2
- 3.11 Study of Effects of GDNF on BCNU chemotherapy
- 3.12 Study on the Effects of NRTN on BCNU chemotherapy
- 3.13 Signaling Mapping on stimulation with BCNU and GDNF for LN-229 and A172

DISCUSSION

- 4.1 Role of Radical Surgery
- 4.2 Why surgical resection then?
- 4.3 Higher glioblastoma tumour burden reduces efficacy of BCNU chemotherapy: in vitro evidence to support radical surgery for malignant gliomas
- 4.4 Growth Factors
- 4.5 Cellular Signalling

- 4.6 Paracrine and Autocrine Loops in Cancer
- 4.7 Paracrine and Autocrine Loops in Gliomas
- 4.8 Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (GDNF) Family
- 4.9 GDNF and Malignant Gliomas
- 4.10 Splice Isoforms/Variants
- 4.11 Splice Variants in Gliomas
- 4.12 **Potentiation of Chemoresistance**
- 4.13 Signalling Mapping

FUTURE STUDIES

BIBLIOGRAPHY

APPENDICES

SUMMARY

High-grade gliomas are highly malignant tumours. Standard therapy includes surgical resection, radiation therapy and chemotherapy. However, in spite of advances in surgical techniques, medical technology, radiation therapy, chemotherapeutic regimens and other forms of therapy, the overall prognosis remains poor. The median survival of anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma is about 3 years and 1 year respectively. Sadly, the survival outcome has not significantly improved the past 2-3 decades.

Surgery plays an important role in the management of high-grade gliomas. Surgery is critical for histological diagnosis of high-grade gliomas. Aggressive tumour resection can also rapidly reduce the intracranial hypertension associated with bulky disease and provide symptomatic relief and improved quality of life. The most contentious issue surrounds the controversy on whether surgery can improve overall survival and review of the literature shows that there is currently no good data to support this hypothesis.

In vitro experiments however demonstrate that greater tumour loading of glioblastoma cells requires higher levels of the chemotherapeutic agent 1,3-Bis (2-Chloroethyl)-1-Nitrosurea (BCNU) to achieve similar levels of cellular death when compared to a lower tumour loading. Increased tumour burden can therefore confer chemoresistance. Reduction of tumour burden may therefore potentiate adjuvant therapy. It is likely that the chemoresistance properties are potentiated by autocrine and paracrine pathways and facilitated by mitogenic agents.

Local tissue invasion distinguishes high-grade astrocytomas from low-grade tumours and this attribute limits the effectiveness of treatment. High-grade gliomas tend to recur locally until the patient succumbs to microscopic invasion and local compression of vital centres in the brain. The invasive and mitogenic behaviour of gliomas is influenced by proteases, angiogenic factors and growth factors.

Co-expression of growth factors with their corresponding receptors in gliomas may result in complex ligand-receptor interactions. The growth factor receptors expressed on the surface of tumour cells may bind soluble ligand produced by the same (autocrine), or adjacent cells (paracrine). In addition, membrane-anchored growth factor isoforms generated by alternative splicing may bind to the same (juxtacrine) or adjacent tumour cells (paracrine). Intracellular interactions between growth factor receptors and their ligands can also lead to intracrine activation of signaling cascades.

Many different growth factor/receptor systems have been implicated in the proliferative behaviour of gliomas such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), epidermal growth factor (EGFR), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), nerve growth factor (NGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), brain-derived growth factor (BDGF) and scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (SF/HGF).

Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) was originally identified in 1993 by Lin et al as a neurotrophic factor. It was isolated from a rat glioma cell line supernatant and was shown to confer increased survival for embryonic midbrain dopamine neurons. Subsequently, it was also found that GDNF also had potent trophic functions in spinal motorneurons and central noradrenergic neurons. The GDNF-family ligands (GFL) consists of GDNF, neurturin (NRTN), artemin (ARTN) and persephin (PSPN). These GFLs bind to specific GDNF-family receptor- α (GFR α) co-receptors and activate RET. The GFR α receptors are linked to the plasma membrane by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor. Four classes of GFR α receptors have been characterised (GFR α 1-4), which determine ligand specificity. GDNF binds to GFR α 1, NRTN binds to GFR α 2, ARTN to GFR α 3 and PSPN binds to GFR α 4. In addition, NRTN and ARTN may crosstalk weakly with GFR α 1 and GDNF with GFR α 2 and GFR α 3.

Spliced isoforms are also abundant in the GDNF-family receptor- α (GFR α). GFR α 1 receptor exists in two highly homologous alternatively spliced isoforms: GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b. GFR α 1b is identical to GFR α 1a except for the absence of 5 amino acids (140DVFQQ144), encoded by exon 5. In addition, GFR α 2 and GFR α 4 receptor spice isoforms have also been identified in mammalian tissue. Three variants of GFR α 2 receptors (GFR α 2a/2b/2c) have been identified. At least two splice variants of GFR α 4 have been identified in rat tissue.

GDNF has been implicated as a mitogenic agent in many cancers such as pancreatic cancer, biliary cancer and phaeochromocytoma. GDNF is ubiquitous in the central nervous system and neural tissue and hence can also play a role in the pathogenesis of high-grade glioma. GDNF and its receptor GDNF-Family Receptor- α 1 (GFR α 1) have been demonstrated to be strongly expressed in human gliomas. Furthermore, GDNF has also been demonstrated to be a proliferation factor for rat C6 glioma cells by antisense experiments. GDNF was overexpressed in the glioblastoma cell lines LN-229 and A172. Significantly, the expression of GDNF was also found to be increased in all glioma specimens when compared to adult brain, foetal brain, adult liver and foetal liver. All glioblastoma samples and cell lines demonstrated increased level of expression and the highest expression level was observed in a sample of glioblastoma tissue.

The glioblastoma cell lines had significantly lower levels of expression of GFR α 1a compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 11 out of the 13 human glioma samples had decreased levels of expression of GFR α 1a compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 2 out of the 8 glioblastoma samples had elevated levels of GFR α 1a expression.

In the analysis of GFR α 1b expression, the 2 glioblastoma cell lines had increased expression of GFR α 1b compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 5 glioma samples had elevated levels of expression of GFR α 1b compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. These were all human glioblastoma samples.

On close analysis of the expression levels of GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b levels, an interesting observation was noted. The glioblastoma cell lines demonstrated much higher levels of GFR α 1b expression than GFR α 1a expression. For cell line LN-229, the ratio of GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a was 16.3 and the ratio of GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a was 14.3 for cell line A172. A similar trend was also noted in 7 out of the 8 human glioblastoma samples. The GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a ranged from 1.73 to 5.44 in the 7 specimens. Only one human

glioblastoma specimen had a higher GFR α 1a/GFR α 1b ratio. There exists a differential expression level of GFR α 1b and GFR α 1a with an elevated GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a ratio.

The potential role of GDNF in conferring chemoresistance was examined. Glioblastoma cell lines were pre-treated with GDNF and subjected to BCNU chemotherapy and compared to a control group without pretreatment with GDNF. In the analysis for chemotherapy cytotoxicity effects using the MTS assay, GDNF was shown to confer very significant cellular survival in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy. Replicating the experiments in a similar fashion with pretreatment with Neurturin (NRTN) did not demonstrate any survival advantage. This demonstrates that the ability to potentiate chemoresistance is ligand-specific.

GDNF has been found to influence the migration and mitogenic behaviour of lowgrade gliomas. Treatment of low-grade Hs683 cells with GDNF significantly increased migration comparable to high-grade C6 cells. The molecular mechanism is mediated by the activation of JNK-1, ERK 1/2 and p38 MAPK. Treatment of Hs683 cells with 60ng/ml of GDNF markedly activated JNK. A kinetic study of GDNF-induced JNK activation showed that JNK was markedly activated within 30 min after GDNF treatment and returned to the basal level at 90 min. ERK 1/2 were activated at 10 min after GDNF treatment and the activated levels remained until 60 min. GDNF markedly increased the active form of p38 MAPK within 10 min, maximally activated at 30 min and decreased at 60 min after the treatment³¹¹.

In the light of the evidence, we examined the modulation of MAPK and Akt signaling pathways in glioblastoma cell lines. LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell

lines were stimulated with BCNU and GNDF and the experiments were studied at 0, 10, 30, 60 and 180 mins respectively.

Western blotting showed that BCNU induces activation of MAP kinases (ERK1/2, JNK and p38) in both LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines. BCNU was however found to reduce the background activation of Akt in the A172 human glioblastoma cell line.

GDNF was found to induce the activation of ERK1/2 and Akt in both LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines. GDNF was however found to reduce the background activation of JNK and the A172 human glioblastoma cell line in a time-dependent fashion.

The ability of GDNF to promote Akt activity and inhibit JNK activity may contribute to the increased cellular survival to BCNU chemotherapy.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Systematic reviews of the extent of resection influencing outcome Table 2: Studies (1999 – 2006) excluded by the Cochrane review

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Effects of BCNU on cytotoxicity of LN-229 and A172 Cell Lines

Figure 2: Normal Appearance of LN-229 Cell Line (400X magnification)

Figure 3: Pyknotic Appearance of LN-229 Cell Line after treatment with BCNU (400X magnification)

Figure 4: Propidium Iodide (Pi) staining demonstrating DNA fragmentation

Figure 5: Survival Curve for Cell Line LN-229

Figure 6: Survival Curve for Cell Line A172

Figure 7: Expression Levels of GDNF

Figure 8: Expression Levels of RET 9 and RET 51

Figure 9: Expression Levels of NCAM

Figure 10: Expression Levels of GFRa1a

Figure 11: Expression Levels of GFRa1b

Figure 12: Differential expression levels of GFRa1a and GFRa1b

Figure 13: Expression Levels of GFRα2

Figure 14a: Morphology of LN-229 *with* pre-treatment with GDNF prior to treatment with BCNU at 50µg/ml (Magnification 400X)

Figure 14b: Morphology of LN-229 *without* pre-treatment with GDNF prior to treatment with BCNU at 50µg/ml (Magnification 400X)

Figure 15a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 1)

Figure 15b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 2)

Figure 15c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 3)

Figure 16a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 1)

Figure 16b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 2)

Figure 16c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 3)

Figure 17a: Morphology of LN-229 with pre-treatment with NRTN prior to treatment with BCNU at $50\mu g/ml$ (100X Magnification)

Figure 17b: Morphology of LN-229 without pre-treatment with NRTN prior to treatment with BCNU at 50μ g/ml (100X Magnification)

Figure 18a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 1)

Figure 18b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 2)

Figure 18c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 3)

Figure 19a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line A172 (Experiment 1)

Figure 19b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 2)

Figure 19c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 3)

Figure 20: Western Blotting showing activation of phospho-ERK1/2, ERK 1/2, phosphor-JNK, phsopho-p38, phosphor-Akt on cell lines LN-229 and A172 on stimulation with BCNU and GNDF

Figure 21: Diagram summarising the interplay between BCNU and GDNF stimulation pathways influencing survival and death pathways in GBM cell lines

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGNIR	Advisory Group on Non-ionising Radiation
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AML	Acute Myeloid Leukaemia
Artemin	ARTN
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
BBB	Blood-Brain-Barrier
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BCNU	1,3-Bis (2-Chloroethyl)-1-Nitrosurea
BDGF	Brain-Derived growth Factor
bp	Base pairs
BTSG	Brain Tumour Study Group
c-Jun	Proto-oncogene avian sarcoma virus 17
Ct	Threshold Cycles
CCNU	Losmustine
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
Cho	Choline
CNS	Central Nervous System
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
Cr	Creatine
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
СТ	Computed Tomography
Cu^+	Cuprous

Da	Dalton
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
3	Efficiency of target amplification
EBV	Ebstein-Barr Virus
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EOR	Extent of resection
ErbB2/HER2/Neu	v-erb-b2 erythroblastic leukemia viral
	oncogene homolog 2, neuro/glioblastoma
	derived oncogene homolog (avian)
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FBS	Foetal Bovine Serum
¹⁸ FDG	¹⁸ F-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
FGFR	Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
G1	Gap 1
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GADPH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GBM	Glioblastoma Multiforme
GDNF	Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor

GFL	GDNF-Family Ligand
GFR	GDNF-Family Receptor
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
GSM	Global System for Mobile Communications
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Syndrome
HRP	Horseradish Peroxidase
IC	Inhibitory Concentration
ICNIRP	International Commission on Non-ionising
	Radiation Protection
IEGMP	Independent Expert Group on Mobile
	Phones
IGF	Insulin-like Growth Factor
IL	Interleukin
IRB	Institutional Review Board
IRF	Interferon Regulatory Factor
IU	International Unit
JC virus	John Cunningham virus
JNK	c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase
kDa	kiloDalton
Lac	Lactate
Lip	Lipids
LOE	Level of Evidence
LOH	Loss of Heterozygosity

μg	microgram
μL	microlitre
μΜ	micromolar
mg	milligram
mL	milliliter
mM	millimolar
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MEN	Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia
MGMT	O ⁶ -methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase
MI	Myoinositol
MMPS	Metalloproteases
miRNA	micro-RNA
mins	minutes
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MRS	Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy
MTS	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-
	carboxymethoxyphnyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-
	2H-tetrazolium inner salt
NAA	N-acetylaspartate
NCAM	Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule
NCCTG	North Central Cancer Treatment Group
Neuturin	NRTN
NF-1	Neurofibromatosis Type-1

NF-2	Neurofibromatosis Type-2
Ng	nanogram
NGF	Nerve Growth Factor
NHG	National Healthcare Group
NNI	National Neuroscience Institute
NRPB	National Radiological Protection Board
NSW	New South Wales
ORF	Open Reading Frame
p53	protein 53 kDa
PAI	Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Solution
PCr	Phosphocreatine
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived Growth Factor
PDGFR	Platelet-derived Growth Factor Receptor
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
pH	potential of hydrogen
Pi	Propidium Iodide
PI3K/AKT-PKB	Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase/AKT-Protein
	Kinase B
PIP ₂	Phosphatidylinositols(4,5)P ₂
PIP ₃	Phosphatidylinositols(3,4,5)P ₃
РКС	Protein Kinase C

PLC-y/PKC	Phospholipase C-y/Protein Kinase C
PML	Progressive Multifocal
	Leukoencephalopathy
pmol	picomole
PSPN	Persephin
PTEN	Phosphatase with tensin homology
PXA	Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma
RB	Retinoblastoma
RCT	Randomised Control Trial
RET	Rearranged during transfection
RF	Radiofrequency
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RT	Reverse Transcription
RTK	Receptor Tyrosine Kinase
RTOG	Radiation Therapy Oncology Group
SCC	Squamous Cell Carcinoma
SCID	Severe Combined Immune Deficient
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyarylamide
	Gel Electrophoresis
SF/HGF	Scatter Factor/Hepatocyte Growth Factor
SP	Side population
SPECT	Single Positron Emission Computed
	Tomography

Taxol	Paclitaxel
TB	Tuberculosis
TBST	Tris buffered saline Tween-20
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
TIMPS	Tissue Inhibitors of Matrix Metalloproteases
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
tPA	tissue plasminogen activator
TTSH	Tan Tock Seng Hospital
Tyr	Tyrosine
UK	United Kingdom
UPDRS	Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale
US	United States
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VHL	Von Hippel-Lindau Disease
VP16	Etoposide
WHO	World Health Organisation

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Brain Tumours

Brain tumour is one of the most devastating forms of human disease. The brain has long been considered sacrosanct and inviolable and the concept of a tumour in the brain is frightening not just to the layman but to medical doctors as well.

Yet brain tumours are one of the most common forms of tumours in humans. They are the second most common form of malignancy in children and the sixth to eight most common form of malignancy in adults. Brain tumours are conventional categorised into primary tumours which originate in the brain and secondary or metastatic brain tumours which originate from a different site such as the lung, breast or colon.

Primary tumours of the brain and spine account for less than 2% of malignancies but are responsible for 7% of the years lost of life lost from cancer prior to 70 years of age. In childhood, these figures are even more dramatic and primary brain tumours account for 20% of malignant tumours diagnosed before 15 years of age¹.

The most common form of primary brain tumours are gliomas which originate from glial cells. There are many forms of gliomas: astrocytomas, ependymomas and oligodendrogliomas are some of the examples.

1.2 Astrocytomas

The term astrocytoma was used as early as the late 19th century by Virchow² but was only firmly used in histopathological classification by Baily and Cushing in 1926³. Astrocytomas are the most common gliomas and account for more than 60% of all

primary brain tumours⁴⁻⁵. They arise from star-shaped glial cells known as astrocytes. In adults, astrocytomas most often arise in the cerebrum. In children, they occur in the brain stem, the cerebellum, and the cerebrum. Astrocytomas are classified by various grading systems. Examples of these are the Kernohan⁶, Ringertz⁷, St Anne-Mayo⁸⁻⁹ and the World Health Organisation (WHO)¹⁰ grading systems. The introduction of a grading system marked the beginning of the era of refining different classifications based on histogenesis. The major reason for this shift in philosophy resulted from increasing awareness amongst neuropathologists, neurosurgeons and neuro-oncologists that a meaningful classification schema of central nervous system tumour can give an indication of biologic behaviour and provide a basis for the development of treatment strategies.

The most commonly used grading system currently used is the World Health Organisation (WHO) Classification system. The WHO classification separates the astrocytic tumours into two major categories: the diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas and the relatively more circumscribed, specialised variants of astrocytoma (pilocytic astrocytoma, pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma and subependymal giant cell astrocytoma)¹¹.

The diffusely infiltrating group consists of astrocytic tumours which generally infiltrate beyond the macroscopically apparent brain-tumour interface and frequently undergo anaplastic transformation. The more circumscribed group comprises tumours which show limited infiltration into surrounding brain and which infrequently undergo malignant transformation¹².

24

Four different tumour grades are classified under the WHO grading system: Grade I to Grade IV. Tumours with nuclear atypia alone are designated Grade II; those which in addition to nuclear atypia demonstrate mitotic activity are Grade III; and neoplasms showing atypia, mitosis, endothelial proliferation and/or necrosis are considered Grade IV. WHO Grade I and II tumours are known as low-grade astrocytomas whereas WHO Grade III and IV tumours are known as high-grade or malignant astrocytomas. The most common WHO Grade III astrocytoma is anaplastic astrocytoma and the most common WHO Grade IV astrocytoma is glioblastoma.

High-grade astrocytomas are highly infiltrative and aggressive tumours with marked proliferative potential. Anaplastic astrocytoma may arise from previously lowgrade astrocytoma or de novo without an identifiable precursor lesion as a high-grade astrocytoma. The progression of anaplastic astrocytoma to glioblastoma influences the prognosis of the disease. The mean time to progression is 2 years and the mean survival is 3 years¹³⁻¹⁵. Glioblastoma is the most common astrocytoma, accounting for approximately 12-15% of all intracranial neoplasms and 50-60% of all astrocytic tumours⁴. In most European and North American countries, the incidence is in the range of 2-3 new cases per 100,000 population per year⁵. It is however regrettably the most malignant astrocytic tumour. It consists of poorly differentiated neoplastic astrocytes and histological features include cellular polymorphism, nuclear atypia, increased mitotic activity, vascular thrombosis, microvascular proliferation and necrosis. Similar to anaplastic astrocytoma, glioblastoma may arise de novo as glioblastoma or may transform from diffuse astrocytoma (WHO Grade II) or anaplastic astrocytoma. The diagnostic hallmark is the presence of prominent microvascular proliferation and/or necrosis.

1.3 Malignant Astrocytoma

Malignant astrocytomas are the most frequent primary brain tumours in adults and represent a significant cause of morbidity and mortality. The inherent neurological and mental deterioration with disease progression is a source of great distress not just to the patient but their family members. Family members often feel helpless as they see their loved one progressively and relentlessly deteriorating before their very eyes. The peak incidence of malignant astrocytoma in the 4th and 5th decade of life translates that patients are frequently afflicted at the most productive period of their lives⁴. The high cost of treatment and high fatality rate has obvious serious personal, social and public health consequences.

1.4 Epidemiology of Malignant Astrocytoma

Malignant astrocytomas are the most common primary brain tumours and would generally constitute over 40% of all primary brain tumours. The distribution of malignant astrocytoma in the population is age specific. The probability of histologic malignancy in an astrocytoma is only 0.34 between the years of 30 and 34 and is 0.85 after the age of 60^{16} . The incidence per 100,000 population of glioblastoma and astrocytoma rises from 0.2 and 0.5 in the under-14 age group to 4.5 and 1.7 respectively after the age of 45 years¹⁷. There is a distinct difference in the location of occurrence of these tumours in the different age groups. In the younger age group (<25 years), 67% of astrocytomas are

located in the posterior fossa whereas 90% of the tumours are located in the supratentorial compartment in the older age group (>25 years). The incidence of malignant astrocytoma is more common in males compared to females in a $3:2 \text{ ratio}^{16}$. There are trends to show that the incidence of astrocytomas can vary between racial groups or nationalities. This incidence is detected even on incidence rates standardized to the world population for males and females separately. Some of the variation may be due to access to health care and medical technology. Interesting, Japan which has an advanced health care system and modern technology to Western Developed Countries has rates of Central Nervous System (CNS) cancer which are a third or less of those observed in the United States. The incidence in other Asian countries is also low¹⁸. Some ethic groups such as New Zealand Maoris and New Zealand Pacific Polynesian Islanders have higher incidence rates than Caucasian New Zealanders. In contrast, African Americans have a lower incidence than White Americans in the United States (US). Jews living in the Israel and Jewish populations in the US have elevated rates¹⁹⁻²¹. McCredie et al reviewed the CNS tumour incidence by ethnic group in New South Wales (NSW) and found no stastically significant differences in males but a significantly lower rate in female migrants from Asia²². Giles et al similarly also found lower rates of malignant CNS tumours in female migrants from Middle East and Asia²³. In Singapore Chinese, the age standardized incidence of CNS tumour for adults aged 35-64 years was found to be 2.5 per 100,000 for males and 0.9 per 100,000 for females. This is significantly lower than the age standardized incidence for US Whites which range from 7.4 to 13.7 per 100,000 for males and 4.4 to 12.1 for females¹⁸. Parkin et al similarly demonstrated that

the incidence of astrocytoma in children aged 0-14 in Singapore was 3.8 per 100,000 compared to 10.3 per 100,000 in New South Wales and 15.7 per 100,000 in Sweden²⁴.

1.5 Aetiology

In the vast majority of cases, malignant astrocytomas occur sporadically without any identifiable familial tendency or environmental risk factors.

The cell of origin of malignant astrocytomas has traditionally been thought to be the astrocyte based on staining and morphological similarities^{4,25}. Malignant transformation, like in all other cancers, has been attributed to genetic aberrations in normal astrocytes leading to dysregulated growth and proliferation. This hypothesis has however been never adequately tested. Furthermore, the concept of dedifferentiation of mature glia cells is questionable and fails to explain the presence of mixed tumours such as oligoastrocytomas.

More than two decades ago, Cairncross proposed a radical hypothesis that glioblastoma may be likened to chronic myelogenous leukaemia, a neoplasm that arises following transformation of a myeloid precursor cell²⁶. There is now evidence to support this hypothesis as the presence of pleuripotential neural progenitor cells have been demonstrated in the subventricular zone of mature brain²⁷, the lining of the lateral ventricles, the dentate gyrus²⁸, within the hippocampus and subcortical white matter²⁹. Lapidot et al had previously demonstrated that cells that from acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) patients exhibiting the haemopoietic stem cell surface phenotype cluster of differentiation (CD) 34⁺ and CD 38⁻ could be injected into severe combined immune-deficient (SCID) mice to generate a leukaemia similar to that of the original patient³⁰.

Bonnet and Dick subsequently identified a serially transplantable population of human leukaemia cells enriched for tumour-initiating abilities in 1997 and developed an experimental system in which to test the repopulation capacity of normal haemopoietic and leukaemic human cells when injected into mice³¹. Al-Hajj et al demonstrated that isolating cells on the basis of a CD44⁺CD24^{-/low}Lineage⁻ cell phenotype enriched the tumour-initiating ability of surgically explanted breast cancer cells from a primary site of disease or from metastatic pleural effusions. This constituted the first identification of a cancer stem cell population in solid tumours that could self-renew, proliferate and differentiate to regenerate the phenotypically heterogeneous tumour when injected into mice³².

In 2003, Singh et al demonstrated that tumour-derived neurosphere cells from human brain tumours expressing the neural stem cell surface marker CD133 had an increased capacity for self-renewal and proliferation in vitro³³. The presence of pleuripotential neural progenitor stem cells has been identified in glioblastoma tumours³⁴⁻

Known aetiological agents associated with increase incidence of brain tumours include genetic syndromes, familial clustering and environmental factors.

1.6 Genetic Factors

Several hereditary and congenital diseases have been identified which have a high preponderance of developing not just astrocytoma but also other brain tumours such as meningioma, haemangioblastoma and vestibular schwannoma. Examples of these diseases includes: Neurofibromatosis Type 1 (NF-1), Neurofibromatosis Type 2 (NF-2)³⁸⁻

³⁹, Tuberous sclerosis⁴⁰, Von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL)⁴¹⁻⁴², ataxia telangiectasia⁴³, Gorlin and Turcot syndrome⁴⁴. These diseases are generally inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion but may exhibit varying degrees of penetrance. Other genetic diseases with increased incidence of brain tumours are Li-Fraumeni syndrome⁴⁵ and the multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) type 1⁴⁶.

A familial association of astrocytomas where certain families have increased incidence of astrocytomas has also been proposed⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹. This theory is however still controversial, although there is evidence to show that patients newly diagnosed with astrocytomas have a close relative with a verifiable history of a glial tumour. Ikizler reported that 6.7 % of newly diagnosed cases had a significant family history of glial tumour. This data is substantiated with observation that 9.4% of anaplastic astrocytoma patients had at least one first degree relative with an astrocytic tumour⁵⁰. A significant proportion of patients with family history of up to 16% have been reported by Mahaley et al⁵¹. These figures are significantly higher than the rate of random chance occurrence which is estimated to be 4%.

1.7 Environmental Factors

There are many reports in the literature investigating protean associations between environmental factors and increased risk of brain tumours. However considering the many variable factors, number of studies and low statistical power, it is difficult to definitely prove a direct causation effect and it is expected that many of these factors will be merely chance associations⁵².

1.7.1 Radiation

There is evolving evidence that exposure to radiation in utero⁵³⁻⁵⁴, childhood⁵⁵ and adulthood⁵⁶ may increase the risk of brain tumours. Particularly, the use of radiation therapy to treat children with tinea capitis in Eastern European have demonstrated increased incidence of meningiomas, gliomas and nerve sheath tumours⁵⁵. High dose radiation has been shown to increase the risk of meningioma but not glioma in adults⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹. The role of non-ionising radiation in the pathogenesis of brain tumours such as magnetic field radiation is contentious and these forms of radiation are not believed to have any tumour-promoting properties⁶⁰. It has been suggested that residential and occupational exposure to electromagnetic field radiation may relate to the development of CNS tumours in children⁶¹. This is however highly controversial and Feychting and Ahlbom have failed to find any significant associations between electromagnetic field exposures and CNS tumours in children⁶².

1.7.2 Chemicals

Putative carcinogenic chemicals implicated in causing brain tumours include benzene, organic solvents, lubricating oils, acrylonitrile, vinyl chloride, formaldehyde, polycyclic aromatics and phenol⁶³⁻⁶⁴. Observations in certain occupations with increased exposure such as in the electrical and electronic industry, oil refining, rubber, airplane industry, farming, manufacturing industry, pharmaceutical industry, laboratory professionals, embalmers and chemical industry have shown an associated higher risk of brain tumours⁶⁴⁻⁶⁸.

1.7.3 Diet

There is no strong association between dietary factors and brain tumours currently. Any association between diet and CNS tumours in humans remain unproven. There have been international correlations between CNS tumours and per capita consumption of total fat, animal protein and fats and oil⁶⁹. These differences can also be easily explained by international differences in technological advancement and ethnic differences in susceptibility. N-nitroso compounds and their precursors might increase brain tumour risk whereas the consumption of orange juice and vitamin supplements (which contain anti-oxidant substances such as ascorbic acid which inhibit endogenous nitrosation activity) has been associated with reduced risk of childhood CNS tumours⁷⁰⁻⁷¹. Most studies however used poor measures of intake and have been too small to detect any significant risks.

The association with alcohol is also sparse and inconsistent. Most studies have shown negative results⁷². In fact, there is literature to support that alcohol consumption can reduce the incidence of brain tumours⁵⁹.

1.7.4 Tobacco

The association between smoking and brain tumours is similar to the situation with dietary factors. The findings are difficult to interpret and it is difficult to prove any causation effect. Furthermore, there is conflicting data in the literature. Associations have been shown between passive smoking and childhood CNS tumours⁷³. Non-smoking wives of men who smoked more than 20 cigarettes a day were also shown to have a rate

of brain tumour almost fivefold to that of women married to non-smokers⁷⁴. Choi et al and Brownson et al however did not show any risk of CNS tumours associated with smoking^{72,75}.

1.7.5 Drugs

Long-term uses of drugs such as tranquilizers and anti-epileptic medication have been implicated in the pathogenesis of brain tumours⁷⁶. The regular use of tranquilisers was associated with an increased risk of gliomas⁷⁷. Olsen et al however found that there is an a high rate of CNS tumours in Danish epileptics which subsequently declined on follow-up, indicating that epilepsy rather than anti-epileptic agent was associated with CNS tumours⁷⁸. There is however no definitive epidemiological proof that these associations hold true at the present moment.

1.7.6 Infection

Various forms of infection including bacterial, parasitic and viral infections have been implicated in the aetiology of brain tumours. Viral infections are the most commonly implicated infections. (JC) virus has been reported in high-grade astrocytoma particularly in the setting of multifocal high-grade astrocytoma in Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (HIV/AIDS) patients with progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML)⁷⁹. C-type viruses and human papovavirus have also been detected in a variety of human central nervous system (CNS) tumours⁸⁰⁻⁸¹. Ebstein Barr Virus (EBV) is ubiquitous in cerebral lymphomas occurring in HIV/AIDS patients⁸² and the Rous Sarcoma Virus, adenovirus type 12, simian virus 40,

JC papovavirus and both murine and avian sarcoma viruses can induce CNS sarcoma in animal models⁸³⁻⁸⁵.

Associations between Tuberculosis (TB) and glioma have been reported, although there is suggestion that this may be related to an impaired immune response rather than as a direct association⁸⁶⁻⁸⁷.

Toxoplasmosis gondii infection has a predilection for neural tissue. It has been linked to astrocytoma in one study⁸⁸. However, a study by Ryan et al demonstrated that *Toxoplasmosis gondii* antibodies were associated with meningioma formation but not glioma pathogenesis⁸⁹.

1.7.7 Mobile Phone

The recent popularity and widespread use of mobile phones have led to great speculation that brain tumours may be caused by radiofrequency (RF) field from the use of mobile communication devices.

There are currently about 50 million mobile phones in use in the United Kingdom (UK) compared with around 25 million in 2000 and 4.5 million in 1995. These are supported by about 40 000 base stations in the UK network. The majority of these base stations operate under the Global System for Mobile Communications (GSM).

In less than ten years since the first GSM network was commercially launched as the second generation of mobile phones, it has become the world's leading and fastest growing telecommunications system. It is in use by more than one-sixth of the world's population and it has been estimated that at the end of January 2004 there were 1 billion GSM subscribers across more than 200 countries. The growth of GSM continues unabated with more than 160 million new customers in the last 12 months.

The extensive use of mobile phones suggests that users do not in general judge them to present a significant health hazard. Rather they have welcomed the technology and brought it into use in their everyday lives. Nevertheless, since their introduction, there have been persisting concerns about the possible impact of mobile phone technologies on health.

In 1999, the Independent Expert Group on Mobile Phones (IEGMP) was establish to review the situation. Its report, *Mobile Phones and Health* (the Stewart Report), was published in May 2000. It stated:

"The balance of evidence to date suggests that exposures to RF radiation below NRPB (National Radiological Protection Board) and ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection) guidelines do not cause adverse health effects to the general population.

There is now scientific evidence, however, which suggests that there may be biological effects occurring at exposures below these guidelines.

We conclude therefore that it is not possible at present to say that exposure to RF radiation, even at levels below national guidelines, is totally without potential adverse health effects, and that the gaps in knowledge are sufficient to justify a precautionary approach.

We recommend that a precautionary approach to the use of mobile phone technologies be adopted until much more detailed and scientifically robust information on any health effects becomes available."

35

Similarly, the Advisory Group on Non-ionising Radiation (AGNIR) has also concluded that the amount of radiation from radiofrequency field is insufficient to result in carcinogenesis from DNA damage. The most recent report "Mobile Phones and Health 2004" by the National Radiological Protection Board (NRPB) also reported that there was no association between the mobile phone use and brain tumours⁹⁰.

The issue of mobile phone usage and brain tumours is however of great current interest in view of the global widespread use and dependence on mobile communication devices. Individual studies have found positive correlations between high grade astrocytoma and phone use ipsilateral to the side of the tumours. Hardell et al identified one cohort study and 13 case-control studies and the data was analysed for mobile phone usage >10 years and ipsilateral exposure if presented. The results showed that the use of mobile phones for >10 years give a consistent pattern of an increased risk for acoustic neuroma and glioma, most pronounced for high-grade glioma. The risk is highest for ipsilateral exposure⁹¹. A meta-analysis by Lahkola et al however demonstrated no increased risk of brain tumours with mobile phone use greater than 5 years⁹². A large study conducted by Hepworth et al on a large cohort in United Kingdom also did not show any association between mobile phone usage and gliomas⁹³. It is cautionary to note that the phenomenon of widespread use of mobile phones is a relatively recent and although there is currently no evidence to support the association between mobile phone usage and brain tumours in the short and medium term, the absolute effects of long-term usage may not be quantifiable at the present moment.
1.8 Clinical Features

The clinical features of high-grade astrocytoma are similar to that of any other spaceoccupying mass lesion in the brain. The signs and symptoms are a function of the location rather than the actual pathology.

The presentation generally will fall into the following categories:

- (A) Signs and symptoms of elevated intracranial pressure This can result from the tumour mass, cerebral oedema or obstructive hydrocephalus and can manifest as headaches, drowsiness, nausea and vomiting. The headaches are classically worse in the morning and are relieved by vomiting although this relationship is frequently not present. Clinical signs may include evidence of altered consciousness, papilloedema and 6th nerve palsy. In severe cases of herniation syndrome, decerebration and evidence of 3rd nerve palsy and coma will ensue and the condition will rapidly lead to death if no active emergent therapy is instituted.
- (B) Focal neurological deficit- This is dependent on the location of the tumour. For instance a tumour located in the speech centre will present with speech disturbance. Examples of focal deficits are cranial nerve deficits, hemiparesis, dysphasia, paraesthesia, visual problems, mental and personality change.
- (C) Seizures- Brain tumours constitute 8% of first seizure in adults 15 years of age and older. In a series from the Montreal Neurological Institute, seizures were documented at some stage during the clinical course in 48% of 209 patients with hemispheric astrocytomas⁹⁴. Penfield et al reported a seizure incidence incidence of 37% in glioblastoma, which is nearly half as frequent as low-grade gliomas⁹⁵. The most frequently epileptogenic areas are the frontal, parietal and temporal lobes. Seizures

result from irritation of adjacent cortical structures by the tumour. Morphological and biochemical alterations occur which result for the epileptogenicity of the tumour⁹⁶⁻⁹⁷. Epilepsy may be is caused by interference with normal γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) and glutamate uptake and metabolism in the surrounding cortex. Analysis of human glioma biopsy specimens for the amino acid neurotransmitters and glutamine has shown that gliomas associated with epilepsy have a higher concentration of glutamine⁹⁸. It has also been demonstrated that hyperexcitable cortex surrounding the tumour lesion have significantly reduced populations of GABA and somatostatin containing neurons when compared to adjacent non-tumour, non-epileptogenic cortex from the same patient⁹⁹. Furthermore, comparison of the temporal cortex taken from patients with temporal lobe epilepsy with normal controls showed reduction in thickness of the cortex and reduction in the numbers of nerve cells. This decline was due to cell degeneration and was more severe for non-GABAergic nerve cells. Accordingly, the proportion of the GABA-positive neurons in the otherwise diminished neuronal population increased to 36.4% from the 32% control value. The number of GABAergic terminals, however, decreased even further, explaining the resulting disinhibition during epileptic seizures¹⁰⁰

Most cancers have the ability to metastasise or spread beyond the normal anatomical confines. This occurs by local infiltration or invasion, lymphatic spread or haematogenous spread. It is noteworthy that malignant gliomas give rise to significant morbidity and mortality by local infiltration and invasion and very rarely metastasise outside the cranium or the central nervous system. The nervous system is also devoid of lymphatic channels. A systematic review of the literature only reviewed 51 cases of malignant glioma with metastasis to the spine and extraneural structures. The consequences of metastatic spread is however dire with the vast majority of patient not surviving beyond 6 months after the detection of metastatic disease¹⁰¹.

1.9 Management

When the diagnosis of brain tumour is considered, initial imaging studies should be performed. This initial diagnostic study should be a contrast enhanced computed tomography (CT) or preferably magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan. The identification of any mass lesion, particularly in the presence of contrast enhancement is highly suggestive of a high-grade astrocytoma.

There have been recent advances in neuroradiological techniques in functional and metabolic imaging of brain tumours. The functional imaging techniques of positron emission tomography (PET), single positron emission computed tomography (SPECT) and magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) are able to quantify various aspects of brain tumour metabolism. Information regarding tumour blood flow, tumour growth rate, degree of oxygenation, potential of hydrogen (pH) and chemical composition such as lactate (Lac), choline (Cho), N-acetylaspartate (NAA), phosphocreatine (PCr), creatine (Cr) and lipids (Lip) can be obtained.

Increased glucose uptake and glycolysis has long been associated with malignancy¹⁰². The analog of glucose used in PET is ¹⁸F-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose (¹⁸FDG). Low uptake of ¹⁸FDG has been found to be a good prognostic indicator¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁴. Herholz et al used ¹⁸FDG PET in 36 patients with WHO Grade 2 and 3 tumours and found that 10

out of 11 with a low metabolic index compared to 4 out of 10 patients with a high metabolic index survived during a mean follow-up of 24 months¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁶.

SPECT is a less costly and more investigative tool compared to PET. SPECT scanning uses radioisotopes utilised in nuclear medicine, namely technetium, gallium, thallium and iodine which act as blood flow markers¹⁰⁷. Thallium is highly sensitive for detecting viable tumour and has even been used to grade astrocytomas¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹².

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) uses the interaction between atomic nuclei and magnetic fields which then detects the resonance spectra of chemical compounds giving a reflection of in situ chemistry. Magnetic nuclear isotopes such as carbon 13, deuterium, fluorine 19, hydrogen 1, phosphorus, sodium 23 or tritium absorb radio frequency energy when placed in a magnetic field. The energy absorption results in resonance of the nuclei of the atoms in the chemical compound studied. Different atoms resonate at different frequencies, and this difference in resonance frequency reveals structural information about the brain metabolites such as choline (Cho), creatine and phosphocreatine (Cr), lactate (Lac), myoinositol (MI), lipids (Lip) and N-Acetylaspartate (NAA). In vivo MRS studies of glial brain tumors have reported increased levels of Cho compared to normal brain⁶. Elevated measurements of Cho/NAA and Cho/Cr ratios have also been found to be an important malignancy marker for histological grading of astrocytoma, and pattern recognition analysis of in vivo MRS has been proposed as a non-invasive method to enhance the diagnosis of human brain tumors grade¹¹³⁻¹¹⁷. Apart from Cho, the concentrations of other metabolites such as Lac, Lip and MI can vary even among tumors of similar histological grade, and these chemicals are the subject of active research¹¹⁸. Ishimaru has however demonstrated that metastases and glioblastomas

showed definite lipid or lipid/lactate mixture, but anaplastic astrocytomas showed no definite lipid signal¹¹⁷. Targeting areas with elevated lipid content may provide the highest diagnostic yield. Ng et al showed that regions with highest lipid content (Lip/Cr ratio) revealed glioblastoma (WHO Grade 4) whereas a region with high Cho/NAA ratio but low Lip/Cr ratio revealed anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO Grade 3)¹¹⁹. MRS targeting regions of highest lipid content may therefore be useful in maximizing the diagnostic yield and accuracy when performed stereotactic biopsy for patients with suspected astrocytoma.

At the end of the day, functional and metabolic imaging can only provide a guide on the probability of malignancy and has inherent problems with false positivity and negativity as well as issues with sensitivity and specificity. It has an important role in target selection to improve diagnostic yield and reduce sampling error in stereotactic biopsy and also has an important role in the follow-up of patients to help to distinguish between tumour recurrence or treatment effects. However, it has severe limitation in definitive diagnosis and can certainly not provide histological proof of the disease.

Tissue diagnosis is therefore extremely critical as the radiological appearance of malignant astrocytoma may be mimicked by numerous neoplastic and non-neoplastic lesions such as metastatic tumours, lymphoma, bacterial abscess, tuberculosis and cerebral infarction. It is also critical to distinguish between the various forms of primary brain tumours such as oligodendroglioma or ependymoma as this will impact on adjuvant therapy such as radiation therapy and chemotherapy.

The mainstay of therapy is a combination of surgery, radiation therapy and chemotherapy.

The main role of surgery is to obtain tissue diagnosis. Surgery can also significantly and rapidly reduce intracranial hypertension leading to symptomatic relief and recovery of reversible neurological deficits such as hemiparesis. The role of radical surgical resection of high-grade astrocytomas remains controversial although there is some literature to support the role of radical surgery to improve patient survival and disease free progression of the disease.

The type of surgery performed may range from a simple stereotactic biopsy, subtotal debulking of tumour or radical resection of the tumour. The type of surgery performed is dependent on the functional status of the patient, the presence of significant co-morbidities, tumour size and location.

Stereotactic biopsy is especially useful in elderly patients with significant deficits and co-morbidities as well as in situations where the tumour is small and deep-seated which would render more aggressive surgery dangerous.

In most patients with malignant glioma, surgery should be carried out with the aim of removing as much tumour with maximal preservation of structural and functional integrity of surrounding normal anatomy. The aims of radical resection are as follows¹²⁰⁻¹²¹.

- (A) Rapid 2-log cell kill
- (B) Remove resistant cells
- (C) Reduce sampling error associated with a small biopsy
- (D) Decrease intracranial hypertension
- (E) Improve neurological function
- (F) Potentiate adjuvant therapy such as radiation therapy and chemotherapy

(G) Potentially improve survival and disease-free progression

Radiation therapy has for the last 3 decades remained as the single most effective treatment for malignant astrocytoma¹²²⁻¹²⁵. All patients with high-grade astrocytomas should be given a course of radiation therapy after surgery if they remain in reasonable functional status. The duration and dose of radiation given depends on the functional status of the patient.

The role of chemotherapy is to potentiate and augment radiation therapy. Chemotherapy is greatly limited by penetration into the central nervous system through the blood-brain-barrier, toxicity and chemoresistance to therapeutic agents used. Traditional regimens have been based on the use of nitrosureas. In 1970, two separate groups of investigators reported 40% response rate with 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) alone¹²⁶⁻¹²⁷. Other agents used include losmustine (CCNU) and procarbazine. Chemotherapy is conventionally used as an adjuvant after surgery and radiation therapy.

The most recent significant advance has been the "Stupp Regimen" 2005. This protocol essentially involves the concomitant administration of temozolamide chemotherapy with radiation therapy followed by temozolamide to glioblastoma patients in one arm of study with a separate arm of study which differed in that no concomitant administration of temozolamide was given. The results of the study showed that the two-year survival rate was 26.5% with radiation and temozolamide and 10.4% with radiation alone¹²⁸. Resulting from these dramatic results and the fact that temozolamide is an orally administered chemotherapy agent with very little adverse effects, this is the current

therapy practised by many units world-wide. The only limiting factor is the extremely high cost of temozolamide which can be prohibitive.

1.10 Limitations in Treatment

Malignant astrocytomas are highly infiltrative and invasive tumours. Conventional imaging can only demonstrate the obvious tumour mass. At the time of diagnosis, there is evidence that tumour cells are present beyond the confines of the main tumour mass seen radiologically and at the time of surgery. A tumour gradient exists with the greatest density of tumour cell number decreasing rapidly at increasing distances from the contrast-enhancing rim of tumour tissue. Therefore the majority of recurrent glioblastoma (more than 90%) occur locally, within 2cm of the original margin of contrast-enhancing tumour¹²⁹⁻¹³².

However, tumour cells can be found at great distances from the primary site, even on the contralateral hemisphere. Widespread distributions of malignant cells are detected at autopsy and during methodical stereotactic biopsy studies¹³³⁻¹³⁴. The cells tend to spread along white matter tracts such as long association pathways and corpus callosum¹³⁵⁻¹³⁶. This obviously obviates the possibility of more aggressive surgery as that would lead to unacceptable morbidity and mortality.

Renewed growth of astrocytoma following therapy indicates failure to reduce the tumour mass to a size (approximately 10^5 cells) permitting eradication of the remnant cells by the patient's immune system¹³⁷⁻¹³⁸.

Failure also results from factors which limit the efficacy of each modality. The blood-brain-barrier forms a protective barrier against the ingress of toxins into the central

nervous system. Unfortunately, this protective mechanism conversely also poses a challenge as it impedes the delivery of chemotherapy into the brain tissue. Patients with malignant astrocytomas are also immunocompromised and hence have impaired immunity to eradicate remnant tumour cells. The patient's immune response may be rendered ineffective by the tumour's secretion of factors antagonistic to immune cytokines¹³⁹.

Most significantly, malignant astrocytic cells also differ in genetics, morphology, kinetics, metabolism, angiogenesis, oxygenation and antigenic expression which promote their overall survival and render them resistant to therapeutic agents.

These factors all contribute to the current dismal state of affairs. Clinicians are still unable to provide long-term control for malignant astrocytomas and the current prognosis for this group of patients is still uniformly poor with median survival of 1 year for glioblastoma and 3 years for anaplastic astrocytoma^{13-15, 140}. Glioblastomas are among the most malignant human and irrespective of aggressive radio- and chemotherapy, only about 2% survived more than 3 years¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴².

1.11 Molecular Biology

The development of many cancers has directly been attributed to genetic mutations including loss of tumour suppressor genes and mutations in protooncogenes.

The past decade has seen an explosion in the molecular knowledge of astrocytomas. This understanding of the molecular basis for the disease coupled with the failure of current treatment to achieve a satisfactory disease control leaves no doubt that the next major advancement in glioma treatment has to take place in the realm of molecular biology. Cytogenetic and molecular genetic studies have characterized the various chromosomal and genetic aberrations observed in gliomas.

1.11.1 Multi-step Theory of Tumourigenesis

Many human neoplasms have a tendency to evolve to more malignant states. This concept of malignant progression appears especially applicable to low-grade gliomas. Longitudinal studies have shown that more than 50% of low-grade gliomas will ultimately transform to tumours of higher grade¹⁴³. Müller et al examined 72 patients who had low-grade gliomas at the time of initial surgery. At the time of recurrence, 14% of the tumours were unchanged histologically, whereas 55% were now classified as anaplastic astrocytoma and 30% were now classified as glioblastoma multiforme. The time between the initial diagnosis and the second surgery averaged 31 months¹⁴⁴. In Soffietti's series, 79% of low-grade patients had grade 3 or 4 tumours at the time of clinical recurrence or death¹⁴⁵.

The progression of low-grade to high-grade astrocytoma involves the progressive loss of genes responsible for the control of cell proliferation, apoptosis and/or invasiveness. The earliest and most common alteration occurs on chromosome 17, which is associated with the tumour suppressor gene TP53¹⁴⁶. The reported incidence of TP53 gene mutation in astrocytomas is approximately from $30-45\%^{147-150}$. Alterations on chromosome 22 occur in approximately 20-30% of low-grade astrocytomas¹⁴⁸. Overexpression of the proliferation-promoting platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF-A and PDGF-B) and the PDGFR- α receptor occurs in the vast majority of astrocytomas¹⁵¹. by loss of 9p. Approximately 30-50% of gliomas have alterations to the retinoblastoma-1 (RB1) gene. These alterations arise either by mutation in the RB1 gene or by LOH at 13q14^{148, 152-154}. Loss of Heterozygosity (LOH) on 19q has been reported in both anaplastic astrocytomas and glioblastomas¹⁵⁵. Subsequent transformation to glioblastoma is thought to result from deletion of chromosome 10. Tumours of this grade typically demonstrate whole or partial deletion of a copy of chromosome 10 and this occurs in 53-97% of reported cases¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁶⁰. Amplification of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) gene is a late and rare event. This multi-step theory gives rise to the concept of "secondary glioblastoma" which is preceded by the presence of pre-existing low-grade astroctoma.

"Primary glioblastoma" arise de novo without preceding low-grade astrocytoma. It may be argued that progression occurred without detection. However there is molecular genetic evidence that supports that these tumours belong to a separate category. Lang et al characterized de novo glioblastomas as tumours without TP53 mutations but with amplification of EGFR and Loss of Heterozygosity (LOH) of chromosome 10 and secondary glioblastomas as neoplasms with TP53 mutations and LOH of chromosome $17p^{161}$. Von Deimling also showed that these tumours were more common in the elderly and had more frequent EGFR amplification without LOH on chromosome $17p^{162}$.

The many genetic aberrations result in cell cycle dysregulation, activation of glioma signaling cascades, cellular proliferation, loss of normal apoptosis, invasiveness and angiogenesis.

1.11.2 Glioma Invasiveness

Local tissue invasion distinguishes high-grade astrocytomas from low-grade tumours and this attribute limits the effectiveness of radical resection. High-grade astrocytomas tend to recur locally until the patient succumbs to microscopic invasion and local compression of vital centres in the brain. Although more than 90% of malignant astrocytomas recur within 2cm of the original site of presentation after treatment, some patients may develop recurrence at some distance from the original tumour either in the ipsilateral hemisphere or even on the contralateral hemisphere¹²⁹⁻¹³². Single tumour cells that invade the normal brain tissue as far as several centimetres from the macroscopic tumour border escape cytoreductive surgery and even involved-field radiation therapy with a safety margin no more than 2 cm around the presurgical tumour volume and usually results in tumour recurrence within a few months¹⁶³.

For gliomas to invade normal brain structures, they must be able to migrate and breakdown the surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM). To migrate, the cell body must be able to modify its shape and stiffness and to interact with the surrounding ECM. Tumour invasion consists of several steps: tumour cell interaction with ECM, hydrolytic degradation of the matrix by the release of proteases and migration of tumour cells into the area of degradation.

There are three major groups of proteases and their inhibitors: (1) matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteases (TIMPs); (2) serine proteases, including urokinase, tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI); and (3) cysteine proteases¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶.

The intracellular mechanisms of glioma migration are dependent on the complex interaction of microtubules, actin microfilaments and intermediate filaments which propel the tumour cell. The ECM also plays an integral role in glioma invasion. Several ECM proteins such as fibronectin, tenscin, laminin, integrins, collagen and vitronectin are utilized by glioma cells for invasion¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁷¹.

1.11.3 Angiogenesis

Tumours are dependent on angiogenesis, the formation of neo-vessels from existing vessels within the tumour¹⁷². Tumours secrete diffusible chemicals that stimulate endothelial cells, resulting in neovascularisation of capillaries. A number of angiogenic factors have been identified and examples include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), transforming growth factor (TGF), interleukin (IL) 8 and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α)¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁴. Several anti-angiogenic agents have been identified. Examples include interferon α , thalidomide, glioma derived angiogenesis inhibitory factor, angiostatin and endostatin¹⁷⁵. These inhibitors of angiogenesis may hold promise for the development of novel therapeutic strategies.

1.11.4 Glioma Signaling Pathways and Growth Factors

Tumour stromal interactions play an important role in the mitogenesis of many human malignancies.

In colorectal tumour cells, co-culture of human colonic carcinoma cell lines Caco-2 or HT-29 cells in collagen gels resulted in the formation of a few small solid cell clusters with no lumina, but when co-cultured with stromal cells, the tumour cells formed glandular structures with central lumina. This fibroblast-induced organization and differentiation of Caco-2 cells (not HT-29 cells) appeared to be mediated by transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β)¹⁷⁶. A paracrine mechanism is also seen in squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Stromal changes with increased expression of proteases and cytokines may promote tumour proliferation. Myofibroblasts are commonly concentrated at the invasive margin of oral SCC. The tumour cells directly induce a myofibroblastic phenotype which is dependent on SCC-derived TGF- β 1. In turn, myofibroblasts secrete significantly higher levels of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor compared with fibroblast controls which promotes SCC invasion¹⁷⁷. Malignant melanoma cells are able to express various cytokines and growth factors at different stages of tumour progression, which can confer tumour competence via autocrine and paracrine effects¹⁷⁸.

Likewise, the co-expression of growth factors with their corresponding receptors in gliomas may result in complex ligand-receptor interactions. The growth factor receptors expressed on the surface of tumour cells may bind soluble ligand produced by the same (autocrine), or adjacent cells (paracrine). In addition, membrane-anchored growth factor isoforms generated by alternative splicing may bind to the same (juxtacrine) or adjacent tumour cells (paracrine). Intracellular interactions between growth factor receptors and their ligands can also lead to intracrine activation of signaling cascades^{166, 179}.

Many different growth factor/receptor systems have been implicated in the proliferative behaviour of gliomas. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is considered one of the most potent angiogenic factors in gliomas. It is highly expressed in

malignant gliomas predominantly in areas of necrosis¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸⁵ and is thought to stimulate angiogenesis in a paracrine manner by binding to tyrosine kinase receptors on endothelial cells^{183, 186-188}. The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR/c-erb/HER 1) is the mammalian homologue of the v-erbB oncogene from avian erythroblastosis virus¹⁸⁹. Expression of EGFR has been shown in glioma cell lines and primary tumours with the degree of expression correlating to histological grade. EGFR expression has been linked to higher Ki-67 labelling indices and decreased survival¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹². In vitro experiments have demonstrated that expression of EGFR leads to increased proliferation behaviour and reduced apoptosis¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵. Co-expression of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and their receptors is a common alteration in glioblastoma which can influence survival and proliferation of tumour cells. All four members of the PDGF family group PDGF-A, B, C and D have been shown to influence malignant behaviour. One of the most consistent cellular signaling defects observed in high-grade gliomas is the presence of an autocrine loop attributable to the co-expression of PDGF-A and PDGF-B and their receptors¹⁹⁶⁻²⁰⁰. PDGF-C and PDGF-D expression is also seen in human glioblastoma cell lines and primary human tumour tissues. The use of CT52923, a potent inhibitor of PDGFR blocked PDGF autocrine-mediated phosphorylation of PDGFR, Akt and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) and was also able to inhibit glioma growth in nude mice models²⁰¹.

Nerve growth factor is a member of the family of neurotrophins which are widely expressed in glioma tissue²⁰². They bind with different affinity to receptors of the tyr family and can stimulate glioma cell line proliferation in an autocrine fashion²⁰³⁻²⁰⁴.

Several other putative growth factors have been found to be widely expressed in human glioma cell lines and glioma tissue and can stimulate mitogenic behaviour. These include insulin-like growth factor $(IGF)^{205}$, transforming growth factor-beta $(TGF-\beta)^{206}$, brain-derived growth factor $(BDGF)^{207}$ and scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor $(SF/HGF)^{208-209}$.

Many of the above ligands are over-expressed due to gene amplification and the receptors can exist in constitutively active mutant forms. The mitogens and their cognate receptors will subsequently regulate several intracellular signaling pathways. The major signaling cascades are: phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT-protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT-PKB) pathway, mitogen activated protein kinase (RAS/MAPK) pathway and the phospholipase C- γ /protein kinase C (PLC- γ /PKC) pathway²⁰⁹⁻²¹⁰.

The interplay of these complex signaling pathways resulting from of ligandreceptor interactions induce tumour proliferation, promote angiogenesis, inhibit apoptosis and confer cellular survival and chemoresistance.

1.12 Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (GDNF) Family

1.12.1 GDNF Family of Ligands (GFLs)

Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) was originally identified in 1993 by Lin et al as a neurotrophic factor. It was isolated from a rat glioma cell line supernatant and was shown to confer increased survival for embryonic midbrain dopamine neurons²¹¹. Subsequently, it was also found that GDNF also had potent trophic functions in spinal motorneurons and central noradrenergic neurons. In view of the ability of GDNF to confer neuronal survival and the presence of trophic functions, much research on GDNF has therefore focused on its role as a potential therapeutic agent for neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's Disease. GDNF targeted therapy has reached the realm of clinical trials and application in the field of Parkinson's Disease²¹²⁻²¹⁵.

The GDNF-family ligands (GFL) consist of GDNF, neurturin (NRTN), artemin (ARTN) and persephin (PSPN). The GFLs support midbrain dopamine and motorneurons in the central nervous system. In addition, GDNF, NRTN and ARTN promote the survival and regulate the differentiation of many peripheral neurons such as the sympathetic, parasympathetic, sensory and enteric neurons²¹⁶⁻²¹⁷.

GFLs belong to the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) superfamily, containing seven cysteine residues with the same relative spacing as other members of the family. GDNF and other structurally characterized members of the TGF- β superfamily have similar conformations²¹⁸. They all belong to the cystine-knot protein family and function as homodimers.

GFLs are produced in the form of a precursor, preproGFL. The sequence is cleaved on secretion and activation of proGFL occurs by proteolytic cleavage. The secreted proneurotrophins may however be biologically active^{216, 219-220}.

GDNF is secreted as a mature protein of 134 amino acids. In its natural state, it exists as a glycosylated homodimer of approximately 39 kDa.

1.12.2 GDNF-family Signalling

These GFLs bind to specific GDNF-family receptor- α (GFR α) co-receptors and activate RET. The GFR α receptors are linked to the plasma membrane by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor. Four classes of GFR α receptors have been characterised (GFR α 1-4), which determine ligand specificity. GDNF binds to GFR α 1, NRTN binds to GFR α 2, ARTN to GFR α 3 and PSPN binds to GFR α 4. In addition, NRTN and ARTN may crosstalk weakly with GFR α 1 and GDNF with GFR α 2 and GFR α 3.

Rearranged during Transfection (RET) is a single-pass transmembrane protein that contains four cadherin-like repeats in the extracellular domain and a typical intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. The GFL- GFR α binding to the extracellular domain of RET leads to intracellular activation of the tyrosine kinase domain^{216,221}. A GDNF dimer binds to a monomeric or dimeric GFR α 1, and the GDNF-GFR α 1 complex then interacts with two RET molecules, thereby inducing homodimerisation and tyrosine autophosphorylation²²². However, GDNF mutants that are deficient in GFR α 1 binding sites have been shown to be able to activate RET, indicating that at least some RET molecules may be weakly associated with GFR α 1 prior to GDNF binding²²³.

The lipid micro-environments on the cell surface known as lipid rafts can also take part in the process of signal induction. Lipid rafts contain a given set of proteins, cholesterol and sphingolipids on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane. They can change their size and composition in response to intra- or extracellular stimuli. This favours specific protein-protein interactions, resulting in the activation of signalling cascades²²⁴⁻²²⁵. Inactive RET lies outside the lipid rafts and only upon GDNF stimulation does the GFRα receptor incorporate RET into the lipid rafts. Soluble GFRα1 also targets

RET to lipid rafts²²⁶⁻²²⁷. RET is alternatively spliced to yield at least two spliced isoforms, RET9 and RET51, which differ only in their C-termini. TheRET9 and RET51 signaling cascades differ markedly²²⁸. Comparison of GFL activation of RET9 and RET51 revealed that phosphorylation of Tyrosine (Tyr) (905) and Tyr(1062) was greater and more sustained in RET9 as compared with RET51. In contrast, Tyr(1015) was more highly phosphorylated over time in RET51 than in RET9. In addition, RET9 and RET51 did not associate with each other in sympathetic neurons after glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor stimulation, even though they share identical extracellular domains²²⁸. Using targeted mutagenesis to generate mice that express either RET9 or RET51. Monoisoformic RET9 mice, which lack RET51, are viable and appear normal. In contrast, monoisoformic RET51 animals, which lack RET9, have kidney hypodysplasia and enteric aganglionosis. RET9 transgenes are capable of rescuing the kidney agenesis in RET-deficient mice or causing kidney hypodysplasia in wild-type animals. In contrast, similar RET51 transgenes fail to rescue the kidney agenesis or cause hypodysplasia. Therefore, only the short RET9 isoform can rescue the phenotype of the RET-null mutation in the kidney and enteric system²²⁹.

Recently, the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) was also shown to function as a signaling receptor for members of the GFLs. Significantly, GDNF was shown to stimulate schwann cell migration via NCAM but independently of RET. GDNF was also demonstrated to stimulate axonal growth in primary neurons via NCAM and Fyn Kinase but independently of RET²³⁰.

In addition to being mediators of neuronal survival, neuritic growth and differentiation, the GFLs also have many extra-neuronal functions. GDNF is essential for

renal morphogenesis where it serves as an inductive signal sent from the nephrogenic mesenchyme to the ureteric bud. GDNF is expressed by mesenchyme and is repressed by epithelial conversion of the mesenchymal cells. GDNF releasing beads have been shown to stimulate ureteric branching in cultured kidneys and promote the outgrowth of ectopic ureteric buds from the nephric duct²³¹⁻²³³.

GDNF is also expressed in the testis by Sertoli cells and regulate spermatogenesis in a paracrine fashion. Both GDNF and NRTN stimulate Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) synthesis in spermatogonia although transgenic mice experiments demonstrated that GDNF but not NRTN contributes to the regulation of spermatogonial self-renewal and differentiation²³⁴⁻²³⁵.

1.12.3 RET Dysfunction and GDNF in Disease

Mutations in the RET gene can result in many human diseases. There are two groups of RET mutations: gain-in-function mutations and loss-in-function mutations.

Gain-of-function mutations within the receptor tyrosine kinase gene RET cause inherited and non-inherited thyroid cancer. Germline RET mutations are found in virtually all cases of familial medullary thyroid cancer and somatic point mutations occur in nearly half of the sporadic cases. Gene rearrangements of RET, giving rise to chimeric genes have been found in papillary thyroid carcinoma²³⁶⁻²³⁷. The majority of cases of multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) types 2A and 2B are also associated with dysfunction of RET arising from missense mutation, insertions or deletions either in the extracellular or intracellular domain²³⁶⁻²³⁸. Conversely, loss-of-function mutations are responsible for the development of Hirschsprung's disease, a congenital malformation of the enteric nervous system. The frequency of RET mutations in Hirschsprung's disease range from 5% to 50% and is more common in the familial form than in the sporadic form²³⁹.

GDNF has immense promise in clinical therapeutics. The area of most intense study is the use of GDNF in Parkinson's Disease. Phase I trials have shown that the delivery of GDNF directly into the putamen can be performed safely and for long periods resulting in a significant increase in dopamine storage in the putamen and improvement in clinical condition. Gill et al reported that after one year, there were no serious clinical side effects. There was a 39% improvement in the off-medication motor sub-score of the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS) and a 61% improvement in the activities of daily living sub-score. Medication-induced dyskinesias were also reduced by 64% and were not observed off medication during chronic GDNF delivery²⁴⁰. Slevin et al reported that the unilateral administration of GDNF results in significant, sustained bilateral benefits in patients with PD. These improvements are lost within 9 months of drug withdrawal²⁴¹. Other areas of potential therapeutic applications are in the realm of sensory regeneration and neuropathic pain, epilepsy, addiction, cerebral ischaemia and male contraception^{221, 242-246}.

1.12.4 GDNF and Cancer

There are carcinogenic consequences of dysregulated RET activation. GDNF has been implicated as a mitogenic agent in many cancers.

RET mutations are common in MEN syndromes 2A and 2B²³⁶⁻²³⁸. Patients with MEN 2 develop hyperplasia of adrenal chromaffin cells which are often followed by

phaechromocytomas²⁴⁷. GDNF and NRTN were found to be mitogens for normal adult rat chromaffin cells in vitro. NRTN was the more potent mitogen and caused increased phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 in cultured chromaffin cells²⁴⁸.

In pancreatic cancer, RET overexpression was seen in pancreatic tumour tissue. GDNF and ARTN were strongly expressed in all intrapancreatic nerves and intrapancreatic neural invasion was significantly related to the expression of GDNF. In invasion assays, the migration of pancreatic cancer cells are markedly induced by coculture with human glioma cells capable of secreting GDNF. In all intrapancreatic nerves of pancreatic cancer tissue, GDNF and artermin were expressed strongly. The expression of RET was stronger than that seen in normal ductal cells and was significantly related to the survival rate after resection²⁴⁹⁻²⁵⁰. Perineural invasion is an important prognostic factor for patients with bile duct cancer. Using immunohistochemistry, moderate to strong staining of GDNF in tumour cells was observed more frequently in sections with perineural invasion. Cell migration was also seen to be enhanced by conditioned media from GDNF-treated cells²⁵¹.

GDNF can promote proliferation of neuroblastoma cells and can have a role in promoting resistance to differentiation or cytotoxic therapy of neuroblastoma²⁵².

1.12.5 GDNF and Malignant Astrocytoma

Malignant astrocytomas are the most common form of primary brain cancer. Many growth factors such as PDGF, VEGF, IGF and BDGF have been demonstrated to

promote proliferation, inhibit apoptosis and induce angiogenesis in malignant astrocytomas. GDNF is ubiquitous in the central nervous system and neural tissue and hence can also play a role in the pathogenesis of high-grade glioma.

GDNF and its receptor GFR α 1 have been demonstrated to be strongly expressed in human gliomas. In an analysis of 20 human astrocytomas (14 glioblastomas, 1 gliosarcoma and 5 astrocytomas), GDNF protein concentrations were found to be present in high amounts compared to postmortem human frontal lobe and rat cortex. Immunohistochemistry of GFR α 1 demonstrated strongly positive staining in 5 out of 15 high-grade glioma samples, weakly positive staining in 4 specimens and no staining in 6 specimens²⁵³.

Additional evidence for the role of GDNF as a proliferation factor for glioma comes from experiments with rats. GDNF is found to be highly expressed in rat glioma cell lines B49 and C6. Knockdown experiments with antisense oligonucleotides performed with rat C6 glioma cells demonstrated that knockdown of C6 cells with GDNF and GFR α 1 significantly reduced the number of C6 glioma cells and also inhibited the incorporation of bromodeoxyuridine as a sign of DNA synthesis. Persephin antibodies did not however result in any difference when compared to control experiments. This therefore suggests that GDNF but not persephin is a potent proliferation factor for rat glioma cells²⁵⁴.

1.12.6 GFRa Splice Isoforms/Variants

Multicellular eukaryotic cells contain multiple introns. The presence of multiple introns permits the expression of multiple, related proteins from a single gene by alternative splicing producing different forms of a protein, known as spliced isoforms or spliced variants. The formation of a mature mRNA involves the removal of introns and splicing together with exons. Splicing occurs at short, conserved sequences in pre-mRNAs via two transesterification reactions. Johnson et al used microarrays to monitor splicing at every exon-exon junction in more than 10,000 multi-exon human genes in 52 tissues and cell lines and concluded that at least 74% of human multi-exon genes are alternatively spliced²⁵⁵. Alternative splicing is therefore responsible for much of the protein diversity in humans.

Cancer cells often acquire aberrant profiles of alternative spliced isoforms that can promote cell proliferation and invasion and inhibit apoptotic cell death. The CD99 gene encodes two distinct transmembrane proteins by alternative splicing of its transcript. Two spliced variants, the major wild-type form (type I) and the minor spliced variant (type II) are present. Expression of CD99 type II but not type I is associated with markedly elevated invasiveness of breast cancer cell lines²⁵⁶. Ras activating mutations are important in colorectal cancer. K-ras encodes two splice variants, K-ras 4A and 4B. Plowman et al has investigated the expression of K-ras in colorectal cancer and found that K-ras 4B was expressed ubiquitously and was the predominant spliced variant whereas K-ras 4A was expressed differentially with detection in colorectal tumours and cell lines and normal colon, pancreas and lung. They postulate that altered splicing of either the K-ras proto-oncogene, in favour of K-ras 4B, may modulate tumour development²⁵⁷. Alternative splicing variants of interferon regulatory factor (IRF-1) have also been found in cervical cancer. Five variants lacking some combination of exons 7, 8 and 9 have been identified and their expression levels were higher in malignant samples.

Alternative splicing in exons 7, 8, and 9 may therefore be an important mechanism for negatively regulating IRF-1 in cervical cancer²⁵⁸. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3) is a major family member expressed in both normal human urothelium and cultured normal urothelial cells and is expressed as the IIIb isoform. A spliced variant, FGFR3 Delta8-10, lacking exons encoding the COOH-terminal half of immunoglobulin-like domain III and the transmembrane domain have been identified by Tomlinson et al. In culture, cells overexpressing FGFR IIIb showed FGFR1-induced proliferation which was inhibited by addition of FGFR3 Delta8-10²⁵⁹. Interleukin-17 receptor-like protein (IL-17RL) spliced isoforms have also been identified in prostate cancer and may play a role in the mitogenesis of prostatic cancer. Extensive alternative splicing is present with more than 90 different IL-17RL isoforms detected. The three most abundant isoforms account for approximately half the total transcripts²⁶⁰. Alternative splicing of interleukin-7 (IL-7) is also found abundantly in malignant haemopoietic cells and the diverse IL-7 protein isoforms may play an important role in the pathogenesis of leukemia²⁶¹.

Spliced isoforms are also abundant in the GDNF-family receptor- α (GFR α). GFR α 1 receptor exists in two highly homologous alternatively spliced isoforms: GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b²⁶²⁻²⁶⁴. GFR α 1b is identical to GFR α 1a except for the absence of 5 amino acids (140DVFQQ144), encoded by exon 5. In addition, GFR α 2 and GFR α 4 receptor spice isoforms have also been identified in mammalian tissue. Three variants of GFR α 2 receptors (GFR α 2a/2b/2c) have been identified²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁶. At least two splice variants of GFR α 4 have been identified in rat tissue²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹.

Alternatively spliced variants of RET^{229, 270-271} and NCAM²⁷²⁻²⁷⁴ also exist and have been demonstrated to subserve distinct biochemical and physiological functions.

The presence of multiple spliced isoforms increases the permutational possibility and complexity of ligand-receptor interactions and can potentially result in diverse biological and physiological processes. The spliced variants have been shown to have differing levels of expression in different tissue. Tissue expression of alternatively spliced GFR α 1, NCAM and RET isoforms were studied by Yoong et al in various murine adult tissue and whole embryo. Both GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b were expressed at similar levels in all tissues examined, except in the brain where, GFRala is the predominant spliced isoform. The expression of both GFR α 1 isoforms were expressed at similar levels but were significantly higher than in other tissues. RET was most highly expressed in the brain and testis and RET9 was the predominant spliced variant. NCAM120, 140 and 180 were expressed at equivalent levels in the brain. DNA microarray was used to analyse NRTN stimulation of GFRa1 isoforms in transfected Neuro2A cells. Both GFRa1 isoforms demonstrated rapid phosphorylation and nuclear localization of ERK1/2 when stimulated by GDNF or NRTN. An early time point chosen to examine the gene profile of NRTN stimulation showed that stimulation with NRTN resulted in specific gene changes not shared by the spiced isoforms, indicative of distinct functional roles²⁷⁵.

1.13 Objective of Research Project

GDNF and its receptor GFR α 1 have been demonstrated to be strongly expressed in human gliomas by Wisenhofer et al²⁵³. GDNF has also been demonstrated to be a proliferation factor for rat C6 glioma cells by antisense experiments²⁵⁴.

Emerging data showing varying levels of expression of spliced variants in various tissues raises the question that differing spliced isoform expression levels may be present

in pathological states. Such differing levels of isoform expression can also impact on the pathogenesis of disease.

There is no literature quantifying the expression level of the GFR α receptor splice isoforms in malignant gliomas. There have also been no experiments investigating the effects of GDNF on human glioma model. Studies investigating possible mechanisms of GDNF action on chemoresistance and cellular survival are also lacking.

The objectives of this research are:

- To identify the expression of GDNF and its receptors in glioblastoma cell lines and human glioma specimens. Specifically, we endeavoured to ascertain if there were differing levels of expression of the various spice isoform variants.
- 2. To investigate the role of GDNF in promoting tumour growth and proliferation.
- 3. To elucidate putative signaling pathways of GDNF in tumourigenesis.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Cell Culture

(a) Cell lines

The cell lines with obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC[®]). The cell lines were selected based on their histological subtypes. All the cell lines selected were *Homo sapiens* (human) glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV) cell lines.

The following cell lines were selected:

- 1. Cell Line Designation: LN-229 (ATCC[®] Catalog No. CRL-2611)
- 2. Cell Line Designation: A172 (ATCC[®] Catalog No. CRL-1620)

(b) Cell Stock

The cell lines were seeded and cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin in 75mL flasks. Cultures were maintained at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂. After 24 hours the solutions were replaced with fresh culture. The cell lines were expanded and trypsinised at 80 to 90% confluency and stocked up in cryotubes and stored at -80 degrees Celsius.

(c) Maintenance of Cell Lines

All cell lines were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin in 75 mL flasks. Cultures were maintained

at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂. The cells were trypsinised at 80 to 90% confluency and reseeded into 75 mL flasks.

2.2 Human Glioma Specimens

(a) Ethics approval

The project was submitted to the Hospital Ethics Committee and was approved by the Tan Tock Seng Hospital (TTSH) Ethics Committee on 3 Dec 2003 (Ref: CR/ETHICS/03/950).

The oversight of the research project was transferred to the National Healthcare Group (NHG) Domain Specific Review Board on 23 Apr 2004 (DSRB-A-00-37) and subsequently to the National Neuroscience Institute (NNI) Institutional Review Board (IRB) on 30 May 2005.

The approved period for the study is from 30 May 2005 to 29 May 2007. The study reference number assigned is NNI-IRB/00/029.

(b) Patient Consent

Informed consent was obtained from a member of the clinical staff who was not actively involved in the research conducted. Tumour samples were only analyzed on superfluous tissue after the completion of all diagnostic tests and procedures. This was performed to ensure that research activity did not compromise the clinical management of patients. Details of the consent procedure are detailed in Appendix 1.

(c) Specimens

Patients with pre-operative diagnosis of glioma on MRI scan were approached to obtain informed consent for the research. Small tumours which underwent biopsy were excluded from the study as all the tissues were sent for diagnostic tests. In large tumours which were subjected to extensive tumour resection, excess fresh tumour was kept aside and stored at -80 °C until the diagnostic tests were completed before the tissue is used for research. This protocol was followed to ensure optimal care to the patient and the patient's well-being is given top priority at all times in accordance with the Hospital Ethics Committee.

A total of 13 specimens were collected. The histological subtypes consisted of the following:

- (a) 8 cases of glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- (b) 2 cases of Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (PXA) (WHO Grade II) (1 case was a recurrent tumour with previous history of PXA)
- (c) 1 case of anaplastic ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
- (d) 1 case of oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
- (e) 1 case of pilocytic astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

2.3 Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

(a) Reverse Transcription (RT) Reaction

Total ribonucleic acid (RNA) was prepared with preparation with guanidinium isothiocyanate, followed by delipidation. RNA is isolated by differentially partitioning DNA into the organic phase, followed by precipitation with ethanol. Total RNA was

obtained from the cell lines and human glioma samples. Further purification to remove genomic DNA was performed using Nucleospin RNA II (Macherey-Magel, Germany) accordingly to the manufacturer's specifications. The integrity of total RNA was validated by denaturing agarose gel electrophoresis. Five micrograms of total RNA from each tissue specimen was reverse-transcribed using 400 U of ImpromII and 0.5 μg of random hexamer (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) for 60 min at 42 °C according to the manufacturer's specifications The reaction was terminated by heating at 70 °C for 5 min and used directly for quantitative real-time PCR.

(b) Sequence Independent Real-Time PCR using SYBR Green I Plasmids Construction

Unless otherwise stated, all templates were generated by reverse transcription (RT)-PCR using human brain cDNA subcloned into pGEM-T (Promega), and all clones were verified by DNA sequencing. The complete open reading frame (ORF) of human GFR α 1a (GenBank accession number: NM_005264), GFR α 1b (GenBank accession number: NM_145793), Ret 9 (GenBank accession number: NM_020630), Ret 51 (GenBank accession number: NM_020975), NCAM (GenBank accession number: NM_000615) and GFR α 2 (GenBank accession number: NM_001495) were generated by PCR and subcloned into pIRESneo (clontech). The complete ORF of GADPH was generated using the GenBank sequence (accession number NM_008084). DNAMAN software package was used for the design of the primers.

The following primers were used:

GFR1a: (150bp)

hGFR1a (Forward Primer): CATATCAGATGTTTTTCAGCAAGTGGA

67

hGFR1(Reverse Primer): CAGACATCGTTGGACACGCT GFR1b: (145bp) hGFR1b (Forward Primer): TGGTCCCATTCATATCAGTGGA hGFR1(Reverse Primer): CAGACATCGTTGGACACGCT GFR2 Common: hGFR2GPI (Forward Primer): CAGTGACAGTACCAGCTTGGG hGFR2GPI (Reverse Primer): AAGGCCTGTTTCAGCATCAG Ret 9: (83bp) hRet9 (Forward Primer): GGATTGAAAACAAACTCTATGGTAGA hRet9 (Reverse Primer): AGGAAGGATAGTGCARAGGGGAC Ret 51: (142bp) hRet51 (Forward Primer): AAACAAACTCTATGGCATGTCAGAC hRet51 (Reverse Primer): CGCTGAGGGTGAAAGCATC hNCAM (Forward Primer): CAGCAGCGGATCTCAGTGGT hNCAM (Reverse Primer): CATCACACACAATCACGGCA GDNF: (175bp) hGDNF (Forward Primer): TCACTGACTTGGGTCTGGG hGDNF (Reverse Primer): TCAAAGGCGATGGGTCTGC GAPDH: (92bp) hGAPDH (Forward Primer): AAACCTGCCAAATATGATGAC hGAPDH (Reverse Primer): ACCTGGTGCTCAGTGTAG

(c) Sequence Independent Real-Time PCR

Real-time PCR was performed on the iCycler iQ (Biorad, Hercules, USA) using Sybr Green I. The threshold cycles (Ct) were calculated using the Optical interface v3.0B. Real-time PCR was performed after an initial denaturation for 3 min at 95 degree Celsius followed by 40 to 60 cycles of 60 sec denaturation at 95 °C, 30 sec annealing at 60 °C and 60 sec extension at 72 °C. Fluorescent detection was carried out at the annealing phase. The reaction was carried out in a total volume of 50 μ l in 1x XtenseMixtuSGTM (BioWORKS), containing 2.5 mM Mg Cl₂, 10pmol of primers and 1.25 U platinum DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Melt curve analyses and agarose gel electrophoresis were carried out at the end of PCR to verify the identity of the products. All real-time PCR quantification was carried out simultaneously with linearised plasmid standards and a negative water control. The concentrations of GFRa1, GFRa2, GDNF, RET and NCAM in all the tissues were interpolated from standard curves and then normalized to the expressions of Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GADPH) in the same tissues. Differences in the expression levels were analysed using paired Student's t test with a level of significance taken as p<0.05. The specificity of the assay ($\Delta Ct/\epsilon$) is determined by the difference in the Ct values of the defined target and test templates normalised to the efficiency of target amplification (ϵ).

2.4 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU)

BCNU was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. It is a DNA alkylating agent causing DNA interstrand crosslinks²⁷⁶. It is stored at a temperature of -20° C. BCNU is highly hygroscopic and hence fresh preparations are produced at the commencement of each set of experiments²⁷⁷.

BCNU was selected as it is a nitrosurea which is the drug used as in traditional regimens for malignant gliomas. In 1970, two separate groups of investigators reported 40% response rate with 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) alone¹²⁶⁻¹²⁷.

Recently, the use of temozolamide has been popularised as part of the "Stupp Regimen". This protocol essentially involves the concomitant administration of temozolamide chemotherapy with radiation therapy followed by temozolamide to glioblastoma patients in one arm of study with a separate arm of study which differed in that no concomitant administration of temozolamide was given. The results of the study showed that the two-year survival rate was 26.5% with radiation and temozolamide and 10.4% with radiation alone¹²⁸. Temozolamide is prohibitively costly and hence BCNU was selected as the cytotoxic agent of choice in view of its long history of efficacy and significantly lower cost.

2.5 Ligands

The GDNF-Family ligands used for stimulation were GDNF and NRTN. GDNF binds to GFR α 1 and NRTN binds to GFR α 2. NRTN may crosstalk weakly with GFR α 1 and GDNF with GFR α 2 and GFR α 3.

The concentration of GDNF and NRTN used for stimulation experiments was 50ng/ml.

2.6 Cytotoxicity assay

(a) MTS assay

Promega CellTiter 96[®] AQ_{ueous} One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay was used to determine cytotoxicity effects of BCNU. This is a colorimetric method for determining the number of viable cells in culture in 96-well plate format. The Promega CellTiter 96[®] AQ_{ueous} One Solution Reagent contains a tetrazolium compound [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol - 2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium inner salt; MTS^(a)] and an electron coupling reagent. The quantity of formazan as measured by the amount of 490 nm absorbance is directly related to the number of living cells in culture. 100 μ L of Promega CellTiter 96[®] AQ_{ueous} One Solution was added to each well and incubated at 37 °C for one hour and then absorbance was read at 490 nm with a spectrophotometric plate reader. Tumour cells were treated with 2% Triton X-100 to obtain baseline absorbance value which was subtracted from the various readings obtained.

(b) Normalisation of MTS Assay

Different concentrations of cells were seeded at 5,000 cells per well, 10,000 cells per well, 15,000 cells per well and 20,000 cells per well in DMEM supplemented with 2% fetal bovine serum. Cell loading beyond 20,000 cells per well resulted in rapid cell proliferation and saturation of the assay.

After plating, the cells were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours before treatment with varying concentrations of BCNU from 25-175 μ g/mL in 25 μ g/mL increments. The control tumour cells not treated with BCNU were treated with 1% alcohol. The cells were

incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere of for 24 hours before being subject to the MTS assay.

(c) Propidium Iodide (Pi) staining

After completion of treatment of the cells with BCNU, the culture media is aspirated and 800 μ L of 75% cold ethanol is added. The cells were then incubated for 10 min at 4 °C Celsius. Re-aspiration of the media is performed and staining done using 1 μ g/mL of Propidium Iodide (Pi)/0.1% Triton X-100/10 μ g/ml RNAaseA in phosphate buffer solution (PBS). The solution is then incubated for 5 min at 37 °C and observed under the microscope.

2.7 Western Blot

(a) Protein quantification by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay

LN-229 and A172 cell lines were stimulated with BCNU and GNDF and the experiments were studied at 0, 10, 30, 60 and 180 mins respectively.

BCATM Protein Assay Reagent Kit (Pierce, USA) was used to determine protein concentration. The protein assay is based on bicinchoninic acid (BCA) for the colorimetric detection and quantification of total protein. This method combines the reduction of Cu²⁺ to Cu⁺ by protein in alkaline medium with the highly sensitive and selective colorimetric detection of the cuprous (Cu⁺) using bicinchoninic acid. The macromolecular structure of protein, and number of peptide bonds and the presence of four amino acids (cysteine, cystine, tryptophan and tyrosine) have been reported to be responsible for color formation in protein sample when assayed with BCA²⁷⁸. The purple
reaction product, formed by the interaction of two molecules of BCA with one cuprous ion (Cu^+) , is water-soluble and exhibits a strong absorbance at 562 nm. This allows the spectrophotometric quantification of protein in aqueous solutions.

Working reagent was prepared by combining 50 parts of reagent A (sodium carbonate, sodium bicarbonate, bicinchoninic acid and sodium tartrate in 0.2 M sodium hydroxide) with one part of reagent B (4 % cupric sulfate solution). Serial dilutions (20-2000 µg/ml) of protein standard and samples were assayed in parallel. Twenty five microlitres of each standard or unknown sample was pipetted into the appropriate microtiter plate wells and then 200 µl of working reagent was added to each well and mixed for 30 sec. The plate was incubated at 37°C for 30 min and absorbance was read at 562 nm with a microtiter plate reader (Model 680, Bio-Rad, USA). Standard curve was prepared by plotting the absorbance at 562 nm vs. protein concentration and protein concentration of each unknown samples were interpolated.

(b) Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Discontinuous one-dimensional gel electrophoresis was carried out using Bio-Rad Mini-Protean apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA) with an acrylamide resolving gel and 5% (w/v) stacking gel. The percentage of acrylamide – bisacrylamide (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA) in resolving gel was chosen depending on the molecular weight of the protein of interest. For the present study, a 10-12 % (w/v) of resolving gel was used.

Samples were suspended in SDS sample buffer, heated at 95°C for 5 min, briefly centrifuged, loaded and underwent electrophoresis at 100 volts until the dye front

migrated to the resolving gel, then the voltage was increased to 180 volts until the dye reached the bottom of the resolving gel.

(c) Western blotting and detection

Following SDS-PAGE, the gel was removed and equilibrated in transfer buffer for 10 min at room temperature with constant shaking. A piece of nitrocellulose membrane (Hybond-C Extra, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech UK) was placed on top of the gel and covered by a filter paper which was then placed between a semidry transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA). The transfer was carried out at 100 volts for 60 min. The membrane was then incubated in TBST solution with 5 % fat-free skimmed milk (w/v, Diploma Instant, Melbourne Australia) for 1 hr at room temperature to reduce nonspecific binding of antibody in subsequent steps. Immunoblots were probed to the following: Anti-phospho-erk1/2, anti-erk1/2, anti-phospho-jnk, anti-actin, anti-phosphop38 and anti-phospho-akt. The membrane was then washed 3 times in TBST and incubated with the primary antibody (1:1000 dilution in TBST, 1% (w/v) skimmed)milk) for 1 hr at room temperature or overnight at 4°C on a rocking platform. After the incubation, the membrane was washed for $3 \times 5 \min in 1 \% (w/v)$ skimmed milk in Tis buffered saline Tween-20 (TBST). The secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (DAKO, Denmark) at 1:1000 dilution in 1 % skimmed milk (w/v) /TBST was then added and incubated for 1 hr at room temperature. The membrane was then washed for 3 x 5 min in TBST and detected by Super Signal® West Dura Extended Duration chemiluminescent substrate (Pierce, USA) according to manufacturer's instruction. The chemiluminescent image was captured on Biomax film (MR 1, Kodak).

2.8 Study on the Impact of Cell Tumour Burden on Chemoresistance

Three human glioblastoma cell lines (ATCC[®] Catalog No. CRL-2611, Designation LN-229; ATCC[®] Catalog No. CRL-1620, Designation A-172) were used for the experiments. The cell lines were cultured in 75ml flasks with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. Cultures were maintained at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂.

When the cells were 90% confluent, they were trysinised, counted in a haematocytometer and seeded into 96 well plates. The cells were plated in the following concentrations with 150 μ l of 2% FBS media: 5,000 cells per well; 10,000 cells per well and 20,000 cells per well. Cell loading beyond 20,000 cells per well resulted in overcrowding which would cause cells to enter into Gap 1 (G1) arrested state.

After plating, the cells were incubated at $37 \,^{\circ}$ C in an atmosphere of $5\% \,^{\circ}$ CO₂ for 24 hours before being treated with varying concentrations of 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU).

After 24 hours of treatment with BCNU, the cells were subject to Promega CellTiter 96^{R} AQ_{ueous} One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay was used to determine cytotoxicity effects of BCNU as described above. Pi staining was also performed as described above.

2.9 Study on the effects of GDNF and NRTN on BCNU chemotherapy and its role in chemoresistance

LN-229 and A172 were grown to 90% confluency and trypsinised. For MTS assay, 10,000 cells were seeded into 96 well plates and grown in DMEM enriched with 2% foetal calf serum. The experimental group were seeded with GDNF or NRTN enriched media at 50ng/ml concentration. The control group was not treated with GDNF or NRTN. After 24 hours, the LN-229 cells were treated with 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) at concentrations at 40 μ g/ml and 50 μ g/ml and the A172 cells were treated at 75 μ g/ml. The cells were then examined morphologically and underwent MTS assay after 24 hours of treatment with BCNU. The BCNU was obtained from Sigma Aldrich.

The BCNU concentration used was based on experiments demonstrating the cytotoxic effects of varying concentrations of BCNU on LN-229 and A172. 50μ g/ml and 75 μ g/ml were the concentrations that exhibited significant (>70%) cell death (Figure 1). Higher concentrations of BCNU resulted in complete cell death.



Figure 1: Effects of BCNU on cytotoxicity of LN-229 and A172 Cell Lines

BCNU concentration of 50μ g/ml resulted in >70% cell death on Promega CellTiter $96^{\text{®}}$ AQ_{ueous} One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay.

For Pi index, $5 \ge 10^3$ were seeded per well into 12 well plates. Similarly, the experimental group were pre-treated with GDNF or NRTN for 24 hours, treated with BCNU at the same concentrations and subsequently underwent Pi staining.

All the experiments were performed and repeated in triplicates.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1 Higher glioblastoma cell loading required higher concentration of BCNU to achieve similar cell cytotoxicity

The human glioblastoma cell lines LN-229 and A-172 were plated in 2% FBS media in 96-well plates at concentrations of 5,000 cells per well, 10,000 cells per well, 15,000 cells per well and 20,000 cells per well and incubated at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 5% CO_2 for 24 hours. They were then subjected to varying concentrations of BCNU from 25-175 µg/mL in 25 µg/mL increments. After 24 hours of treatment, the cells were examined morphologically under the microscope and cell proliferation assay with Promega CellTiter 96[®] AQ_{ueous} One Solution Proliferation Assay was performed.

3.2 Morphology of Cells

Figure 2 shows the normal appearance of the human glioblastoma cells (LN-229). On morphological examination under x100 and x400 magnification, it is observed that higher concentration of BCNU were required to produce a pyknotic appearance of the glioblastoma cells indicative of cellular death (Figure 3). BCNU concentration at 50 μ g/mL resulted in the vast majority of cells showing a pyknotic appearance for glioblastoma cells plated at 5,000 cells per well (Figure 3). For glioblastoma cells seeded at 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000 cells per well, the corresponding concentration of BCNU reproducing similar morphological appearance were 75 μ g/mL, 100 μ g/mL and 125 μ g/mL respectively. A similar trend was observed with cell line A-172.

Propidium Iodide (Pi) staining showed DNA fragmentation which demonstrates the presence of apoptotic cell death (Figure 4).



Figure 2: Normal Appearance of LN-229 Cell Line (400X magnification)



Figure 3: Pyknotic Appearance of LN-229 Cell Line after treatment with BCNU (400X magnification)



Figure 4: Propidium Iodide (Pi) staining showing DNA fragmentation (400X magnification)

3.3 Cell Proliferation Assay

Promega CellTiter 96[®] AQ_{ueous} One Solution Proliferation Assay was used to determine cytotoxicity effects of BCNU. The drug concentration required to achieve inhibitory concentration (IC) greater than 90% growth inhibition (IC₉₀) was taken as the reference for comparison of efficacy of chemotherapy dose.

For LN-229 cells seeded at 5,000 per well density, the drug concentration required to achieve greater than 90% growth inhibition was 75 μ g/mL. Cells seeded at densities of 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000 per well required BCNU concentrations of 100 μ g/mL, 150 μ g/mL and 175 μ g/mL respectively (Figure 5).

For A172 cell line, the drug concentration required to achieve IC_{90} for cells seeded at 5,000, 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000 cells per well were 100 µg/mL, 125 µg/mL, 150 µg/mL and 175 µg/mL respectively (Figure 6).

The survival curves for the various cell lines demonstrate a consistent trend of larger chemotherapy doses required to achieve similar levels of growth inhibition for higher tumour loading in all the cell lines.

This demonstrates that increased glioblastoma cell loading in the well requires significantly higher concentration of chemotherapeutic agent to achieve similar cytotoxicity effects.



Figure 5: Survival Curve for Cell Line LN-229



Figure 6: Survival Curve for Cell Line A172

3.4 GDNF Expression Level

GDNF was overexpressed in the two cell lines LN-229 and A172. Significantly, the expression of GDNF was also found to be increased in all glioma specimens when compared to adult brain, foetal brain, adult liver and foetal liver.

All glioblastoma samples and cell lines demonstrated increased level of expression. The highest expression level was observed in a sample of glioblastoma tissue. Other gliomas studied (oligodendroglioma, PXA, recurrent PXA, anaplastic ependymoma and pilocytic astrocytoma) also demonstrated increased levels of expression of GDNF. The pilocytic astrocytoma and PXA had the lowest level of GDNF expression of all the glioma samples. The results are summarised in Figure 7.





Key to samples:

S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.5 Expression of RET Isoforms (RET 9 and RET 51)

Ret 9 expression was reduced in the 2 glioblastoma cell lines investigated.

Ret 9 was however more highly expressed in 8 out of 13 of the glioma samples when compared to the expression level in human adult brain. The level of expression was lower than human adult brain in three glioblastoma samples, one PXA and the case of pilocytic astrocytoma. Incidentally, these 5 samples with the lowest Ret expression also had the lowest corresponding GDNF expression.

The level of Ret 51 expression was noted to be fairly homogeneous amongst the all the glioma samples as well as human adult and foetal brain. The expression level is however significantly reduced for the two cell lines studied.

Comparing the ratio of Ret9/Ret51 showed that Ret 9 is the predominant splice isoform in glioma samples and in brain and liver tissue. The results are summarised in Figure 8.





Figure 8: Expression Levels of RET 9 and RET 51

Key to samples:

S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.6 Expression of NCAM

The glioblastoma cell lines had significantly lower expression of NCAM when compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. All glioma specimens had lower NCAM expression compared to human foetal brain and 11 of the 13 glioma samples had reduced expression compared to adult brain. 2 out of the 8 glioblastoma samples had slightly higher expression than adult brain (Figure 9).

As the expression level of NCAM in all the glioblastoma cell lines and human glioma samples were lower than human foetal brain samples, expression levels of the various NCAM splice isoform variants were not quantified.



Figure 9: Expression Levels of NCAM

Key to samples:

- S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
- S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
- S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.7 Expression of GFRa1a

The glioblastoma cell lines had significantly lower levels of expression of GFR α 1a compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 11 out of the 13 human glioma samples had decreased levels of expression of GFR α 1a compared to human adult and

foetal brain samples. 2 out of the 8 glioblastoma samples had elevated levels of GFR α 1a expression (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Expression Levels of GFRa1a

Key to samples:

- S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
- S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
- S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.8 Expression of GFRa1b

The 2 glioblastoma cell lines had increased expression of GFR α 1b compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 5 glioma samples had elevated levels of expression of GFR α 1b compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. These were all human glioblastoma samples (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Expression Levels of GFRa1b

Key to samples:

- S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
- S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
- S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.9 Differential Expression Levels of GFRa1b and GFRa1a

On close analysis of the expression levels of GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b levels, an interesting observation was noted.

The glioblastoma cell lines demonstrated much higher levels of GFR α 1b expression than GFR α 1a expression. For cell line LN-229, the ratio of GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a was 16.3 and the ratio of GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a was 14.3 for cell line A172.

A similar trend was also noted in 7 out of the 8 human glioblastoma samples. The GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a ranged from 1.73 to 5.44 in the 7 specimens. Only one human glioblastoma specimen had a higher GFR α 1a/GFR α 1b ratio.

The GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a ratio for the pilocytic astrocytoma and PXA are 3.88 and 4.20 respectively. The oligodendroglioma sample had higher level of expression of GFR α 1a with a GFR α 1a/GFR α 1b ratio of 5.99. GFR α 1b expression was undetectable for the recurrent PXA specimen.



The results are summarised in Figure 12.

Figure 12: Differential expression levels of GFRa1a and GFRa1b

Key to samples:

- S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
- S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
- S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.10 Expression of GFRa2

All human glioma samples and glioblastoma cell lines demonstrated significantly decreased levels of expression of GFR α 2 compared to human adult brain and human foetal brain samples (Figure 13). As the level of expression of GFR α 2 was shown to be much lower than in the normal controls, expression levels of GFR α 2 splice isoform variants were not measured.



Figure 13: Expression Levels of GFRa2

Key to samples:

- S1: Oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II)
- S2: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S3: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S4: Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S5: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S6: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S7: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S8: Recurrent Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (WHO Grade II)
- S9: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S10: Anaplastic Ependymoma (WHO Grade III)
- S11: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S12: Glioblastoma (WHO Grade IV)
- S13: Pilocytic Astrocytoma (WHO Grade I)

3.11 Study of Effects of GDNF on BCNU chemotherapy

BCNU is a nitrosurea and is the chemotherapy drug used as in traditional regimens for

malignant gliomas. Pre-treatment with GDNF was performed to elucidate the possible

effects of GDNF in promoting tumour proliferation by antagonising the cytotoxic effects

of chemotherapy. GDNF may therefore play a role in conferring chemoresistance.

LN-229 and A172 were grown to 90% confluency and trypsinised. The experimental groups were seeded with GDNF enriched media at 50ng/ml concentration. The control group was not treated with GDNF. 24 hours, the LN-229 cells were treated with 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) at concentrations at 40 μ g/ml and 50 μ g/ml and the A172 cells were treated at 75 μ g/ml.

After 24 hours of BCNU treatment, the morphology of the glioblastoma cells was observed. A larger proportion of the cells pre-treated with GDNF had normal morphology whereas a larger proportion of the cells in the control arm appeared rounded and pyknotic in appearance (Figure 14).



Figure 14a: Morphology of LN-229 *with* pre-treatment with GDNF prior to treatment with BCNU at 50µg/ml (400X magnification)



Figure 14b: Morphology of LN-229 *without* pre-treatment with GDNF prior to treatment with BCNU at 50µg/ml (400X magnification)

In the analysis for chemotherapy cytotoxicity effects using the MTS assay, GDNF was shown to demonstrate very significant cellular survival in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy.

When the LN-229 cells were treated with BCNU at 40μ g/ml concentration, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 31.7%, 41.0% and 52.1% for the group not pre-treated with GDNF. For the group pre-treated with GDNF, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 71.4%, 77.9% and 79.1% respectively. This difference was statistically significant (P<0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 41.6% and 75.8% in the group pre-treated with GDNF. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05).

A similar trend was also noticed when the LN-229 cells were treated with BCNU at 50µg/ml concentration. The cellular survival on MTS assay were 14.0%, 30.6% and 35.4% for the group not pre-treated with GDNF. For the group pre-treated with GDNF, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 50.8%, 56.2% and 57.2% respectively. This difference was statistically significant (P<0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 26.7% and 54.7% in the group pretreated with GDNF. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05). The results are summarised in Figures 15.



Figure 15a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 1)



Figure 15b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 2)



Figure 15c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 3)

The experimental protocol was replicated for glioblastoma cell line A172. In this cell line, GDNF also demonstrated very significant cellular survival in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy.

When the A172 cells were treated with BCNU at 75μ g/ml concentration, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 30.9%, 26.0% and 31.4% for the group not pre-treated with GDNF. For the group pre-treated with GDNF, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 61.0%, 58.3% and 68.0% respectively. This difference was statistically significant (P<0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 29.4% and 62.4% in the group pre-treated with GDNF. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05). The results are summarised in Figure 16.



Figure 16a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 1)



Figure 16b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 2)



Figure 16c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 3)

The results therefore demonstrate that GDNF can confer significantly cellular survival in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy. This ability to confer chemoresistance is also demonstrated in two different human glioblastoma cell lines: LN-229 and A172.

3.12 Study on the Effects of NRTN on BCNU chemotherapy

GDNF binds to GFR α 1 and NRTN binds to GFR α 2. In addition, NRTN may crosstalk weakly with GFR α 1 and GDNF with GFR α 2. This ability to crosstalk with other GFR α receptors is the basis to investigate the role of NRTN on BCNU chemotherapy and aims to elucidate if NRTN has a similar effect on chemoresistance and cellular survival.

LN-229 and A172 were grown to 90% confluency and trypsinised. The experimental group was seeded with NRTN enriched media at 50ng/ml concentration. The control group was not treated with NRTN. 24 hours, the LN-229 cells were treated with 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) at concentrations at 40 μ g/ml and 50 μ g/ml and the A172 cells were treated at 75 μ g/ml.

After 24 hours of BCNU treatment, the morphology of the glioblastoma cells was observed. There was no discernable difference in the morphology of the glioblastoma cells in the cells pre-treated with NRTN and in the cells not pre-treated with NRTN (Figure 17).



Figure 17a: Morphology of LN-229 *with* pre-treatment with NRTN prior to treatment with BCNU at 50µg/ml (100X magnification)



Figure 17b: Morphology of LN-229 *without* pre-treatment with NRTN prior to treatment with BCNU at 50µg/ml (100X magnification)

In the analysis for chemotherapy cytotoxicity effects using the MTS assay, NRTN did not demonstrate any significant cellular survival advantage in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy.

When the LN-229 cells were treated with BCNU at 40μ g/ml concentration, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 69.2%, 71.9% and 57.4% for the group not pre-treated with NRTN. For the group pre-treated with NRTN, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 70.9%, 66.4% and 57.4% respectively. There was no statistically significant difference (p>0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with NRTN was 66.2% and 64.9% in the group pre-treated with NRTN. This difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05).

A similar trend was also noticed when the LN-229 cells were treated with BCNU at 50µg/ml concentration. The cellular survival on MTS assay were 43.6%, 37.7% and 29.5% for the group not pre-treated with NRTN. For the group pre-treated with NRTN, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 44.3%, 38.7% and 30.9% respectively. This difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with NRTN was 36.9% and 38.0% in the group pretreated with NRTN. This difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05). The results are summarised in Figure 18.



Figure 18a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 1)


Figure 18b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 2)



Figure 18c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line LN-229 (Experiment 3)

The experimental protocol was replicated for glioblastoma cell line A172. In this cell line, NRTN also did not demonstrate very significant cellular survival in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy.

When the A172 cells were treated with BCNU at 75μ g/ml concentration, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 32.3%, 32.5% and 33.3% for the group not pre-treated with NRTN. For the group pre-treated with NRTN, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 35.3%, 31.0% and 35.5% respectively. There was no statistical difference between the values in the two groups (p>0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 32.7% and 33.9% in the group pre-treated with NRTN. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups (p>0.05). The results are summarised in Figure 19.



Figure 19a: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with NRTN on cell line A172 (Experiment 1)



Figure 19b: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 2)



Figure 19c: Study of the effects of BCNU chemotherapy with and without pre-treatment with GDNF on cell line A172 (Experiment 3)

The results therefore demonstrate that NRTN, unlike GDNF does not confer any cellular survival advantage to BCNU chemotherapy. This absence of significant chemoresistance property is demonstrated in two different human glioblastoma cell lines: LN-229 and A172.

3.13 Signalling Mapping on stimulation with BCNU and GDNF for LN-229 and A172

Many different growth factor/receptor systems have been implicated in the proliferative behaviour of gliomas. Examples of such growth factors are: Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF), Nerve Growth Factor (NGF) and Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF). The results above have also convincing demonstrated that GDNF but not NRTN has a significant role in conferring chemoresistance to BCNU chemotherapy.

These mitogens and their cognate receptors will subsequently regulate several intracellular signaling pathways. The major signaling cascades in activated in malignant gliomas are: phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT-protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT-PKB) pathway, mitogen activated protein kinase (RAS/MAPK) pathway and the phospholipase C- γ /protein kinase C (PLC- γ /PKC) pathway.

The modulation of MAPK and Akt signaling pathways in glioblastoma cell lines was investigated. LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines were stimulated with BCNU and GNDF and the experiments were studied at 0, 10, 30, 60 and 180 mins respectively. Experiments were terminated with 2% SDS.

Western blotting showed that BCNU induces activation of MAP kinases (extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2), c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase (JNK)

115

and p38) in both LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines. BCNU was however found to reduce the background activation of Akt in the A172 human glioblastoma cell line.

GDNF was found to induce the activation of ERK1/2 and Akt in both LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines. GDNF was however found to reduce the background activation of JNK and the A172 human glioblastoma cell line in a time-dependent fashion (Figure 20).

	BCNU (50 μg/ml)	GDNF (100 ng/ml)
Time (min)	0 10 30 60 180 S	0 10 30 60 180 S
Phospho- FRK1/2		
ERK1/2		
Phospho- JNK		
Actin		
Phospho- p38		
Actin		
Phospho-Akt		
Actin		

LN229 Cell line

	A172 Cell line		
	BCNU (75 µg/ml)	GDNF (100	ng/ml)
Time (min)	0 10 30 60 180 S	0 10 30 6	50 180 S
Phospho- ERK1/2			
ERK1/2			
Phospho- JNK	_ = = = = = =		
Actin			
Phospho- p38		11	
Actin			
Phospho-Akt			
Actin			

Figure 20: Western Blotting showing activation of phospho-ERK1/2, ERK 1/2, phospho-JNK, phsopho-p38, phospho-Akt on cell lines LN-229 and A172 on stimulation with BCNU and GNDF

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

4.1 Role of Radical Surgery

Surgery plays an important role in the management of high-grade gliomas. Surgery is critical for histological diagnosis of high-grade gliomas. Aggressive tumour resection can also rapidly reduce the intracranial hypertension associated with bulky disease and provide symptomatic relief and improved quality of life.

Surgical management can range from a simple biopsy with the express purpose of histological diagnosis, debulking of tumour to relief the pressure effects effects exerted by the tumour mass to more radical surgery. There is little argument that extensive surgical resection can provide higher diagnostic yield by obviating the problems of sampling error from a simple biopsy. There is also little controversy that more radical tumour resection can reduce intracranial hypertension and lead to symptomatic relief and recovery of reversible neurological deficits. However, the role of radical surgery in improving overall survival remains highly contentious and controversial.

The invasive and widely infiltrative nature of high grade glioma makes curative resection impossible²⁷⁹. This has been supported by the fact that even hemispherectomy was associated with survival rate of less than two years. Hemispherectomy as a means to achieve total glioma removal was pioneered by Walter Dandy in 1928²⁸⁰. Patient survival following hemispherectomy reported in the early 1930's as less than 2 years²⁸⁰⁻²⁸⁴. Eight decades on, even when near total excision is achieved and corroborated with post resection magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), median survival rate remains at a dismal 13 months²⁸⁵.

Tumour recurrence commonly occurs near to resection margin^{129-132, 286}. This is attributed to the sharp drop in tumour cell density with increasing distance from resection cavity. These ideas underlie the belief that a wider resection margin, coupled with adjuvant therapy would delay recurrence and prolong survival.

Four extensive reviews of the available literature have been carried out to date in an attempt to resolve the controversy of whether surgical resection improves survival time in malignant gliomas (see Table 1). Two publications evaluated existing evidence prior to 1990²⁸⁷⁻²⁸⁸. Another reviewed publications from 1991 to 1999²⁸⁹. The most recent update was from the Cochrane database of systematic reviews²⁹⁰. This systematic review identified only one study with adequate scientific rigour. It was a randomised trial, which enrolled 23 patients and compared biopsy to surgical excision. The results showed no difference in outcome between the two treatment options; however, these findings may not be conclusive because of the small sample size of the study. All four reviews unanimously bemoaned the lack of well conducted studies and arrived at a similar conclusion: that there is of absence of good scientific evidence to support claims of survival benefit from surgical resection of malignant gliomas.

Lacroix et al retrospectively analysed 416 consecutive cases of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) treated at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Centre²⁸⁵. This however included 44% of previously treated cases at other institutions prior to referral (cytoreductive surgery or biopsy only, with or without adjuvant chemotherapy or radiation therapy). No comparison group was available (matched untreated group). The patients' tumour volumes were quantified prospectively based on preoperative and postoperative MR images. Tumour volume was defined based on contrast enhancement

on T1-weighted imaging and increased signal intensity on T2-weighted imaging. Volumetric measurement was then performed using a software program. This method of assessing extent of resection is quantitative and reliable compared to other methods which were based on intraoperative surgeon judgement and/or radiologist assessment of preoperative and postoperative MR imaging without quantification of tumour volume, both of which are prone to subjectivity and variability. The authors reported longer survival in patients with at least 98% tumour resection (median survival 13 vs. 8.8 months). In the selected group without prior surgical intervention (56%) the reported survival was 13 months for patients with \geq 98% resection and 10.1 months for less than 98% glioma resection. The survival benefit for \geq 98% resection was much better in the previously not treated group compared to the previously surgically treated (at a separate institution) group. There was also a trend for survival benefit once tumour resection exceeds 89%. Although none of this data constitutes Class I evidence, it does show a trend that aggressive tumour resection can be performed with low morbidity with better survival compared to more conservative surgery. Furthermore, it is not likely that a randomised controlled trial can be conducted in the future because of ethical considerations.

In summary there is no good evidence that aggressive surgical resection significantly improves survival outcome. On the contrary recent evidence from a series a trials of glioma treatment suggests that any survival benefit, if present, is likely to be marginal. Radical resection may therefore be attempted if the incidence of surgical morbidity is reasonably low. Table 2 summarises additional studies which support improved survival following glioma resection. Most are retrospective in nature with no matched control, let alone randomised control; thus there is no strong evidence that aggressive surgical resection per se significantly improves survival outcome.

4.2 Why surgical resection then?

Failure to demonstrate prolonged survival should not detract physicians from considering surgical resection due to the numerous other benefits or tumour removal.

(A) Symptomatic relief and neurological improvement

Symptomatic relief from mass effect and obstructed cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) circulation are obvious benefit of glioma resection. Distortion of brain structure and compression of neural pathways contribute to both general symptoms and focal deficits, which may have some degree of improvement following surgical resection.

Global symptoms such as headache, nausea, vomiting and general malaise often show dramatic improvement after surgery²⁹¹. Relief of local compression may contribute to partial reversal of neurological deficit²⁹².

An often used indicator of potential neurological improvement following surgical glioma resection is a trial course of dexamethasone (16 mg per day). Patients with improved functional status after steroid use are usually the ones who will also show improvement in their quality of life after aggressive surgical resection, provided there is low postoperative morbidity²⁹³.

Brown et al evaluated the quality of life following 3 separate high grade glioma treatment regimes for high grade gliomas²⁹⁴. In this trial, patients with gross total glioma resection and adjuvant therapy had improved overall quality of life at 2 and 4 month follow-up. There was no survival benefit.

Ammirat et al²⁹⁵ and Sawaya et al²⁹⁶ found that gross total resections are associated with better patient neurological performance scores than those observed after more limited resections. Furthermore, partial resection, with significant residual tumour, may lead to an increased risk of post operative bleeding and oedema exacerbation.

(B) Oncologic reduction to augment adjuvant therapy

Oncologic reduction is another benefit of aggressive surgical resection. A 99% excision would reduce the amount of neoplastic cells by a factor of two, from 10⁹ to 10⁷ cells. A lower tumour load increases the efficacy of adjuvant therapy. Stewart et al²⁹⁷ performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of systemic chemotherapy on high grade glioma. They showed improved survival with a combined modality of surgical resection, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, as compared to surgery and radiotherapy. Surgical treatment included biopsy only, incomplete resection or complete resection. In the biopsy group survival at one year improved from 36% to 42%. Subgroup analysis did not show evidence of a differential effect of chemotherapy on extent of resection; however there was a trend towards improved survival in the patients who underwent complete and incomplete resection, compared to those in the biopsy group, although the improvement was not statistically significant.

123

(C) More accurate diagnosis

Accuracy of histological diagnosis is dependent on tissue sample size. This is especially true in the setting of false negatives associated with stereotactic biopsy as a result of limited tissue sample, which is estimated to be around 10%¹²⁰. Jackson et al²⁹⁸ reported a discrepancy rate of 38% between biopsy and subsequently resected specimens in 81 patients. This discrepancy was found to affect treatment in 26% of cases. The prognosis was altered in 38% of cases.

(D) Aid in research

The collection of large human tumour samples allows comprehensive molecular analysis and fingerprinting of each tumour and this may lead us to individually-tailored molecular therapies. Only through further understanding of the biology of gliomas can we hope to find a cure in the future.

There is therefore inconclusive evidence to support aggressive resection in prolonging survival in patients with high grade glioma. Most studies were insufficiently powered (or power of study not reported) to refute this issue once and for all.

With radical excision the reported outcome, at best, is a mean survival benefit of about 13 months²⁸⁵. In the elderly (>65 years old), this is further reduced to 3 months²⁹⁹. However such data suffer selection bias, as patients with expected poor outcome would not have undergone surgery. Even when survival benefit may be possible this is only seen with radical excision in excess of $98\%^{285}$.

As such we advocate the following guideline for glioblastoma resection³⁰⁰:

- 1. Tumour resection should be considered for histological confirmation, cytoreduction and to alleviate mass effect.
- 2. Aggressiveness of tumour resection is limited by the risk of incurring further new neurological deficit, in particular deficits which delays post operative radiotherapy and chemotherapy.
- Adjuvant intraoperative procedures to facilitate safe tumour resection should be encouraged.

Surgical Adjuncts that Exist to Limit Surgical Morbidity

Because of the limited lifespan of high-grade glioma patients, it is crucial that surgical debulking does not compound any existing neurological deficit. Otherwise, any potential gain from the surgical resection would be offset by the morbidity. Many techniques have been developed to identify eloquent cortex, especially language, motor and sensory cortex. These adjuncts aid in defining the resection limit, and further debulking beyond this limit will likely increase the risk of surgical morbidity.

Functional MRI (fMRI) helps to identify language and motor centres. Mueller et al ³⁰¹ compared the location of the fMRI activation with positive responses to intraoperative cortical stimulation and showed that in patients with more than 2 cm between the margin of the tumour and the activation, no decline in motor function occurred from surgical resection. fMRI of tactile, motor and language tasks is feasible in patients with tumours that are near the eloquent cortex, and shows promise as a means of determining postoperative motor deficit risk following surgical resection of frontal or parietal lobe tumours.

Intraoperative MRI potentially permits greater safety during aggressive resection of tumours by providing real-time images of residual tumour and the surrounding brain. It also leads to greater surgical accuracy by reducing neuronavigation errors due to intraoperative brain shift. In a study of 137 patients with WHO Grade III-IV gliomas, Nimsky et al²⁹⁹ found that 66% of patients with Grade III tumours and 28% of patients with Grade IV tumours underwent extended resection with the guidance of intraoperative MRI, thereby increasing the percentage of complete resections by 15% in Grade III gliomas and by 12% in Grade IV gliomas. Unfortunately, this increase is only marginal because in many cases, the tumour extends into the eloquent brain areas and could not be excised safely.

The integrated application of functional navigation on top of intraoperative MRI resulted in a lower postoperative morbidity rate, e.g., a transient new neurological deficit of 10.2% and a permanent neurological deficit of 2.9%. Oh et al³⁰² went on to suggest that this may become the standard of care in due time owing to the fact that patients with less residual tumour may respond more favourably to adjuvant chemotherapy with temozolomide.

Awake craniotomy with cortical mapping can localise eloquent motor cortex more reliably than anatomical landmarks. Employing identification techniques developed by doing awake craniotomy in 65 patients at the Mayo Clinic, Meyer et al³⁰³ found that resecting tumour until the onset of neurological deficits resulted in slightly more than half (52%) of the patients having a greater than 90% reduction in T2 signal postoperatively. At the same time, these techniques allow for good functional recovery. 94% of the 48 patients who developed intraoperative deficits achieved a modified Rankin grade of 2 or

less at 3-month follow up. Combining awake craniotomy with intraoperative cortical stimulation could reduce early neurological deterioration.

We performed a 3-year retrospective review of patients who underwent awake craniotomy under local anaesthesia at the National Neuroscience Institute, Singapore. All patients had tumours in close proximity to eloquent cortex, including speech areas in the dominant hemisphere as well as primary sensory and motor cortex in either hemisphere. Brain mapping was performed by direct cortical stimulation using the Ojemann stimulator to identify a safe corridor for surgical approach to the tumour. Intraoperative physiological monitoring was carried out with physiological monitoring of speech, motor and sensory functions during the process of surgical resection. All resections were evaluated and verified by postoperative imaging and reviewed by an independent assessor. Postoperative complications and neurological deficits, as well as extent of tumour resection, were evaluated.

A total of 20 patients underwent stereotactic resection over a period of 3 years from July 2003 to August 2006. There were 7 male patients and 13 female patients, with a mean age of 39.8 years. The average length of stay was 5.5 days. There were no major anaesthetic complications and no perioperative deaths. Postoperative neurological deficits were seen in 6 patients (30%) and this was permanent in only 1 patient (5%). The degree of cytoreduction achieved was greater than 90% in 58% of patients and a further 21% had greater than 80% cytoreduction³⁰⁴.

Awake craniotomy is therefore a safe technique that allows maximal resection of lesions in close relationship to eloquent cortex and has a low risk of neurological deficit.

127

Based on the current literature, there is still a lack of evidence on whether surgical resection improves patient survival. However, there are benefits, albeit short-term ones, to be had from surgical resection, and these should be borne in mind. Technological advances in the form of intraoperative and functional MRI along with awake craniotomy techniques may be employed to reduce surgical morbidity and improve the extent of surgical resection. Ideally, a controlled randomized trial would best answer the perennial question of whether surgical resection improves patient outcome and survival, but these will not be possible because of inherent ethical concerns. Well-controlled retrospective studies with a multivariate analysis of all potential confounding factors can answer further questions but unfortunately will not provide Class I evidence.

Authors	Studies included in literature reviewed	Clinical question	Study descriptions	Conclusions
Nazzaro and Neuwelt, Quigley and Maroon	Prior to 1990 (all reported trials)	Extent of high grade glioma resection vs survival outcome	No RCT Lack of prospective observational data. Confounding factors not accounted for.	Flawed study designs. Little evidence to support hypothesis that aggressive surgical management significantly prolonged survival.
Hess	1991 to 1999 (all reported trials)		Retrospective data except for one prospective study. Only 4 adjusted for confounding factors.	No reliable clinical study. Little scientific evidence to support assertion that aggressive surgical resection prolongs survival
Grant	Up to 2006 (Randomised and clinically controlled trials only)	Effect of surgical resection vs biopsy on survival, time to progression or quality of life	1 RCT Inequalities among groups Underpowered Radiological misdiagnosis (30 randomised, only 23 with high grade gliomas)	Single small, underpowered study. Unable to conclude if one form of treatment (surgical excision or biopsy only) is superior to another.

Table 1: Systematic reviews of the extent of resection influencing outcome

RCT: randomised control trial

Paper	Study type	Results reported
Lacroix 2001	Retrospective. N=416 44% had prior treatment elsewhere. Multivariate analyses	Improved survival associated with 98% or more total resection. (median survival 13 vs 8.8 months). Adjusted rate ratio 1.6 (95% CI 1.3-2, p<0.0001)
Buckner 2003	a. large cooperat ive trials: BTSG, NCCTG , RTSG Retrospective data, multivariate analysis including recursive partitioning analysis (RPA)	Survival advantage for patients underwent resection
Laws 2003	Retrospective outcome data of 788 patients over 4 years (1997-2001), multivariate analysis of resection vs biopsy	P<0.0001 Increased survival time even after eliminating 'poor' risk patients who may have been over- represented in biopsy group
Proescholdt 2003	120 articles up to 2003	No studies with high LOE (52.5% of studies had Level IIIb evidence which formed the majority). 72.5% of studies observed a positive effect of total resection but they contain

Table 2: Studies (1999 – 2006) excluded by the Cochrane review

		methodological limitations which may significantly influence results.
Bucci 2004	Retrospective Pediatric population. MRI validated total resection (defined as >90% resection) Small group(n=39) Median follow-up 47.6 months	Median survival of patients with total resection vs residual disease, 122.2 vs 21.3 months (p<0.005)
Brown 2005	Phase II trial. No matched control cohort Gross total resection group had better initial quality of life assessment.	On multivariable analyses performed patients with gross total resection were less likely to be depressed and had improved quality of life at 2 month follow-up.
Schneider 2005	Prospective (n=31) Resection extent measured by post op MRI. Unadjusted for known prognostication factors	Median survival for complete vs incomplete resection, 537 vs 237 days (p=0.0037)
Stark 2005	Retrospective (n=267) Univariate analysis of survival time (Not adjusted) Resection extent measured by post op CT with contrast	Gross total resection associated with prolonged survival P=0.014

RCT – randomised control trial

LOE – level of evidence

EOR – extent of resection

BTSG – Brain Tumour Study Group

NCCTG – North Central Cancer Treatment Group

RTOG – Radiation Therapy Oncology Group

4.3 Higher glioblastoma tumour burden reduces efficacy of BCNU chemotherapy: in vitro evidence to support radical surgery for malignant gliomas

The in vitro experiments were designed to ascertain whether tumour burden can independently affect the efficacy of the standard chemotherapy agent BCNU.

On analysis of the experimental data, it was shown that significantly higher doses of BCNU are required to bring about tumour death in a setting of high tumour burden. Conversely, a smaller dose of BCNU is necessary to bring about tumour death in the presence of lower tumour burden.

For LN-229 cells seeded at 5,000 per well density, the drug concentration required to achieve greater than 90% growth inhibition (IC₉₀) was 75 μ g/mL. Cells seeded at densities of 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000 per well required BCNU concentrations of 100 μ g/mL, 150 μ g/mL and 175 μ g/mL respectively.

For A172 cell line, the drug concentration required to achieve IC_{90} for cells seeded at 5,000, 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000 cells per well were 100 µg/mL, 125 µg/mL, 150 µg/mL and 175 µg/mL respectively.

For T98G cell line, the drug concentration required to achieve IC_{90} for cells seeded at 5,000, 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000 cells per well were 75 µg/mL, 100 µg/mL, 125 µg/mL and 150 µg/mL respectively.

The survival curves for the various cell lines demonstrate a consistent trend of larger chemotherapy doses required to achieve similar levels of growth inhibition for higher tumour loading in all the cell lines.

This vitro study has therefore shown increased chemotherapy resistance with higher glioblastoma load. A four fold increase in GBM tumour load requires a two fold

132

increase in BCNU concentration to achieve the same effect. Radical resection of highgrade gliomas may therefore facilitate adjuvant therapy by reducing oncologic load. This effect has also been in clinical studies. Stewart et al²⁹⁷ performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of systemic chemotherapy on high-grade gliomas. They showed improved survival with a combined modality of surgical resection, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, as compared to surgery and radiotherapy. Surgical treatment included biopsy only, incomplete resection or complete resection. Subgroup analysis did not show evidence of a differential effect of chemotherapy on extent of resection; however, there was a trend towards improved survival in the patients who underwent complete and incomplete resection, compared to those in the biopsy group, although the improvement was not statistically significant.

Our in vitro experimental data therefore shows that increased tumour burden can reduce the efficacy of chemotherapy in human glioblastoma call lines. Radical surgery to reduce tumour burden can therefore potentiate adjuvant therapy. This lends further credence to support aggressive surgery for high-grade gliomas.

4.4 Growth Factors

The control of cell proliferation is highly regulated by growth factors. Growth factors are high affinity ligands for membrane-spanning cell surface receptors belonging to the family of receptors tyrosine kinase (RTK). Activation of the receptor results in complex multistep signal transduction pathway which includes ligand binding and receptor dimerisation, intermolecular phosphorylation of the intracellular domain on tyrosine residues, recruitment and activation of cytoplasmic signaling molecules that transmit signals to the nucleus. In malignant transformed cells, the receptor tyrosine kinase is dysregulated and constitutively activated. Activation can occur by ligand overexpression, mutations within the RTK protein or overexpression of the receptor due to genetic aberrations such as translocation or gene amplification. Overexpression can result in RTK activation by increasing the concentration of the protein at the plasma membrane leading to ligand independent dimerisation³⁰⁵.

Activation of growth factors or their receptors is evident in many human cancers. For instance, the ErbB family of receptors includes GFR, v-erb-b2 erythroblastic leukemia viral oncogene homolog 2, neuro/glioblastoma derived oncogene homolog (avian) (ErbB2/HER2/Neu). ErbB3 and ErbB4 can be bound and activated by ligands. Their activation can contribute to the proliferative behaviour of a variety of cancers, including breast, ovarian, colorectal, small cell lung cancer and glioblastoma³⁰⁶.

Many mitogens and their cognate receptors are present in overactive forms in gliomas. Examples of these mitogens are: PDGF, EGF and EGFR. Many of the ligands are over-expressed due to gene amplification and the receptors exist in constitutively active forms. The cognate receptors contain tyrosine kinase activity regulating several intracellular signaling cascades.

4.5 Cellular Signalling

The fundamental feature of all cancer cells is their ability to grow, survive and proliferate beyond a normal homeostatic environment. Recent advances in molecular research have shown complex interactions between cell surface receptors and intracellular signaling proteins. Multiple cellular pathways have been elucidated which promote cell proliferation, growth and anti-apoptosis, ultimately contributing to the survival and mitogenesis of tumour cells. Growth factor receptors are membrane-spanning proteins characterised by innate tyrosine kinase activity. The receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) catalyse the transfer of the γ phosphate of ATP to hydroxyl groups of tyrosines on target proteins. Specific growth factors or ligands are over-expressed due to gene amplification and the receptors can exist in constitutively active mutant forms. Many growth factors have been found to be widely expressed in human glioma cell lines and glioma tissue and can stimulate mitogenic behaviour. These include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR/c-erb/HER 1), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), brain-derived growth factor (BDGF) and scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (SF/HGF)^{173-174, 189-209}.

Binding of growth factors induces conformational changes in the extracellular domain of the receptor and facilitates dimerisation or clustering of receptor tyrosine kinases. Dimeric ligands such as PDGF induce a symmetric ligand/receptor interaction whereas monomeric ligands such as EGF induce receptor dimerisation.

Ligand binding, receptor dimerisation and consequent conformational change in the growth factor receptor brings about union of two catalytic domains, resulting in autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues within the catalytic domain and non-catalytic regulatory regions of the cytoplasmic domain. Phosphorylation of key residue within the kinase activation loop induces the opening of the catalytic site and allows the ingress of ATP and substrates, while phosphorylated residues in non-catalytic regions create docking sites for downstream signaling molecules that are essential for signal propagation³⁰⁶.

In gliomas, the cognate receptors activate several intracellular signaling cascades: P13K/AKT-PTB (phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT-protein kinase B) pathway, RAS/MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) pathway and the PLC- γ /PKC (phospholipase C- γ /protein kinase C) pathway²⁰⁹⁻²¹⁰.

The MAPK regulate highly conserved signaling pathways in all eukaryotic cells. All MAPK pathways include a core three-tiered signaling unit, in which MAPKs are activated by the sequential activation of linked serine/threonine kinases.

Phosphoinositides are phospholipids of cell membranes that are dynamically regulated in response to growth factor signaling³⁰⁷. They contribute to signal propagation by serving as precursors of the second messengers IP3 and Diacylglycerol (DAG) or by binding to signaling proteins that contain specific phosphoinositide binding modules. Overall, the most important downstream signaling pathways involved are the P13K/Akt and RAS/MAPK pathways.

4.6 Paracrine and Autocrine Loops in Cancer

Tumour-stromal interactions can influence tumour differentiation and invasion in many tumours. In colorectal tumour cells, co-culture of Caco-2 or HT-29 cells in collagen gels resulted in the formation of a few small solid cell clusters with no lumina, but when co-cultured with stromal cells, the tumour cells formed glandular structures with central lumina. This fibroblast-induced differentiation of Caco-2 cells (nit HT-29 cells) appeared to be mediated via transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β)¹⁷⁶. A paracrine mechanism is

also seen in squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Stromal changes with increased expression of proteases and cytokines may promote tumour proliferation. Myofibroblasts are commonly concentrated at the invasive margin of oral SCC. The tumour cells directly induce a myofibroblastic phenotype which is dependent on SCC-derived TGF-β1. In turn, myofibroblasts secrete significantly higher levels of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor compared with fibroblast controls which promotes SCC invasion¹⁷⁷. Malignant melanoma cells are able to express various cytokines and growth factors at different stages of tumour progression, which can confer tumour competence via autocrine and paracrine effects¹⁷⁸.

4.7 Paracrine and Autocrine Loops in Gliomas

Likewise, the co-expression of growth factors with their corresponding receptors in gliomas may result in complex endogenous ligand-receptor interactions. The growth factor receptors expressed on the surface of tumour cells may bind soluble ligand produced by the same (autocrine) or adjacent cells (paracrine). In addition, membrane-anchored growth factor isoforms generated by alternative splicing may bind to the same (juxtacrine) or adjacent tumour cells (paracrine). Intracellular interactions between growth factors and their ligands can also lead to intracrine activation of signaling cascades^{166, 179}.

Many different growth factor/receptor systems have been implicated in the proliferative behaviour of gliomas. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is considered one of the most potent angiogenic factors in gliomas. It is highly expressed in

malignant gliomas predominantly in areas of necrosis¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸⁵ and is thought to stimulate angiogenesis in a paracrine manner by binding to tyrosine kinase receptors on endothelial cells^{183, 186-188}. The epidermal growth receptor (EGFR/c-erb1/HER1) is the mammalian homologue of the v-erbB oncogene from avian erythroblastosis virus¹⁸⁹. Expression of EGFR has been shown in glioma cell lines and primary tumours with the degree of expression correlating with histological grade. EGFR expression has been linked to higher Ki-67 labelling indices and decreased survival¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹². In vitro experiments have demonstrated that expression of EGFR leads to increased proliferation and reduced apoptosis¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵. Co-expression of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and their receptors is a common alteration in glioblastomas which can influence survival and proliferation of tumour cells. All four members of the PDGF family group PDGF-A, B, C and D have been shown to influence malignant behaviour. One of the most consistent cellular signaling defects observed in high-grade gliomas is the presence of an autocrine loop attributable to the coexpression of PDGF-A and PDGF-B and their receptors¹⁹⁶⁻²⁰⁰. PDGF-C and PDGF-D expression is also seen in human glioblastoma cell lines and primary human tumour tissues. The use of CT52923, a potent inhibitor of PDGFR blocked PDGF autocrine-mediated phosphorylation of PDGFR, Akt, and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) and was also able to inhibit glioma growth in nude mice models²⁰¹.

Nerve growth factor is a member of the family of neurotrophins which are widely expressed in glioma tissue²⁰². They bind with different affinity to receptors of the trk family and can stimulate glioma cell line proliferation in an autocrine fashion²⁰³⁻²⁰⁴. Several other putative growth factors have been found to be widely expressed in human

glioma cell lines and glioma tissue and can stimulate mitogenic behaviour. These include insulin-like growth factor $(IGF)^{205}$, transforming growth factor-beta $(TGF-\beta)^{206}$, brain-derived neurotrophic factor $(BDNF)^{207}$ and scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor $(SF/HGF)^{208-209}$.

A highly complex system of ligand-receptor interactions are therefore present to stimulate tumour proliferation, promote invasiveness, inhibit apoptosis and confer cellular survival and chemoresistance.

4.8 Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (GDNF) Family

Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) was originally identified in 1993 by Lin et al as a neurotrophic factor²¹¹. It was isolated from a rat glioma cell line supernatant and was shown to confer increased survival for embryonic midbrain dopamine neurons. Subsequently, it was also found that GDNF also had potent trophic functions in spinal motorneurons and central noradrenergic neurons.

Due to its ability to promote neuronal survival, in the realm of neuroscience research, much of the research on GDNF has therefore been focused on its role as a potential therapeutic agent for neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's Disease²¹²⁻²¹⁵

The GDNF-family ligands (GFL) consist of GDNF, neurturin (NRTN), artemin (ARTN) and persephin (PSPN). The GFLs support midbrain dopamine and motorneurons in the central nervous system. In addition, GDNF, NRTN and ARTN promote the survival and regulate the differentiation of many peripheral neurons such as the sympathetic, parasympathetic, sensory and enteric neurons²¹⁶⁻²¹⁷.

GFLs belong to the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) superfamily, containing seven cysteine residues with the same relative spacing as other members of the family²¹⁸. They all belong to the cystine-knot protein family and function as homodimers.

GFLs are produced in the form of a precursor, preproGFL. The sequence is cleaved on secretion and activation of proGFL occurs by proteolytic cleavage. The secreted proneurotrophins may however be biologically active^{216, 219-220}.

GDNF is secreted as a mature protein of 134 amino acids. In its natural state, it exists as a glycosylated homodimer of approximately 39 kDa.

4.9 GDNF and Malignant Gliomas

Besides the nervous system, GDNF is produced in many other organ systems in the human body. There is an increasing trend that GDNF is implicated as a mitogenic agent for cancers in the various organ systems where it is found to be present.

GDNF and NRTN were found to be mitogens for normal adult rat chromaffin cells in vitro. The mitogenic behaviour is potentiated by binding and activation of protein kinase C (PKC). Although both ligands contributed to increased mitogenesis, NRTN was the more potent mitogen and caused increased phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 in cultured chromaffin cells²⁴⁸.

In pancreatic cancer, RET overexpression was seen in pancreatic tumour tissue. GDNF and ARTN were strongly expressed in all intrapancreatic nerves and intrapancreatic neural invasion was significantly related to the expression of GDNF. In vitro invasion assays, the migration of pancreatic cancer cells are markedly induced by co-culture with human glioma cells capable of secreting GDNF. Immunohistochemical assessment of GDNF, NRTN, PSPN, ARTN, GDNF family receptor alpha-1 and alpha-2 and RET in 51 cases of surgically resected pancreatic cancer demonstrated that GDNF and ARTN were expressed strongly in all intrapancreatic nerves. In pancreatic cancer tissues, the expression of RET was stronger than that seen in normal ductal cells and was significantly related to the survival rate after resection and lymphatic invasion²⁴⁹⁻²⁵⁰. Intrapancreatic neural invasion was also significantly related to the expression of GDNF The expression of RET in pancreatic cancer tissues may therefore be a useful prognostic marker and GDNF may play an important role in neural invasion. RET expression in pancreatic cancer cells may also be a potential target for anti-invasion therapy. Treatment of pancreatic carcinoma cell lines with GDNF resulted in activation of the monomeric GTPases N-Ras, Rac1, and RhoA, in activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase (JNK) and in activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. Both inhibition of the Ras-Raf-MEK (mitogen-activated protein/ERK kinase)-ERK cascade by either stable expression of dominant-negative H-Ras(N17) or addition of the MEK1 inhibitor PD98059 as well as inhibition of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway by LY294002 prevented GDNF-induced migration and invasion of pancreatic carcinoma cells. These results demonstrate that pancreatic tumor cell migration and possibly perineural invasion in response to GDNF is critically controlled by activation of the Ras-Raf-MEK-ERK and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway. (Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinase is required for

glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-induced migration and invasion of pancreatic carcinoma cells³⁰⁸.

Perineural invasion is an important prognostic factor for patients with bile duct carcinoma and is not surprising that GDNF can play a role in the pathogenesis of bile duct cancer. Using immunohistochemistry, moderate to strong staining of GDNF in tumour cells was observed more frequently in sections with perineural invasion. Cell migration was also seen to be enhanced by conditioned media from GDNF-treated cells²⁵¹.

GDNF can promote proliferation of neuroblastoma cells and can have a role in promoting resistance to differentiation or cytotoxic therapy of neuroblastoma. (Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family ligands reduce the sensitivity of neuroblastoma cells to pharmacologically induced cell death, growth arrest and differentiation³⁰⁹.

Immunohistochemistry studies in vestibular schwannoma have shown that coexpression of transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF- β 1) and GDNF in vestibular schwannoma may demonstrate trophic synergism in this tumour.

GDNF is produced by astrocytes and is ubiquitous in the central nervous system and neural tissue and hence can potentially play an important role in the pathogenesis of high-grade glioma.

GDNF and its receptor GFR α 1 have been demonstrated to be strongly expressed in human gliomas by Wiesenhofer et al. In an analysis of 20 human astrocytomas (14 glioblastomas, 1 gliosarcoma and 5 astrocytomas), GDNF protein concentrations were found to be present in high amounts compared to postmortem human frontal lobe and rat

142

cortex. Immunohistochemistry of GFR α 1 demonstrated strongly positive staining in 5 out of 15 high-grade glioma samples, weakly positive staining in 4 specimens and no staining in 6 specimens²⁵³.

In murine experiments, GDNF is found to be highly expressed in rat glioma cell lines B49 and C6. Furthermore, knockdown experiments with antisense oligonucleotides performed with rat C6 glioma cells demonstrated that knockdown of C6 cells with GDNF and GFR α 1 significantly reduced the number of C6 glioma cells and also inhibited the incorporation of bromodeoxyuridine as a sign of DNA synthesis²⁵⁴.

In our study, the use of Real-Time PCR to quantify the level of expression of GDNF demonstrated that GDNF was more highly expressed in glioma samples and glioblastoma cell lines than in adult brain, foetal brain, adult liver and foetal liver samples. All glioblastoma samples and cell lines demonstrated increased level of expression. The highest expression level was observed in a sample of glioblastoma tissue. Other gliomas studied (oligodendroglioma, PXA, recurrent PXA, anaplastic ependymoma and pilocytic astrocytoma) also demonstrated increased levels of expression of GDNF. The pilocytic astrocytoma and PXA had the lowest level of GDNF expression of all the glioma samples studied. Pilocytic astrocytoma is a benign tumour classified as WHO Grade I tumour. PXA is a low-grade glial tumour (WHO Grade II). Although, it is tempting to postulate that GDNF expression may be correlated to the WHO Grading of the tumour, this theory is not tenable at this stage as the oligodendroglioma (WHO Grade II) sample demonstrated very high level of GDNF expression. Obviously, a much larger sample size to compare the difference in expression of GDNF between the low-grade and high-grade gliomas may be able to ascertain a

statistically significant difference. In practical terms, we are limited by the small numbers of low grade gliomas in our population and would therefore not have sufficient clinical numbers to test this hypothesis.

Significantly, in vitro experiments comparing the level of GDNF expression in high-grade C6 glioma cells and low-grade Hs683 cells revealed that the high-grade cells secrete more GDNF than the low-grade cells. GDNF signaling is also more highly activated in C6 cells than in Hs683 cells. Treatment of the Hs683 cells with GDNF significantly increased migration comparable to C6 cells³¹¹.

It is noteworthy that the case of recurrent PXA showed the second highest level of expression of GDNF. PXA is a rare primary astrocytic tumour of the nervous system usually involving the superficial temporal cortex of children and young adults. Although the tumour may exhibit histological features of pleomorphism or cellular atypia, the overall prognosis is good compared with other glial tumours, and only 30% of PXA recur and 15-20% undergo anaplastic transformation³¹²⁻³¹⁷. It would be interesting to study the varying levels of GNDF expression to ascertain whether increased level of GDNF expression is correlated with recurrence of PXA, more aggressive behaviour or malignant transformation.

4.10 Splice Isoforms/Variants

Alternative splicing is responsible for much of the protein diversity in humans. Approximately 60% of human genes express multiple mRNAs and approximately 80% of these alternative splicing events lead to variation in the encoded protein²⁵⁵.
RET pre-mRNA alternative splicing leads to the production of two isoforms: RET 9 and RET 51, which possess different biochemical and biological properties. Alternatively spliced variants NCAM also exist and have been demonstrated to subserve distinct biochemical and physiological functions.

Splice isoforms are also abundant in the GDNF-family receptor- α (GFR α). Several variants have been observed for GFR α 1, GFR α 2 and GFR α 4 pre-mRNAs. GFR α 1 receptor exists in two highly homologous alternatively spliced isoforms: GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b²⁶²⁻²⁶⁴.

GFR α 1b is identical to GFR α 1a except for the absence of 5 amino acids (140DVFQQ144), encoded by exon 5. In addition, GFR α 2 and GFR α 4 receptor splice isoforms have also been identified in mammalian tissue. Three variants of GFR α 2 receptors (GFR α 2a/2b/2c) have been identified²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁶. At least two splice variants of GFR α 4 have been identified in rat tissue²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹. The presence of multiple spliced isoforms increases the permutational possibility and complexity of ligand-receptor interactions and can potentially result in diverse biological and physiological processes.

Quantification of expression levels of GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b in murine brain, heart, ileum, kidney, liver and testis showed that both spliced isoforms were expressed at fairly equivalent levels except in the brain, where GFR α 1a is the predominant isoform. Expression levels of RET9 were significantly higher than that of RET51 in murine brain, heart, ileum and testis. All three NCAM spliced variants (NCAM120, 140 and 180) were highly expressed in the murine brain but at low levels in most peripheral tissues²⁷⁵.

Neuro-2a cell lines expressing either GFR α 1 isoforms demonstrated that GDNF and NRTN bind to GFR α 1b isoform more efficiently than to the GFR α 1a isoform.

Investigation of the capacity of each GFR α 1 isoform to activate the RET receptor showed that at low ligand concentrations GFR α 1b mediated RET phosphorylation to a larger extent than GFR α 1a. At ligand saturation, RET activation was maximal and no difference between the GFR α 1 isoforms was observed³¹⁸.

Using transfected Neuro2A which expressed both NCAM and RET endogenously as a model, Yoong et al showed that when stimulated with either GDNF or NRTN, both GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b induced the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 potently. Microarray analyses of GFR α 1 isoforms transfected cells stimulated with NRTN however showed distinct and non-overlapping gene profiles, providing evidence that the spliced GFR α 1 isoforms may have different functions²⁷⁵.

Measurement of the expression of miRNA precursors in human BE(2)-C cells that express GFR α 2 but not GFR α 1 with quantitative real-time PCR demonstrated that GDNF and NTN differentially regulate the expression of distinct micro-RNA (miRNA) precursors through the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase. The expression of distinct miRNA precursors is can therefore also differentially regulated by specific ligands through the activation of GFR α 2.

4.11 Splice Variants in Gliomas

Real-Time PCR studying the expression levels of RET showed a consistent trend that RET9 is the predominant spliced isoform in all human glioma samples and glioblastoma cell lines. RET9 was also the predominant spliced isoform found in brain and liver samples.

The glioblastoma cell lines had significantly lower levels of expression of GFR α 1a compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 11 out of the 13 human glioma samples had decreased levels of expression of GFR α 1a compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 2 out of the 8 glioblastoma samples had elevated levels of GFR α 1a expression.

The 2 glioblastoma cell lines had increased expression of GFR α 1b compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. 5 glioma samples had elevated levels of expression of GFR α 1b compared to human adult and foetal brain samples. These were all human glioblastoma samples.

On close analysis of the expression levels of GFRa1a and GFRa1b levels, an interesting observation was noted. The glioblastoma cell lines demonstrated much higher levels of GFRa1b expression than GFRa1a expression. For cell line LN-229, the ratio of GFRa1b/GFRa1a was 16.3 and the ratio of GFRa1b/GFRa1a was 14.3 for cell line A172. A similar trend was also noted in 7 out of the 8 human glioblastoma samples. The GFRa1b/GFRa1a ranged from 1.73 to 5.44 in the 7 specimens. Only one human glioblastoma specimen had a higher GFRa1a/GFRa1b ratio

The GFR α 1b/GFR α 1a ratio for the pilocytic astrocytoma and PXA are 3.88 and 4.20 respectively. The oligodendroglioma sample had higher level of expression of GFR α 1a with a GFR α 1a/GFR α 1b ratio of 5.99. GFR α 1b expression was undetectable for the recurrent PXA specimen.

GFR α 1b is therefore the predominant spliced isoform in human glioblastoma samples and human glioblastoma cell lines. This is especially significant in the setting that GFR α 1a is the usual predominant spliced isoform in the brain.

147

GFR α 2 is alternatively spliced into at least three isoforms (GFR α 2a, GFR α 2b and GFR α 2c). Yoong et al hypothesized that the spliced isoforms may have differing functional properties. When transfected Neuro2A cells were stimulated with GDNF and NRTN, both the GFR α 2a and GFR α 2c transfected cell lines, but not the GFR α 2b transfected cell line, promoted neurite outgrowth. In addition, the GFR α 2 isoforms were shown to regulate different early-response genes when stimulated with GDNF or NRTN. In coexpression studies, GFR α 2b transfected cell line was found to inhibit ligand-induced neurite outgrowth by GFR α 2a and GFR α 2c. Stimulation of GFR α 2b also inhibited the neurite outgrowth induced by GFR α 1a. Furthermore, activation of GFR α 2b inhibited neurite outgrowth induced by retinoic acid and activated RhoA³¹⁹.

This shift in spliced isoform expression in glioblastoma suggests that the GFR α 1 spliced isoforms may subserve different functions and this altered state of expression may contribute to the mitogenic behaviour of the tumour.

4.12 Potentiation of Chemoresistance

The mainstay of therapy for malignant gliomas is a combination of surgery, radiation therapy and chemotherapy. The effectiveness of standard chemotherapy regimens such as procarbazine, lomustine (CCNU), vincristine and 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) are limited by their toxicities and inability to penetrate the blood-brain-barrier (BBB). The BBB consists of endothelium with tight junctions, vascular cells and astrocytic foot processes and it is estimated that 98% of all known small molecules are unable to breach the BBB. For a chemotherapy agent to cross the BBB in significant concentration, the molecular size must be less than 400-500 Da and the drug must be highly lipid-soluble.

It is now also known that human cancer populations are not homogeneous. Cancer stem cells have an intrinsic capacity for unlimited self-renewal and possess the ability to initiate and drive tumour progression in an animal model³²⁰. Thus, they would seem the most probable candidates responsible for tumour chemoresistance and recurrence.

Hirschmann-Jax et al have shown that the "side population" (SP) of neuroblastoma cells not only had the characteristics of tumour stem cells (multipotentiality and self-renewal), but were also more resistant to the effects of drugs such as mitoxantrone, and may contribute to the overall drug resistance phenotype of relapsed or resistant cancers³²¹⁻³²². Neuroblastoma cells cultured in the presence of mitoxantrone showed a progressive increase in the frequency of the SP fraction, indicating that their ability to expel mitoxantrone offered a survival advantage to these putative stem cells. Sorted SP cells, unlike non-SP cells, were also able to proliferate and establish new colonies in the presence of mitoxantrone, whereas non-SP cells could not, demonstrating stem-cell-like properties. Taken together, the data confirm the link between SP and drug resistance, disease persistence and relapse. A study by Liu and colleagues demonstrated an increased resistance of CD133⁺ brain tumour stem cells in response to treatment with chemotherapeutic agents such as temozolomide, carboplatin, paclitaxel (Taxol) and etoposide (VP16) as compared to autologous CD133⁻ cells³²³. Gene expression studies revealed a higher expression of multidrug resistance gene BCRP1, and DNA-mismatch repair genes such as O⁶-methylguanine–DNA methyltransferase (MGMT), as well as

149

genes that inhibited apoptosis in the CD133-expressing cancer stem cells. Furthermore, the work showed that CD133 gene expression was significantly higher in recurrent GBM tissue specimens as compared to their respective newly diagnosed tumours. Clinically, it is observed that tumours respond to chemotherapies only to recur with renewed resilience and aggression. Although chemotherapy kills most of the cells in a tumour, these results suggest that cancer stem cells may be left behind, which then recur due to their enhanced chemoresistance.

Growth factors can also potentiate chemoresistance. Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor (BDNF) and TrkB are expressed in many poor-prognosis neuroblastoma tumours. Activation of the BDNF-TrkB signal transduction pathway was investigated in two neuroblastoma cell lines, 15N and SY5Y. 15N cells lack the high-affinity receptor p145TrkB and express BDNF; 15N cells were used along with 15N-TrkB cells, a sub-line transfected with a TrkB expression vector. In cytotoxicity assays, 15N-TrkB cells were consistently 1.4-2 fold more resistant to vinblastine than 15N cells. BDNF can therefore confer chemoresistance to vinblastine treatment³²⁴.

In oesophageal cancer, insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) prevented the apoptosis of CE81T/VGH oesophageal carcinoma cell lines induced by chemotherapeutic drugs, such as cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil and camptothecin³²⁵.

Treatment of neuroblastoma cell lines BE(2)-C and SY5Ywith GDNF or NRTN caused cells to grow at a more rapid rate compared to untreated cells. GDNF and NRTN also overcame the growth inhibitory effects of all-*trans*-retinoic acid (aRA) on BE(2)-C cells respectively, which expressed both RET and GFR α 1. Furthermore, cytotoxicity assays showed that BE(2)-C cells treated with cytotoxic agent and GDNF demonstrated

enhanced cell growth at low concentrations of cisplatin, etoposide and vincristine. This ability of GDNF and NRTN to promote chemoresistance raised the possibility of a similar phenomenon in glioblastoma³²⁶.

When the LN-229 cells were treated with BCNU at 40μ g/ml concentration, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 31.7%, 41.0% and 52.1% for the group not pre-treated with GDNF. For the group pre-treated with GDNF, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 71.4%, 77.9% and 79.1% respectively. This difference was statistically significant (P<0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 41.6% and 75.8% in the group pre-treated with GDNF. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05).

A similar trend was also noticed when the LN-229 cells were treated with BCNU at 50µg/ml concentration. The cellular survival on MTS assay were 14.0%, 30.6% and 35.4% for the group not pre-treated with GDNF. For the group pre-treated with GDNF, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 50.8%, 56.2% and 57.2% respectively. This difference was statistically significant (P<0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 26.7% and 54.7% in the group pretreated with GDNF. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05).

The same experimental protocol was replicated for glioblastoma cell line A172. In this cell line, GDNF also demonstrated very significant cellular survival in the presence of BCNU chemotherapy.

When the A172 cells were treated with BCNU at 75µg/ml concentration, the cellular survival on MTS assay were 30.9%, 26.0% and 31.4% for the group not pre-treated with GDNF. For the group pre-treated with GDNF, the cellular survival on MTS

151

assay were 61.0%, 58.3% and 68.0% respectively. This difference was statistically significant (P<0.05). The mean cellular survival on MTS assay in the group not pre-treated with GDNF was 29.4% and 62.4% in the group pre-treated with GDNF. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05). This ability to confer increased survival can be directly attributed to the chemoresistance property of GDNF as GDNF did not exhibit significant direct proliferative advantage in the control experiments.

Significantly, when the exact experiments were repeated with NRTN pretreatment instead of GDNF pre-treatment, no significant survival advantage was detected. The results therefore demonstrate GDNF but not NRTN can confer cellular survival advantage to BCNU chemotherapy. This ability to confer chemoresistance is demonstrated in two different human glioblastoma cell lines: LN-229 and A172.

The GDNF-family ligands (GFL) can therefore confer chemoresistance to BCNU chemotherapy in glioblastoma in a ligand-specific fashion.

Lee et al investigated the differing effects of GDNF and NRTN in RET/GFR α 1expressing cells in a specific cell line NG108-15, which endogenously expressed RET and GFR α 1 but not GFR α 2-4. Immunoblot data showed that GDNF caused a transient activation whereas NRTN caused a sustained activation of both p44/p42 MAP kinases and PLC γ . Under serum starvation, NG108-15 cells differentiate to form euritis. NRTN but not GDNF stimulated neurite overgrowth, which could be blocked by the selective PLC inhibitor U73122. On the other hand, GDNF but not NRTN promoted cell survival and this could not be blocked by the p44/p42 MAK kinase inhibitor PD98059. Activation of GFR α 1 with different ligand can therefore result in differing biological responses³²⁷.

4.13 Signalling Mapping

Combined modality treatment such as concomitant radiation and chemotherapy is frequently used in the treatment of cancers to improve overall efficacy of treatment. The combination of BCNU chemotherapy and radiation therapy in glioblastoma has however failed to produce any additive or synergistic effects observed in other tumour types. In vitro experiments have shown actual antagonistic effect between radiation and chemotherapy in three primary human glioblastoma cell lines (GBME3-5). Irradiation of the three cell lines from 2 to 10Gy followed by BCNU chemotherapy ranging from 10 to 50µM in the presence of exogenous epidermal growth factor (EGF). Compared with cells treated with BCNU alone at virtually each BCNU concentration, the apoptotic index was significantly lower in the cells pre-treated by radiation compared with BCNU alone. Reversal of the sequential order by administering chemotherapy prior to radiation therapy showed similar findings demonstrating that this antagonistic effect between radiation and BCNU was present irrespective of the sequential order of administration. Elucidating the downstream pathways mediating this phenomenon showed that MAPK and PI3-K/Akt activities were up-regulated after either radiation or chemotherapy. Further, BCNUmediated stimulation of PI3-K/Akt via EGFR appears to most significantly increase resistance to radiation-induced apoptosis³²⁸.

GDNF has been found to influence the migration and mitogenic behaviour of lowgrade gliomas. Treatment of low-grade Hs683 cells with GDNF significantly increased migration comparable to high-grade C6 cells. The molecular mechanism is mediated by the activation of JNK-1, ERK 1/2 and p38 MAPK. Treatment of Hs683 cells with 60ng/ml of GDNF markedly activated JNK. A kinetic study of GDNF-induced JNK activation showed that JNK was markedly activated within 30 min after GDNF treatment and returned to the basal level at 90 min. ERK 1/2 were activated at 10 min after GDNF treatment and the activated levels remained until 60 min. GDNF markedly increased the active form of p38 MAPK within 10 min, maximally activated at 30 min and decreased at 60 min after the treatment³¹¹.

In the light of the evidence, we examined the modulation of MAPK and Akt signaling pathways in glioblastoma cell lines. LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines were stimulated with BCNU and GNDF and the experiments were studied at 0, 10, 30, 60 and 180 mins respectively.

Western blotting showed that BCNU induces activation of MAP kinases (ERK1/2, JNK and p38) in both LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines. BCNU was however found to reduce the background activation of Akt in the A172 human glioblastoma cell line.

GDNF was found to induce the activation of ERK1/2 and Akt in both LN-229 and A172 human glioblastoma cell lines. LN-229 cell line has a wild-type phosphatase with tensin homology (PTEN) gene. PTEN is a phosphatidylinositols(3,4,5)P₃ (PIP₃) phosphatase and negatively regulates the PI3-K/Akt pathway by converting PIP₃ back to phosphatidylinositols(4,5)P₂ (PIP₂)³³². GDNF is therefore able to activate Akt even in the presence of PTEN gene.

GDNF was however found to reduce the background activation of JNK and the A172 human glioblastoma cell line in a time-dependent fashion.

The ability of GDNF to promote Akt activity and inhibit JNK activity may contribute to the increased cellular survival to BCNU chemotherapy. The interplay of the signaling pathways activated by BCNU and GDNF which result in cellular survival or death is summarised in Figure 21.



Figure 21: Diagram summarising the interplay between BCNU and GDNF stimulation pathways influencing survival and death pathways in GBM cell lines

CHAPTER 5

FUTURE STUDIES

GDNF was demonstrated in the above studies that it can promote mitogenic behaviour of glioblastoma. This is promoted by its ability to confer chemoresistance property to glioblastoma cells in the presence of conventional chemotherapy agent (BCNU).

This finding has significant clinical implications as GDNF is ubiquitous in the central nervous system and glial tumours are therefore constantly exposed to and stimulated by GDNF. Significantly, the studies showed that only GDNF, but not NRTN, was able to confer chemoresistance.

GDNF binds to specific GDNF-family receptor- α 1 (GFR α 1) co-receptor and activate RET. The GFR α 1 receptor is linked to the plasma membrane by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor.

Cancer cells often acquire aberrant profiles of alternative spliced isoforms that can promote cell proliferation and invasion and inhibit apoptotic cell death. Spliced isoforms are also abundant in the GDNF-family receptor- α (GFR α). GFR α 1 receptor exists in two highly homologous alternatively spliced isoforms: GFR α 1a and GFR α 1b^{262-²⁶⁴. GFR α 1b is identical to GFR α 1a except for the absence of 5 amino acids (140DVFQQ144), encoded by exon 5. GFR α 1b was found to be the predominant spliced isoform in the human glioblastoma samples and human glioblastoma cell lines in the study.}

Similar to GFR α 1, GFR α 2 is alternatively spliced into at least three isoforms (GFR α 2a, GFR α 2b and GFR α 2c). When transfected Neuro2A cells were stimulated with GDNF and NRTN, both the GFR α 2a and GFR α 2c transfected cell lines, but not the

GFR α 2b transfected cell line, promoted neurite outgrowth. GFR α 2 isoforms were also demonstrated to regulate different early-response genes when stimulated with GDNF or NRTN. Furthermore, in coexpression studies, GFR α 2b transfected cell line was found to inhibit ligand-induced neurite outgrowth by GFR α 2a and GFR α 2c³¹⁹. All these data taken together suggests that GFR α spliced isoforms regulate distinct biological functions. As GFR α 1b is the predominant spliced isoform in glioblastoma cell lines and human samples and GDNF has been shown to confer chemoresistance in glioblastoma cells, it would be fascinating to examine the role of the spliced isoforms in conferring mitogenic behaviour.

Post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS), which was initially a bizarre phenomenon thought to be limited to petunias and a few other plant species has now become one of the most important molecular techniques in biology. Most importantly, the emerging use of PTGS, particularly RNA interference (RNAi) as a tool to knockout or knockdown expression of specific genes can facilitate the study of the specific gene³²⁹⁻³³¹. Future studies with RNAi to knockdown GFRα1a and GFRα1b specifically can potentially provide us with information on the precise roles of each spliced isoform with respect to mitogenesis. Investigation of the downstream signaling pathways with knockdown experiments will also provide important details on the differing signaling pathways involved.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Andrew H Kaye, Edward R Laws. Historical perspective in Brain Tumors Andrew H Kaye and Edward R Laws eds, 2nd ed. Churchill Livingstone.
- 2. Virchow R (1863). Die Krankhaften Geschwulste. Hirschwald: Berlin.
- Baily P, Cushing H (1926). A classification of Tumors of the Glioma Group on a Histogenetic Basis with a Correlation Study of Prognosis. Lippincott: Philadelphia.
- Zulch KJ (1986). Brain Tumors. Their Biology and Pathology. 3rd ed, Springer Verlag: Berlin Heidelberg.
- Lantos PL, Vandenberg SR, Kleihues P (1986). Tumors of the Nervous System. In Greenfield's Neuropathology, Graham DI, Lantos PL (eds), 6th ed. Arnold: London.
- Kernohan JW, Mabon RF, Svien HJ, Adson AW (1949). A simplified classification of gliomas. Proceedings of the Staff Meetings of the Mayo Clinic 24: 71-74.
- Ringertz N (1950). Grading of gliomas. Acta Pathologica Microbiologica Scandinavica 27: 51-65.
- Daumas-Duport C, Szikla G (1981). Delimitation et configuration spatiale des gliomas cerebreux: Nonnees histologiques, incidences therapeutiques. Neurochirurgie 27: 273-284.
- Daumas-Duport C, Scheithauer BW, O'Fallon J, Kelly P (1988). Grading of astrocytomas. A simple and reproducible method. Cancer 62: 2152-2165.
- World Health Organisation of Tumours. Pathology and Genetics of the Tumours of the Nervous System (2000). Paul Kleihues, Webster K Cavenee eds. IARC Press.

- Kleihues P, Louis DN, Scheithauer BW, Rorke LB, Reifenberger G, Burger PC, Cavanee WK (2002). The WHO classification of tumors of the nervous system. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 61: 215-225; discussion 226-229.
- Vandenberg S, Lopes M (1999). Classification. In: The Gliomas. Berger M and Wilson C eds. WB Saunders Company. Philadelphia.
- Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sato K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (1996).
 Overexpression of the EGF receptor and p53 mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 6: 217-224.
- Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (1999). Primary and secondary glioblastoma: from concept to clinical diagnosis. Neuro-Oncology 1: 44-51.
- Louis DN, Gusella JF (1995). A tiger behind many doors: multiple genetic pathways to malignant glioma. Trends Genet 11: 412-415.
- Trouillas P, Mennaud G, De The G et al. (1975). Etude epidemiologique des tumeurs primitives du neuraxe dans la region Rhone-Alphes. Rev Neurol 131: 691-708.
- Cohen A, Modan B (1968). Some epidemiologic aspects of neoplastic diseases in Israeli immigrant population. III. Brain tumors. Cancer 22: 1323-1328.
- Muir C, Waterhouse J, Mack T, Powell J, Whelan S (eds) (1987). Cancer incidence in five continents, vol V. IARC Scientific Publications No 88. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon.
- MacMahon B (1960). The ethnic distribution of cancer mortality in New York City, 1955. Acta Unio Internat Contra Cancrum 16: 53-57.

- Newill VA (1961). Distribution of cancer mortality among ethnis subgroups of the white population of New York City. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 26: 405-417.
- Steinitz R, Parkin DM, Young JL, Bieber CA, Katz L (eds)) (1989). Cancer incidence in Jewish migrants to Israel 1961-1981. IARC Scientific Publications No 98. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon.
- McCredie M, Coates MS, Ford JM (1990). Cancer incidence on migrants to New South Wales. International Journal of Cancer 46: 228-322.
- Giles GG, Farrugia H, Silver B, Staples M (1992). Cancer in Victoria 1982-1987.
 Anti-Council of Victoria, Melbourne.
- Parkin DM, Stiller CA, Draper GJ et al (1988). International incidence of childhood cancer. IARC Publications No 87 International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon.
- Russell DS, Rubinstein LJ (1989). Pathology of Tumours of the Nervous System.
 5th ed, Edward Arnold: London.
- Cairneross JG (1987). The biology of astrocytoma: lessons learned from chronic myelogenous leukaemia- hypothesis. J Neurooncol 5(2):99-104.
- 27. Sanai N, Tramontin AD, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Barbaro NM, Gupta N, Kunwar S, Lawton MT, McDermott MW, Parsa AT, Manuel-Garcia Verdugo J, Berger MS, Alvarez-Buylla. Unique astrocyte ribbon in adult human brain contains neural stem cells but lack chain migration (2004). Nature 427: 740-744.

- Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH (1998). Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med. 4(11): 1313-1317.
- Nunes MC, Roy NS, Keyoung HM, Goodman RR, McKhann G 2nd, Jiang L, Kang J, Nedergaard M, Goldman SA (2003). Identification and isolation of multipotential neural progenitor cells from the subcortical white matter of the adult human brain. Nat Med. 9(4): 439-447.
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA, Dick JE (1994). A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature.17; 367(6464):645-648.
- Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997). Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med. 3(7):730-737
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF (2003).
 Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100(7):3983-3983.
- 33. Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J, Dirks PB (2003).
 Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res. 63(18):
 5821-5828.
- 34. Pilkington GJ (2005). Cancer stem cells in the mammalian central nervous system.Cell Prolif 38(6):423-433.

- Recht L, Lang T, Sanvarese T, Litofsky NS (2003). Neural stem cells and neurooncology: quo vadis? J Cell Biochem 88(1):11-19.
- Sanai N, Alvarez-Buylla A, Berger MS (2005). Neural stem cells and the origin of gliomas. N Eng J Med 353(8):811-822.
- Yuan X, Curtin J, Xiong Y, Liu G, Waschsmann-Hogiu S, Farkas DL, Black KL, Yu JS (2004). Isolation of cancer stem cells from adult glioblastoma multiforme. Oncogene 23(58): 9392-9400.
- Blatt J, Jaffe R, Deutsch M, Adkins JC (1986). Neurofibromatosis and childhood cancers. Cancer 57: 1225-1229.
- Riccardi VM (1991). Neurofibromatosis: Phenotype, natural history, and pathogenesis, 2nd ed. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, 1-450.
- Shepherd CW, Scheithauer BW, Gomez MR, Altermatt HJ, Katzmann JA (1991).
 Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma: a clinical, pathological, and flow cytometric study. Neursurgery 28: 864-868.
- Seizinger BR (1991). Toward the isolation of the primary genetic defect in von Hippel-Lindau disease. Annals of the New York Academy of Science 615: 332-337.
- Seizinger BR, Rouleau GA, Ozelius LJ et al (1988). Von Hippel Lindau disease maps to the region on chromosome 3 associated with renal cell carcinoma. Nature 332: 269-270.
- Swift M, Morrell D, Cromartie E, Chambelin AB, Skolnick MH, Bishop DT (1986). The incidence and gene frequency of ataxia-telangiectasia in the United States. American Journal of Human Genetics 39: 573-583.

- Bolande RP (1989). Teratogenesis and oncogenesis: a developmental spectrum. In: Lynch HT, Hirayama T (eds) Genetic epidemiology of cancer. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 55-68.
- Lynch HT, Marcus JM, Watson P, Conway T, Fitzsimmons ML, Lynch JF (1989).
 Genetic epidemiology in breast cancer. In: Lynch HT, Hirayama T (eds) Genetic
 epidemiology of cancer. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 289-332.
- Daly AF, Jaffrain-Rea ML, Beckers A (2005). Clinical and genetic features of familial pituitary adenomas. Horm Metab Res. 37(6): 347-354.
- Tijssen CC (1985). Genetic aspects of brain tumors- tumors of neuroepithelial and meningeal tissue. In: Muller H, Weber W (eds) Familial cancer. Karger, Basel, pp 98-102.
- Maroun FB, Jacob JC, Heneghan WD, Mangan MA, Russell NA, Ali SK, Murray GP, Clarke A (1984). Familial intracranial gliomas. Surg Neurol 22(1):76-78.
- Challa VR, Goodman HO, Davis CH Jr (1983). Familial brain tumors: studies of two families and review of recent literature. Neurosurgery.12(1): 18-23.
- Ikizler Y, van Meyel DJ, Ramsay DA, Abdallah GL, Allaster RM, Macdonald DR, Cavenee WK, Cairncross JG (1992). Gliomas in families. Can J Neurol Sci. 19(4): 492-497.
- 51. Mahaley MS Jr, Mettlin C, Natarajan N, Laws ER Jr, Peace BB (1989). National survey of patterns of care for brain-tumor patients. J Neurosurg. 71(6): 826-836.
- Ahlbom A (1990). Some notes on brain tumor epidemiology. Annals of the New York Academy of Science 609: 179-185.

- Bitchell JF, Stewart AM (1975). Pre-natal irradiation and childhood malignancy: a review of British data from the Oxford Survey. British Journal of Cancer 31: 271-287.
- 54. Monson RR, MacMahon B (1984). Pre-natal X-ray exposure and cancer in children.
 In: Boice JD, Fraumeni JF (eds) Radiation carcinogenesis: epidemiology and biological significance. Raven Press, New York, pp 97-105.
- Ron E, Modan B, Boice JD Jr, Alfandary E, Stovall M, Chetrit A, Katz L (1988). Tumors of the brain and nervous system after radiotherapy in childhood. N Engl J Med. 20; 319(16):1033-1039.
- Preston-Martin S, Yu MC, Henderson BE, Roberts C (1983). Risk factors for meningiomas in men in Los Angeles County. J Natl Cancer Inst. 70(5): 863-866.
- 57. Preston-Martin S, Paganini-Hill A, Henderson BE, Pike MC, Wood C (1980). Casecontrol study of intracranial meningiomas in women in Los Angeles County. J Natl Cancer Inst. 65(1): 67-73.
- Preston-Martin S, Henderson BE, Bernstein L (1985). Medical and dental x rays as risk factors for recently diagnosed tumors of the head. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 69: 175-179.
- 59. Ryan P, Lee MW, North B, McMichael AJ (1992). Risk factors for tumors of the brain and meninges: results from the Adelaide Adult Brain Tumor Study.
 Int J Cancer. 22; 51(1): 20-27.
- Poole C, Trichopoulos D (1991). Extremely low-frequency electric and magnetic fields and cancer. Cancer Causes Control. 2(4): 267-276.

- Wertheimer N, Leeper E (1979). Electrical wiring configurations and childhood cancer. Am J Epidemiol. 109(3): 273-284.
- Feychting M, Ahlbom A (1992). Magnetic fields and cancer in people residing near Swedish high voltage power lines. Karolinska Institute, Stockholm.
- Waxweiler RG, Stringer W, Wagoner, JK Jones J, Falk H, Carter C (1976).
 Neoplastic risk of workers exposed to vinyl chloride. Annals of the New York Academy of Science. 271: 40-48.
- 64. Thomas TL, Stewart PA, Stemhagen A, Correa P, Norman SA, Bleecker ML, Hoover RN (1987). Risk of astrocytic brain tumors associated with occupational chemical exposures. A case-referent study. Scand J Work Environ Health. 13(5): 417-423.
- 65. Schlehofer B, Kunze S, Sachsenheimer W, Blettner M, Niehoff D, Wahrendorf J (1990). Occupational risk factors for brain tumors: results from a population-based case-control study in Germany. Cancer Causes Control. 1(3): 209-215.
- Loomis D, Browning SR, Schenck AP, Gregory E, Savitz DA (1997). Cancer mortality among electric utility workers exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls. Occup Environ Med. 54(10): 720-728.
- Speers MA, Dobbins JG, Miller VS (1988). Occupational exposures and brain cancer mortality: a preliminary study of east Texas residents. Am J Ind Med. 13(6): 629-638.
- Wong O, Raabe GK (2000). A critical review of cancer epidemiology in the petroleum industry, with a meta-analysis of a combined database of more than 350,000 workers. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 32(1): 78-98.

- Armstrong B, Doll R (1975). Environmental factors and cancer incidence and mortality in different countries, with special reference to dietary practices. Int J Cancer. 15;15(4): 617-631
- 70. Preston-Martin S (1990). A case-control study of brain tumors in men in Los Angeles County: investigation of N-nitroso compound exposures, In: O'Neill IK, Chen SH, Bartsch (eds) Relevance to human cancer of N-nitroso compounds, tobacco smoke and mycotoxins. IARC Scientfic Publications No 105. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, pp221-227.
- 71. Howe GR, Burch JD, Chiarelli AM, Risch HA, Choi BC (1989). An exploratory case-control study of brain tumors in children. Cancer Res.1;49(15): 4349-4352.
- Choi NW, Schuman LM, Gullen WH (1970). Epidemiology of primary central nervous system neoplasms. II. Case-control study. Am J Epidemiol. 91(5): 467-485.
- Gold E, Gordis L, Tonascia J, Szklo M (1979). Risk factors for brain tumors in children. Am J Epidemiol. 10(3): 303-319.
- Hirayama T (1985). Passive smoking--a new target of epidemiology. Tokai J Exp Clin Med. 10(4): 287-293.
- Brownson RC, Reif JS, Chang JC, Davis JR (1990). An analysis of occupational risks for brain cancer. Am J Public Health. 80(2):169-172.
- Clemmensen J, Fuglsang-Fredricksen V, Plum C (1974). Are anti-convulsants oncogenic? Lancet i: 707-707.
- Preston-Martin S, Yu MC, Henderson BE, Roberts C (1982). N-nitroso compounds and childhood brain tumors. Cancer Research 42: 5240-5245.

- Olsen JH, Boice JD, Jensen JPA, Fraumeni JF (1989). Cancer among epileptic patients exposed to anticonvulsant drugs. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 77: 17-19.
- Sima AA, Finkelstein SD, McLachlan DR (1983). Multiple malignant astrocytomas in a patient with spontaneous progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Ann Neurol. 14(2):183-188.
- Yohn DS (1972). Oncogenic viruses: expectations and applications in neuropathology. Progress in Experimental Tumor Research 17: 74-92.
- Corallini A, Pagnani M, Viadana P, Silini E, Mottes M, Milanesi G, Gerna G,
 Vettor R, Trapella G, Silvani V, et al(1987). Association of BK virus with human
 brain tumors and tumors of pancreatic islets. Int J Cancer. 15;39(1): 60-67.
- Morgello S (1992). Epstein-Barr and human immunodeficiency viruses in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related primary central nervous system lymphoma. Am J Pathol.141(2): 441-450.
- Pitts OM, Powers JM. Hoffman PM (1983). Vascular neoplasms induced in rodent central nervous system by murine sarcoma viruses. Lab Invest 49: 171-182.
- Kornbluth S, Cross FR, Harbison M, Hanafusa H (1986). Transformation of chicken embryo fibroblasts and tumor induction by the middle T antigen of polyomavirus carried in an avian retroviral vector. Mol Cell Biol. 6(5): 1545-1551.
- Tracy SE, Woda BA, Robinson HL (1985). Induction of angiosarcoma by a c-erbB transducing virus. J Virol. 54(2): 304-310.
- Ward D, Mattison, ML, Finn R (1973). Association between previous tuberculosis infection and cerebral glioma. BMJ. 1: 83-84.

- MacPherson P (1976). Association between previous tuberculosis infection and glioma. BMJ. 2: 1112.
- Schuman LM, Choi NW, Gullen WH (1967). Relationship of central nervous system neoplasms to Toxoplasma gondii infection. Am J Pub Health 57: 848-856.
- Ryan P, Hurley SF, Johnson AM, Salzberg M, Lee MW, North JB, McNeil JJ, McMichael AJ (1993). Tumours of the brain and possession of antibodies to Toxoplasma gondii: results from two Australian case-control. Int J Epidemiol. 22(3):412-419.
- Mobile Phones and Health 2004. Report by the Board of NRPB. Documents of the NRPB: Volume 15, No. 5.
- 91. Hardell LO, Carlberg M, Soderqvist F, Hansson Mild K, Morgan LL (2007). Longterm use of cellular phones and brain tumours - increased risk associated with use for > 10 years. Occup Environ Med. Apr 4
- Lahkola A, Tokola K, Auvinen A (2006). Meta-analysis of mobile phone use and intracranial tumors. Scand J Work Environ Health. 32(3): 171-177.
- Hepworth SJ, Schoemaker MJ, Muir KR, Swerdlow AJ, van Tongeren MJ, McKinney PA (2006). Mobile phone use and risk of glioma in adults: case-control study. BMJ. 15;332(7546): 883-887.
- 94. Gonzales D, Elvidge AR (1962). On the occurrence of epilepsy caused by astrocytoma of the cerebral hemispheres. J Neurosurg. 19: 470-482.
- 95. Penfield W, Erickson TC, Tarlov IM (1940). Relation of intracranial tumors and symptomatic epilepsy. Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry 44: 300-315.

- de Lanerolle NC, Kim JH, Robbins RJ, Spencer DD (1989). Hippocampal interneuron loss and plasticity in human temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain Res. 28; 495(2): 387-395.
- 97. Kim JH, Guimaraes PO, Shen MY, Masukawa LM, Spencer DD (1990).
 Hippocampal neuronal density in temporal lobe epilepsy with and without gliomas.
 Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 80(1): 41-45.
- Bateman DE, Hardy JA, McDermott JR, Parker DS, Edwardson JA (1988). Amino acid neurotransmitter levels in gliomas and their relationship to the incidence of epilepsy. Neurol Res. 10(2):112-114.
- 99. Haglund MM, Berger MS, Kunkel DD, Franck JE, Ghatan S, Ojemann GA (1992). Changes in gamma-aminobutyric acid and somatostatin in epileptic cortex associated with low-grade gliomas. J Neurosurg. 77(2): 209-216.
- 100. Takacs J, Halasz P, Hamori J (2002). Number of GABA immunonegative and GABA immunopositive neurons in human epileptic temporal cortex. Acta Biol Hung. 53(4): 601-611.
- Ng WH, Yeo TT, Kaye AH (2005). Spinal and extracranial metastatic dissemination of malignant glioma. J Clin Neurosci. 12(4): 379-382.
- 102. Warburg O (1930). The metabolism of tumors. Constable, London.
- 103. Patronas NJ, Di Chiro G, Kufta C, Bairamian D, Kornblith PL, Simon R, Larson SM (1985). Prediction of survival in glioma patients by means of positron emission tomography. J Neurosurg. 62(6): 816-822.
- 104. Di Chiro G, DeLaPaz RL, Brooks RA, Sokoloff L, Kornblith PL, Smith BH, Patronas NJ, Kufta CV, Kessler RM, Johnston GS, Manning RG, Wolf AP (1982).

Glucose utilization of cerebral gliomas measured by [18F] fluorodeoxyglucose and positron emission tomography. Neurology. 32(12): 1323-1329.

- 105. Herholz K, Rudolf J, Heiss WD (1992). FDG transport and phosphorylation in human gliomas measured with dynamic PET. J Neurooncol. 12(2): 159-165.
- 106. Herholz K, Friedrichs B, Jeske J et al (1992). Prognostic significance of positron emission tomography with F-18-fluorodeoxyglucose in gliomas. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology. 118: 119
- 107. Mut F, Bianco A, Nunez M, De Palma G, Touya E (1993). Tc-99m isonitrile uptake in a brain metastatic lesion. Comparison with Tc-99m DTPA using planar and SPECT imaging. Clin Nucl Med.18(2):143-146.
- 108. Kaplan WD, Takvorian T, Morris JH, Rumbaugh CL, Connolly BT, Atkins HL (1987). Thallium-201 brain tumor imaging: a comparative study with pathologic correlation. J Nucl Med. 28(1): 47-52.
- 109. Mountz JM, Raymond PA, McKeever PE, Modell JG, Hood TW, Barthel LK, Stafford-Schuck KA (1989). Specific localization of thallium 201 in human highgrade astrocytoma by microautoradiography. Cancer Res.15;49(14): 4053-4056.
- 110. Kim KT, Black KL, Marciano D, Mazziotta JC, Guze BH, Grafton S, Hawkins RA, Becker DP (1990). Thallium-201 SPECT imaging of brain tumors: methods and results. J Nucl Med. 31(6): 965-969.
- 111. Black KL, Hawkins RA, Kim KT, Becker DP, Lerner C, Marciano D (1989). Use of thallium-201 SPECT to quantitate malignancy grade of gliomas. J Neurosurg. 71(3): 342-346.

- Burkard R, Kaiser KP, Wieler H, Klawki P, Linkamp A, Mittelbach L, Goller T (1992). Contribution of thallium-201-SPECT to the grading of tumorous alterations of the brain. Neurosurg Rev.15(4): 265-273.
- 113. Preul MC, Caramanos Z, Collins DL, Villemure JG, Leblanc R, Olivier A, Pokrupa R, Arnold DL (1996). Accurate, noninvasive diagnosis of human brain tumors by using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Nat Med. 2(3): 323-325.
- 114. Fountas KN, Kapsalaki EZ, Gotsis SD, Kapsalakis JZ, Smisson HF 3rd, Johnston KW, Robinson JS Jr, Papadakis N (2000). In vivo proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of brain tumors. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 74(2): 83-94.
- 115. Magalhaues A, Godfrey W, Shen Y, Hu J, Smith W. Proton and magnetic resonance spectroscopy of brain tumors correlated with pathology. Acad Radiol 2005; 12:51-7
- 116. Veena AN, Ye JR, Xu MS, et al. Multivoxel MR spectroscopic imaging distinguishing intracranial tumors from non-neoplastic disease. <u>Accepted</u> Annals Academy Medicine.
- 117. Ishimaru H, Morikawa M, Iwanaga S, Kaminogo M, Ochi M, Hayashi K.
 Differentiation between high-grade glioma and metastatic brain tumor using single voxel proton MR spectroscopy. Eur Radiol 2001; 11:1784-91.
- 118. Lim CC, Ye JR, Xu MS, et al. MR spectroscopy in brain neoplasms : Lipid signal. <u>Accepted</u> Annals Academy Medicine.
- 119. Ng WH, Lim CC. Targeting regions with highest lipid content on MR Spectroscopy may improve diagnostic yield in stereotactic biopsy. <u>Accepted J Clin Neurosci</u>.

- Sawaya R (1999). Extent of resection in malignant gliomas: a critical summary. J Neuro-Oncology 42: 303-305.
- 121. Saleman M (2001). Glioblastoma and malignant astrocytoma. In Brain Tumors 2nd edition (eds: A Kaye and E Laws), Harcourt Publishers Ltd, London.
- 122. Andersen AP (1978). Postoperative irradiation of glioblastomas. Results in a randomized series. Acta Radiol Oncol Radiat Phys Biol. 17(6): 475-484.
- 123. Walker MD, Alexander E Jr, Hunt WE, MacCarty CS, Mahaley MS Jr, Mealey J Jr, Norrell HA, Owens G, Ransohoff J, Wilson CB, Gehan EA, Strike TA (1978). Evaluation of BCNU and/or radiotherapy in the treatment of anaplastic gliomas. A cooperative clinical trial. J Neurosurg. 49(3): 333-343
- 124. Walker MD, Green SB, Byar DP, Alexander E Jr, Batzdorf U, Brooks WH, Hunt WE, MacCarty CS, Mahaley MS Jr, Mealey J Jr, Owens G, Ransohoff J 2nd, Robertson JT, Shapiro WR, Smith KR Jr, Wilson CB, Strike TA (1980).
 Randomized comparisons of radiotherapy and nitrosoureas for the treatment of malignant glioma after surgery. N Engl J Med. 303(23): 1323-1329.
- 125. Salcman M (1980). Survival in glioblastoma: historical perspective. Neurosurgery.7(5): 435-439.
- 126. Wilson CB, Boldrey EB, Enot KJ (1970). 1,3-bis (2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (NSC-409962) in the treatment of brain tumors. Cancer Chemother Rep. 54(4): 273-281.
- 127. Walker MD, Hurwitz BS (1970). BCNU (1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea;
 NSC-409962) in the treatment of malignant brain tumor--a preliminary report.
 Cancer Chemother Rep. 54(4): 263-271.

- 128. Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, Belanger K, Brandes AA, Marosi C, Bogdahn U, Curschmann J, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Gorlia T, Allgeier A, Lacombe D, Cairncross JG, Eisenhauer E, Mirimanoff RO; European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumor and Radiotherapy Groups; National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group (2005). Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. 10; 352(10): 987-996.
- 129. Hochberg FH, Pruitt A (1980). Assumptions in the radiotherapy of glioblastoma. Neurology. 30(9): 907-911.
- 130. Wallner KE, Galicich JH, Krol G, Arbit E, Malkin MG (1989). Patterns of failure following treatment for glioblastoma multiforme and anaplastic astrocytoma.Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 16(6): 1405-1409.
- 131. Liang BC, Thornton AF Jr, Sandler HM, Greenberg HS (1991). Malignant astrocytomas: focal tumor recurrence after focal external beam radiation therapy. J Neurosurg. 75(4): 559-563.
- Choucair AK, Levin VA, Gutin PH, Davis RL, Silver P, Edwards MS, Wilson CB (1986). Development of multiple lesions during radiation therapy and chemotherapy in patients with gliomas. J Neurosurg. 65(5): 654-658.
- Burger PC (1983). Pathologic anatomy and CT correlations in the glioblastoma multiforme. Appl Neurophysiol. 46(1-4): 180-187.
- 134. Kelly PJ, Daumas-Duport C, Kispert DB, Kall BA, Scheithauer BW, Illig JJ (1987).Imaging-based stereotaxic serial biopsies in untreated intracranial glial neoplasms.J Neurosurg. 66(6): 865-874.

- 135. Schiffer D (1991). Patterns of tumor growth. In: Salcman M (ed) Neurobiology of brain tumors. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp 229-249.
- 136. Burger PC (1990). Classification, grading, and patterns of spread of malignant gliomas. In: Apuzzo MLJ (ed) Malignant cerebral glioma. American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Park Ridge, pp 3-17.
- Salcman M, Kaplan RS, Samaras GM, Ducker TB, Broadwell RD (1982).
 Aggressive multimodality therapy based on a multicompartmental model of glioblastoma. Surgery. 92(2): 250-259.
- 138. Shapiro WR (1982). Treatment of neuroectodermal brain tumors. Ann Neurol.12(3): 231-237.
- Kikuchi K, Neuwelt EA (1983). Presence of immunosuppressive factors in braintumor cyst fluid. J Neurosurg. 59(5): 790-799.
- 140. Donahue B, Scott CB, Nelson JS, Rotman M, Murray KJ, Nelson DF, Banker FL, Earle JD, Fischbach JA, Asbell SO, Gaspar LE, Markoe AM, Curran W (1997). Influence of an oligodendroglial component on the survival of patients with anaplastic astrocytomas: a report of Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 83-02. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.15;38(5): 911-914.
- 141. Scott JN, Rewcastle NB, Brasher PM, Fulton D, Hagen NA, MacKinnon JA, Sutherland G, Cairncross JG, Forsyth P (1998). Long-term glioblastoma multiforme survivors: a population-based study. Can J Neurol Sci. 25(3): 197-201.
- 142. Scott JN, Rewcastle NB, Brasher PM, Fulton D, MacKinnon JA, Hamilton M, Cairncross JG, Forsyth P (1999). Which glioblastoma multiforme patient will

become a long-term survivor? A population-based study. Ann Neurol. 46(2): 183-188.

- 143. Guthrie BL, Laws ER (1990). Supratentorial low-grade gliomas. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 1(1): 37-48.
- 144. Müller W, Afra D, Schroder R (1977). Supratentorial recurrences of gliomas. Morphological studies in relation to time intervals with astrocytomas. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 39(1-2):15-25.
- 145. Soffietti R, Chio A, Giordana MT, Vasario E, Schiffer D (1989). Prognostic factors in well-differentiated cerebral astrocytomas in the adult. Neurosurgery. 24(5): 686-692.
- 146. Li YJ, Sanson M, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY, Poisson M, Thomas G, Hamelin R (1995). Incidence of germ-line p53 mutations in patients with gliomas. Int J Cancer. 20; 64(6): 383-387.
- 147. Kordek R, Biernat W, Alwasiak J, Maculewicz R, Yanagihara R, Liberski PP (1995). p53 protein and epidermal growth factor receptor expression in human astrocytomas. J Neurooncol. 26(1): 11-16.
- 148. Furnari FB, Huang HJ, Cavenee WK (1996). Molecular biology of malignant degeneration of astrocytoma. Pediatr Neurosurg. 24(1): 41-49.
- 149. Lee SH, Kim JH, Rhee CH, Kang YS, Lee JH, Hong SI, Choi KS (1995). Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 10, 13q(Rb), 17p, and p53 gene mutations in human brain gliomas. J Korean Med Sci. 10(6): 442-448.
- 150. von Deimling A, Louis DN, Wiestler OD (1995). Molecular pathways in the formation of gliomas. Glia.15(3): 328-338.

- 151. Maxwell M, Naber SP, Wolfe HJ, Galanopoulos T, Hedley-Whyte ET, Black PM, Antoniades HN (1990). Coexpression of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and PDGF-receptor genes by primary human astrocytomas may contribute to their development and maintenance. J Clin Invest. 86(1): 131-140.
- 152. He J, Olson JJ, James CD (1995). Lack of p16INK4 or retinoblastoma protein (pRb), or amplification-associated overexpression of cdk4 is observed in distinct subsets of malignant glial tumors and cell lines. Cancer Res. 55(21): 4833-4836.
- 153. Henson JW, Schnitker BL, Correa KM, von Deimling A, Fassbender F, Xu HJ, Benedict WF, Yandell DW, Louis DN (1994). The retinoblastoma gene is involved in malignant progression of astrocytomas. Ann Neurol. 36(5): 714-721.
- 154. Tsuzuki T, Tsunoda S, Sakaki T, Konishi N, Hiasa Y, Nakamura M (1996). Alterations of retinoblastoma, p53, p16(CDKN2), and p15 genes in human astrocytomas. Cancer. 78(2): 287-293.
- 155. von Deimling A, Louis DN, von Ammon K, Petersen I, Wiestler OD, Seizinger BR (1992). Evidence for a tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 19q associated with human astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas, and mixed gliomas. Cancer Res. 52(15): 4277-4279.
- 156. Fujimoto M, Fults DW, Thomas GA, Nakamura Y, Heilbrun MP, White R, Story JL, Naylor SL, Kagan-Hallet KS, Sheridan PJ (1989). Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 10 in human glioblastoma multiforme. Genomics. 4(2): 210-214.
- 157. Fults D, Pedone C. Deletion mapping of the long arm of chromosome 10 in glioblastoma multiforme (1993). Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 7(3): 173-177.

- 158. von Deimling A, Louis DN, von Ammon K, Petersen I, Hoell T, Chung RY, Martuza RL, Schoenfeld DA, Yasargil MG, Wiestler OD, et al (1992). Association of epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification with loss of chromosome 10 in human glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurosurg. 77(2): 295-301.
- 159. Watanabe K, Nagai M, Wakai S, Arai T, Kawashima K (1990). Loss of constitutional heterozygosity in chromosome 10 in human glioblastoma. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 80(3): 251-254.
- 160. Ye Z, Qu JK, Darras BT (1993). Loss of heterozygosity for alleles on chromosome10 in human brain tumours. Neurol Res.15(1): 59-62.
- 161. Lang FF, Miller DC, Koslow M, Newcomb EW (1994). Pathways leading to glioblastoma multiforme: a molecular analysis of genetic alterations in 65 astrocytic tumors. J Neurosurg. 81(3): 427-436.
- 162. von Deimling A, von Ammon K, Schoenfeld D, Wiestler OD, Seizinger BR, Louis DN (1993). Subsets of glioblastoma multiforme defined by molecular genetic analysis. Brain Pathol. 3(1): 19-26.
- 163. Roth W, Weller M (1999). Chemotherapy and immunotherapy of malignant glioma: molecular mechanisms and clinical perspectives. Cell Mol Lif Sci. 56: 481-506.
- Ware ML, Berger MS, Binder DK (2003). Molecular Biology of glioma tumorigenesis. Histol Histopathol. 18: 207-216.
- Demuth T, Berens ME (2004). Molecular mechanisms of glioma cell migration and invasion. J Neurooncol. 70(2): 217-228.
- 166. Mueller MM, Werbowetski T, Del Maestro RF (2003). Soluble factors involved in glioma invasion. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 145(11): 999-1008.

- 167. Mariani L, Beaudry C, McDonough WS, Hoelzinger DB, Demuth T, Ross KR, Berens T, Coons SW, Watts G, Trent JM, Wei JS, Giese A, Berens ME (2001).
 Glioma cell motility is associated with reduced transcription of proapoptotic and proliferation genes: a cDNA microarray analysis. J Neurooncol. 53(2): 161-176.
- 168. Leins A, Riva P, Lindstedt R, Davidoff MS, Mehraein P, Weis S (2003). Expression of tenascin-C in various human brain tumors and its relevance for survival in patients with astrocytoma. Cancer. 98(11): 2430-2439.
- 169. Zagzag D, Friedlander DR, Miller DC, Dosik J, Cangiarella J, Kostianovsky M, Cohen H, Grumet M, Greco MA (1995). Tenascin expression in astrocytomas correlates with angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 55(4): 907-914.
- 170. Rooprai HK, Vanmeter T, Panou C, Schnull S, Trillo-Pazos G, Davies D,
 Pilkington GJ (1999). The role of integrin receptors in aspects of glioma invasion in vitro. Int J Dev Neurosci. 17(5-6): 613-623.
- 171. Tysnes BB, Haugland HK, Bjerkvig R (1997). Epidermal growth factor and laminin receptors contribute to migratory and invasive properties of gliomas. Invasion Metastasis. 17(5): 270-280.
- Santarius T, Kirsch M, Rossi ML, Black PM (1997). Molecular aspects of neurooncology. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 99:184-195.
- 173. Folkman J (1995). Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease.Nat Med. 1(1): 27-31.
- 174. Folkman J (1995). Seminars in Medicine of the Beth Israel Hospital, Boston.Clinical applications of research on angiogenesis. N Eng J Med. 333: 1757-1763.

- 175. Newton HB (2004). Molecular neuro-oncology and development of targeted therapeutic strategies for brain tumors. Part 2: PI3K/Akt/PTEN, mTOR, SHH/PTCH and angiogenesis. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 4(1): 105-128.
- 176. Mukaratirwa S, Koninkx JF, Gruys E, Nederbragt H (2005). Mutual paracrine effects of colorectal tumour cells and stromal cells: modulation of tumour and stromal cell differentiation and extracellular matrix component production in culture. Int J Exp Pathol. 86(4): 219-229.
- 177. Lewis MP, Lygoe KA, Nystrom ML, Anderson WP, Speight PM, Marshall JF, Thomas GJ (2004). Tumour-derived TGF-beta1 modulates myofibroblast differentiation and promotes HGF/SF-dependent invasion of squamous carcinoma cells. Br J Cancer. 90(4): 822-832.
- 178. Lazar-Molnar E, Hegyesi H, Toth S, Falus A (2000). Autocrine and paracrine regulation by cytokines and growth factors in melanoma. Cytokine. 12(6): 547-554.
- 179. Hamel W, Westphal M (2000). Growth factors in gliomas revisited. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 142: 113-138.
- Plate KH, Warnke PC (1997). Vascular endothelial growth factor. J Neurooncol.
 35(3): 365-372.
- 181. Plate KH, Breier G, Weich HA, Risau W (1992). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a potential tumour angiogenesis factor in human gliomas in vivo. Nature. 359(6398): 845-848.
- 182. Plate KH, Breier G, Millauer B, Ullrich A, Risau W (1993). Up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor and its cognate receptors in a rat glioma model of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 53(23): 5822-5827.

- 183. Plate KH, Breier G, Weich HA, Mennel HD, Risau W (1994). Vascular endothelial growth factor and glioma angiogenesis: coordinate induction of VEGF receptors, distribution of VEGF protein and possible in vivo regulatory mechanisms. Int J Cancer. 59(4): 520-529.
- 184. Phillips, H.S., Armani, M.P., Stavrou, D., Ferrara, N., and Westphal, M. (1993) Intense focal expression of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA in human intracranial neoplasms: association with regions of necrosis. Int. J. Oncol. 2: 913-919.
- 185. Samoto K, Ikezaki K, Ono M, Shono T, Kohno K, Kuwano M, Fukui M (1995). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its possible relation with neovascularization in human brain tumors. Cancer Res. 55(5): 1189-1193.
- 186. Shibuya M, Yamaguchi S, Yamane A, Ikeda T, Tojo A, Matsushime H, Sato M (1990). Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. Oncogene. 5(4): 519-524.
- 187. de Vries C, Escobedo JA, Ueno H, Houck K, Ferrara N, Williams LT (1992). The fms-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Science. 255(5047): 989-991.
- 188. Dvorak HF, Sioussat TM, Brown LF, Berse B, Nagy JA, Sotrel A, Manseau EJ, Van de Water L, Senger DR (1991). Distribution of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in tumors: concentration in tumor blood vessels. J Exp Med. 174(5): 1275-1278.
- 189. Ullrich A, Coussens L, Hayflick JS, Dull TJ, Gray A, Tam AW, Lee J, Yarden Y, Libermann TA, Schlessinger J, et al (1984). Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. Nature. 309(5967): 418-425.
- 190. Ekstrand AJ, James CD, Cavenee WK, Seliger B, Pettersson RF, Collins VP (1991). Genes for epidermal growth factor receptor, transforming growth factor alpha, and epidermal growth factor and their expression in human gliomas in vivo. Cancer Res. 51(8): 2164-2172.
- 191. Hamel W, Westphal M, Shepard HM (1992). Proto-oncogene expression in human glioma derived cell lines. Int J Oncol. 1: 673-682.
- Schlegel U, Moots PL, Rosenblum MK, Thaler HT, Furneaux HM (1990).
 Expression of transforming growth factor alpha in human gliomas. Oncogene.
 5(12): 1839-1842.
- 193. Moscatello DK, Montgomery RB, Sundareshan P, McDanel H, Wong MY, Wong AJ (1996). Transformational and altered signal transduction by a naturally occurring mutant EGF receptor. Oncogene. 13(1): 85-96.
- 194. Nagane M, Coufal F, Lin H, Bogler O, Cavenee WK, Huang HJ (1996). A common mutant epidermal growth factor receptor confers enhanced tumorigenicity on human glioblastoma cells by increasing proliferation and reducing apoptosis. Cancer Res. 56(21): 5079-5086.
- 195. Nishikawa R, Ji XD, Harmon RC, Lazar CS, Gill GN, Cavenee WK, Huang HJ (1994). A mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human glioma confers enhanced tumorigenicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 91(16): 7727-7731.

- 196. Guha A, Dashner K, Black PM, Wagner JA, Stiles CD (1995). Expression of PDGF and PDGF receptors in human astrocytoma operation specimens supports the existence of an autocrine loop. Int J Cancer. 60(2): 168-173.
- 197. Hermanson M, Funa K, Hartman M, Claesson-Welsh L, Heldin CH, Westermark B, Nister M (1992). Platelet-derived growth factor and its receptors in human glioma tissue: expression of messenger RNA and protein suggests the presence of autocrine and paracrine loops. Cancer Res. 52(11): 3213-3219.
- Westermark B, Heldin CH, Nister M (1995). Platelet-derived growth factor in human glioma. Glia. 15(3): 257-263.
- 199. Nister M, Libermann TA, Betsholtz C, Pettersson M, Claesson-Welsh L, Heldin CH, Schlessinger J, Westermark B (1988). Expression of messenger RNAs for platelet-derived growth factor and transforming growth factor-alpha and their receptors in human malignant glioma cell lines. Cancer Res. 48(14): 3910-3918.
- 200. Fleming TP, Saxena A, Clark WC, Robertson JT, Oldfield EH, Aaronson SA, Ali IU (1992). Amplification and/or overexpression of platelet-derived growth factor receptors and epidermal growth factor receptor in human glial tumors. Cancer Res. 52(16): 4550-4553.
- 201. Lokker NA, Sullivan CM, Hollenbach SJ, Israel MA, Giese NA (2002). Plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) autocrine signaling regulates survival and mitogenic pathways in glioblastoma cells: evidence that the novel PDGF-C and PDGF-D ligands may play a role in the development of brain tumors. Cancer Res. 62(13): 3729-3735.

- 202. Hamel W, Westphal M, Szonyi E, Escandon E, Nikolics K (1993). Neurotrophin gene expression by cell lines derived from human gliomas. J Neurosci Res. 34(2): 147-157.
- 203. Wang Y, Hagel C, Hamel W, Muller S, Kluwe L, Westphal M (1998). Trk A, B, and C are commonly expressed in human astrocytes and astrocytic gliomas but not by human oligodendrocytes and oligodendroglioma. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 6(4): 357-364.
- 204. Weis C, Wiesenhofer B, Humpel C (2002). Nerve growth factor plays a divergent role in mediating growth of rat C6 glioma cells via binding to the p75 neurotrophin receptor. J Neurooncol. 56(1): 59-67.
- 205. Glick RP, Lichtor T, Unterman TG (1997). Insulin-like growth factors in central nervous system tumors. J Neurooncol. 35(3): 315-325.
- 206. Merzak A, McCrea S, Koocheckpour S, Pilkington GJ (1994). Control of human glioma cell growth, migration and invasion in vitro by transforming growth factor beta 1. Br J Cancer. 70(2): 199-203.
- 207. Lamszus K, Laterra J, Westphal M, Rosen EM (1999). Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (SF/HGF) content and function in human gliomas. Int J Dev Neurosci. 17(5-6): 517-530.
- 208. Welch WC, Kornblith PL, Michalopoulos GK, Petersen BE, Beedle A, Gollin SM, Goldfarb RH (1999). Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and receptor (c-met) in normal and malignant astrocytic cells. Anticancer Res. 19(3A): 1635-1640.
- 209. Wong ML, Kaye AH, Hovens CM (2007). Targeting malignant glioma survival signalling to improve clinical outcomes. J Clin Neurosci. 14(4): 301-308.

- Bansal K, Liang ML, Rutka JT (2006). Molecular biology of human gliomas. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 5(3): 185-194.
- 211. Lin LF, Doherty DH, Lile JD, Bektesh S, Collins F (1993). GDNF: a glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor for midbrain dopaminergic neurons. Science.
 260(5111): 1130-1132.
- 212. Yasuhara T, Date I (2007). Intracerebral transplantation of genetically engineered cells for Parkinson's disease: toward clinical application. Cell Transplant. 16(2): 125-132.
- 213. Zurn AD, Widmer HR, Aebischer P (2001). Sustained delivery of GDNF: towards a treatment for Parkinson's disease. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 36(2-3): 222-229.
- 214. Ridet JL, Deglon N, Aebischer P (2000). Gene transfer techniques for the delivery of GDNF in Parkinson's disease. Novartis Found Symp. 231: 202-215.
- 215. Slevin JT, Gash DM, Smith CD, Gerhardt GA, Kryscio R, Chebrolu H, Walton A, Wagner R, Young AB (2007). Unilateral intraputamenal glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with Parkinson disease: response to 1 year of treatment and 1 year of withdrawal. J Neurosurg. 106(4): 614-620.
- 216. Airaksinen MS, Saarma M (2002). The GDNF family: signalling, biological functions and therapeutic value. Nat Rev Neurosci. 3(5): 383-394.
- 217. Manie S, Santoro M, Fusco A, Billaud M (2001). The RET receptor: function in development and dysfunction in congenital malformation. Trends Genet. 17(10): 580-589.
- 218. Ibanez CF (1998). Emerging themes in structural biology of neurotrophic factors.Trends Neurosci. 21(10): 438-444.

- 219. Golden JP, DeMaro JA, Osborne PA, Milbrandt J, Johnson EM Jr (1999). Expression of neurturin, GDNF, and GDNF family-receptor mRNA in the developing and mature mouse. Exp Neurol. 158(2): 504-528.
- 220. Takahashi M (2001). The GDNF/RET signaling pathway and human diseases.Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 12(4): 361-373.
- 221. Sariola H, Saarma M (2003). Novel functions and signalling pathways for GDNF.J Cell Sci. 116(Pt 19): 3855-3862.
- 222. Airaksinen MS, Titievsky A, Saarma M (1999). GDNF family neurotrophic factor signaling: four masters, one servant? Mol Cell Neurosci. 13(5): 313-325.
- 223. Eketjall S, Fainzilber M, Murray-Rust J, Ibanez CF (1999). Distinct structural elements in GDNF mediate binding to GFRalpha1 and activation of the GFRalpha1-c-Ret receptor complex. EMBO J. 18(21):5901-5910.
- 224. Simons K, Toomre D (2000). Lipid rafts and signal transduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 1(1): 31-39.
- Rajendran L, Simons K (2005). Lipid rafts and membrane dynamics. J Cell Sci. 118(Pt 6): 1099-1102.
- 226. Paratcha G, Ibanez CF (2002). Lipid rafts and the control of neurotrophic factor signaling in the nervous system: variations on a theme. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 12(5): 542-549.
- 227. Tsui-Pierchala BA, Encinas M, Milbrandt J, Johnson EM Jr (2002). Lipid rafts in neuronal signaling and function. Trends Neurosci. 25(8): 412-417.

- 228. Tsui-Pierchala BA, Ahrens RC, Crowder RJ, Milbrandt J, Johnson EM Jr (2002). The long and short isoforms of Ret function as independent signaling complexes. J Biol Chem. 277(37): 34618-34625.
- 229. de Graaff E, Srinivas S, Kilkenny C, D'Agati V, Mankoo BS, Costantini F, Pachnis V (2001). Differential activities of the RET tyrosine kinase receptor isoforms during mammalian embryogenesis. Genes Dev. 15(18): 2433-2444.
- 230. Paratcha G, Ledda F, Ibanez CF (2003). The neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM is an alternative signaling receptor for GDNF family ligands. Cell. 113(7): 867-879.
- 231. Popsueva A, Poteryaev D, Arighi E, Meng X, Angers-Loustau A, Kaplan D, Saarma M, Sariola H (2003). GDNF promotes tubulogenesis of GFRalpha1expressing MDCK cells by Src-mediated phosphorylation of Met receptor tyrosine kinase. J Cell Biol.161(1): 119-129.
- 232. Cho EA, Dressler GR (2003). Formation and development of nephrons. In The Kidney: from Normal Development to Congenital Disease (ed. P Vize, AS Woolf and JBL Bard) pp. 195-210. London: Academic Press.
- 233. Towers PR, Woolf AS, Hardman P (1998). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor stimulates ureteric bud outgrowth and enhances survival of ureteric bud cells in vitro. Exp Nephrol. 6(4): 337-351.
- 234. Meng X, Lindahl M, Hyvonen ME, Parvinen M, de Rooij DG, Hess MW, Raatikainen-Ahokas A, Sainio K, Rauvala H, Lakso M, Pichel JG, Westphal H, Saarma M, Sariola H (2000). Regulation of cell fate decision of undifferentiated spermatogonia by GDNF. Science. 287(5457): 1489-1493.

- 235. Meng X, Pata I, Pedrono E, Popsueva A, de Rooij DG, Janne M, Rauvala H, Sariola H (2001). Transient disruption of spermatogenesis by deregulated expression of neurturin in testis. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 184(1-2): 33-39.
- 236. Hansford JR, Mulligan LM (2000). Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and RET: from neoplasia to neurogenesis. J Med Genet. 37(11): 817-827.
- 237. Takahashi M (2001). The GDNF/RET signaling pathway and human diseases.Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 12(4): 361-373.
- Manie S, Santoro M, Fusco A, Billaud M (2001). The RET receptor: function in development and dysfunction in congenital malformation. Trends Genet. 17(10): 580-589.
- Newgreen D, Young HM (2002). Enteric nervous system: development and developmental disturbances--part 2. Pediatr Dev Pathol. 5: 329-349.
- 240. Gill SS, Patel NK, Hotton GR, O'Sullivan K, McCarter R, Bunnage M, Brooks DJ, Svendsen CN, Heywood P (2003). Direct brain infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in Parkinson disease. Nat Med. 9(5): 589-595.
- 241. Slevin JT, Gash DM, Smith CD, Gerhardt GA, Kryscio R, Chebrolu H, Walton A, Wagner R, Young AB (2007). Unilateral intraputamenal glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with Parkinson disease: response to 1 year of treatment and 1 year of withdrawal. J Neurosurg. 106(4): 614-620.
- 242. Messer CJ, Eisch AJ, Carlezon WA Jr, Whisler K, Shen L, Wolf DH, Westphal H, Collins F, Russell DS, Nestler EJ (2000). Role for GDNF in biochemical and behavioral adaptations to drugs of abuse. Neuron. 26(1): 247-257.

- 243. Abrams M, Widenfalk J (2005). Emerging strategies to promote improved functional outcome after peripheral nerve injury. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 23(5-6): 367-382.
- 244. Pezet S, Krzyzanowska A, Wong LF, Grist J, Mazarakis ND, Georgievska B, McMahon SB (2006). Mol Ther. 13(6): 1101-1109.
- 245. Kanter-Schlifke I, Georgievska B, Kirik D, Kokaia M (2007). Seizure Suppression by GDNF Gene Therapy in Animal Models of Epilepsy. Mol Ther. 2007 Mar 27.
- 246. Kobayashi T, Ahlenius H, Thored P, Kobayashi R, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O (2006). Intracerebral infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor promotes striatal neurogenesis after stroke in adult rats. Stroke. 37(9): 2361-2367.
- 247. Brady S, Lechan RM, Schwaitzberg SD, Dayal Y, Ziar J, Tischler AS (1997). Composite pheochromocytoma/ganglioneuroma of the adrenal gland associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia 2A: case report with immunohistochemical analysis. Am J Surg Pathol. 21(1): 102-108.
- 248. Powers JF, Schelling KH, Tischler AS (2001). Chromaffin cell mitogenesis by neurturin and glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor. Neuroscience. 108(2): 341-349.
- 249. Okada Y, Takeyama H, Sato M, Morikawa M, Sobue K, Asai K, Tada T, Kato T, Manabe T (1999). Experimental implication of celiac ganglionotropic invasion of pancreatic-cancer cells bearing c-ret proto-oncogene with reference to glial-cellline-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF). Int J Cancer. 81(1): 67-73.

- 250. Ito Y, Okada Y, Sato M, Sawai H, Funahashi H, Murase T, Hayakawa T, Manabe T (2005). Expression of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor family members and their receptors in pancreatic cancers. Surgery. 138(4): 788-794.
- 251. Iwahashi N, Nagasaka T, Tezel G, Iwashita T, Asai N, Murakumo Y, Kiuchi K, Sakata K, Nimura Y, Takahashi M (2002). Expression of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor correlates with perineural invasion of bile duct carcinoma. Cancer. 94(1): 167-174.
- 252. Hansford LM, Marshall GM (2005). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family ligands reduce the sensitivity of neuroblastoma cells to pharmacologically induced cell death, growth arrest and differentiation. Neurosci Lett. 389(2): 77-82.
- 253. Wiesenhofer B, Stockhammer G, Kostron H, Maier H, Hinterhuber H, Humpel C (2000). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and its receptor (GFR-alpha 1) are strongly expressed in human gliomas. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 99(2): 131-137.
- 254. Wiesenhofer B, Weis C, Humpel C (2000). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) is a proliferation factor for rat C6 glioma cells: evidence from antisense experiments. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev. 10(5): 311-321.
- 255. Johnson JM, Castle J, Garrett-Engele P, Kan Z, Loerch PM, Armour CD, Santos R, Schadt EE, Stoughton R, Shoemaker DD (2003). Genome-wide survey of human alternative pre-mRNA splicing with exon junction microarrays. Science. 302(5653): 2141-2144.

- 256. Byun HJ, Hong IK, Kim E, Jin YJ, Jeoung DI, Hahn JH, Kim YM, Park SH, Lee H (2006). A splice variant of CD99 increases motility and MMP-9 expression of human breast cancer cells through the AKT-, ERK-, and JNK-dependent AP-1 activation signaling pathways. J Biol Chem. 281(46): 34833-34847.
- 257. Plowman SJ, Berry RL, Bader SA, Luo F, Arends MJ, Harrison DJ, Hooper ML, Patek CE (2006). K-ras 4A and 4B are co-expressed widely in human tissues, and their ratio is altered in sporadic colorectal cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 25(2): 259-267.
- 258. Lee EJ, Jo M, Park J, Zhang W, Lee JH (2006). Alternative splicing variants of IRF-1 lacking exons 7, 8, and 9 in cervical cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 347(4): 882-888.
- 259. Tomlinson DC, L'Hote CG, Kennedy W, Pitt E, Knowles MA (2005). Alternative splicing of fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 produces a secreted isoform that inhibits fibroblast growth factor-induced proliferation and is repressed in urothelial carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Res. 65(22): 10441-10449.
- 260. Haudenschild DR, Curtiss SB, Moseley TA, Reddi AH (2006). Generation of interleukin-17 receptor-like protein (IL-17RL) in prostate by alternative splicing of RNA. Prostate. 66(12):1268-1274.
- 261. Korte A, Moricke A, Beyermann B, Kochling J, Taube T, Kebelmann-Betzing C, Henze G, Seeger K (1999). Extensive alternative splicing of interleukin-7 in malignant hematopoietic cells: implication of distinct isoforms in modulating IL-7 activity. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 19(5): 495-503.

- 262. Dey BK, Wong YW, Too HP (1998). Cloning of a novel murine isoform of the glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor receptor. Neuroreport. 9(1): 37-42.
- 263. Sanicola M, Hession C, Worley D, Carmillo P, Ehrenfels C, Walus L, Robinson S, Jaworski G, Wei H, Tizard R, Whitty A, Pepinsky RB, Cate RL (1997). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-dependent RET activation can be mediated by two different cell-surface accessory proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94(12): 6238-6243.
- 264. Shefelbine SE, Khorana S, Schultz PN, Huang E, Thobe N, Hu ZJ, Fox GM, Jing S, Cote GJ, Gagel RF (1998). Mutational analysis of the GDNF/RET-GDNFR alpha signaling complex in a kindred with vesicoureteral reflux. Hum Genet. 102(4): 474-478.
- 265. Dolatshad NF, Silva AT, Saffrey MJ (2002). Identification of GFR alpha-2 isoforms in myenteric plexus of postnatal and adult rat intestine. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 107(1): 32-38.
- Wong YW, Too HP (1998). Identification of mammalian GFRalpha-2 splice isoforms. Neuroreport. 9(17): 3767-3773.
- 267. Lindahl M, Timmusk T, Rossi J, Saarma M, Airaksinen MS (2000). Expression and alternative splicing of mouse Gfra4 suggest roles in endocrine cell development. Mol Cell Neurosci. 15(6): 522-533.
- 268. Lindahl M, Poteryaev D, Yu L, Arumae U, Timmusk T, Bongarzone I, Aiello A, Pierotti MA, Airaksinen MS, Saarma M (2001). Human glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor receptor alpha 4 is the receptor for persephin and is

predominantly expressed in normal and malignant thyroid medullary cells. J Biol Chem. 276(12): 9344-9351.

- 269. Masure S, Cik M, Hoefnagel E, Nosrat CA, Van der Linden I, Scott R, Van Gompel P, Lesage AS, Verhasselt P, Ibanez CF, Gordon RD (2000). Mammalian GFRalpha -4, a divergent member of the GFRalpha family of coreceptors for glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor family ligands, is a receptor for the neurotrophic factor persephin. J Biol Chem. 275(50): 39427-39434.
- Lee DC, Chan KW, Chan SY (2002). RET receptor tyrosine kinase isoforms in kidney function and disease. Oncogene. 21(36): 5582-5592.
- 271. Lorenzo MJ, Gish GD, Houghton C, Stonehouse TJ, Pawson T, Ponder BA, Smith DP (1997). RET alternate splicing influences the interaction of activated RET with the SH2 and PTB domains of Shc, and the SH2 domain of Grb2. Oncogene. 14(7): 763-771.
- 272. Buttner B, Reutter W, Horstkorte R (2004). Cytoplasmic domain of NCAM 180 reduces NCAM-mediated neurite outgrowth. J Neurosci Res. 75(6): 854-860.
- 273. Povlsen GK, Ditlevsen DK, Berezin V, Bock E (2003). Intracellular signaling by the neural cell adhesion molecule. Neurochem Res. 28(1): 127-141.
- 274. Saffell JL, Doherty P, Tiveron MC, Morris RJ, Walsh FS (1995). NCAM requires a cytoplasmic domain to function as a neurite outgrowth-promoting neuronal receptor. Mol Cell Neurosci. 6(6): 521-531.
- 275. Yoong LF, Peng ZN, Wan G, Too HP (2005). Tissue expression of alternatively spliced GFRalpha1, NCAM and RET isoforms and the distinct functional

consequence of ligand-induced activation of GFRalpha1 isoforms. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 139(1): 1-12.

- 276. Stahl W, Lenhardt S, Przybylski M, Eisenbrand M (1992). Mechanism of glutathione-mediated DNA damage by the antineoplastic agent 1,3-bis(2chloroethyl)-N-nitrosourea. Chem Res Toxicol. 5(1):106-109.
- Becker K, Schirmer RH (1995). 1,3-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea as thiolcarbamoylating agent in biological systems. Methods Enzymol. 251: 173-188.
- 278. Wiechelman KJ, Braun RD, Fitzpatrick JD (1988). Investigation of the bicinchoninic acid protein assay: identification of the groups responsible for color formation. Anal Biochem. 175(1): 231-237.
- 279. Kelly PJ, Daumas-Duport C, Scheithauer BW, Kall BA, Kispert DB (1987). Stereotactic histologic correlations of computed tomography- and magnetic resonance imaging-defined abnormalities in patients with glial neoplasms. Mayo Clin Proc. 62(6): 450-459.
- Dandy WE (1928). Removal of right cerebral hemisphere for certain tumors with hemiplegia. JAMA. 90: 823–825.
- 281. Gardner WE (1932). Removal of the right cerebral hemisphere for infiltrating glioma. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 67: 787–789.
- Rowe SN (1937). Mental changes following the removal of the right cerebral hemisphere for brain tumor. Am J Psychiatry. 94: 605–614.
- 283. Hillier WF Jr (1954). Total left cerebral hemispherectomy for malignant glioma. Neurology. 4: 718–721.

- 284. Burklund CW, Smith A (1977). Language and the cerebral hemispheres: observations of verbal and nonverbal responses during 18 months following left ("dominant") hemisphrectomy. Neurology. 27: 627–633.
- 285. Lacroix M, Abi-Said D, Fourney DR, Gokaslan ZL, Shi WM, deMonte F, Lang FF, McCutcheon IE, Hassenbusch SJ, Holland E, Hess K, Michael C, Miller D, Sawaya R (2001). A multivariate analysis of 416 patients with glioblastoma multiforme: prognosis, extent of resection, and survival. J Neurosurg. 95: 190–198.
- 286. Sneed PK, Gutin PH, Larson DA, Malec MK, Phillips TL, Prados MD, Scharfen CO, Weaver KA, Wara WM (1994). Patterns of recurrence of glioblastoma multiforme after external irradiation followed by implant boost. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 29: 719–727.
- 287. Nazzaro JM, Neuwelt EA (1990). The role of surgery in the management of supratentorial intermediate and high-grade astrocytomas in adults. J Neurosurg. 73: 331–344.
- 288. Quigley MR, Maroon JC (1991). The relationship between survival and the extent of the resection in patients with supratentorial malignant gliomas. Neurosurgery.
 29: 385–388.
- Hess KR (1999). Extent of resection as a prognostic variable in the treatment of gliomas. J Neurooncol. 42: 227–231.
- 290. Grant R, Metcalfe SE (2005). Biopsy versus resection for malignant glioma.Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2: CD002034.
- 291. Hentschel SJ, Lang FF (2003). Current surgical management of glioblastoma.Cancer J. 9: 113–125.

- 292. Whittle IR, Pringle AM, Taylor R (1998). Effects of resective surgery for left sided intracranial tumours on language function: a prospective study. Lancet. 351: 1014–1018.
- 293. Mitchell P, Ellison DW, Mendelow AD (2005). Surgery for malignant gliomas: mechanistic reasoning and slippery statistics. Lancet Neurol. 4: 413-422.
- 294. Brown PD, Maurer MJ, Rummans TA, Pollock BE, Ballman KV, Sloan JA, Boeve BF, Arusell RM, Clark MM, Buckner JC (2005). A prospective study of quality of life in adults with newly diagnosed high-grade gliomas: the impact of the extent of resection on quality of life and survival. Neurosurgery. 57: 495-504.
- 295. Ammirati M, Vick N, Liao Y, Ciric I, Mikhael M (1987). Effect of the extent of surgical resection on survival and quality of life in patients with supratentorial glioblastomas and anaplastic astrocytomas. Neurosurgery. 21: 201–206.
- 296. Sawaya R, Hammoud M, Schoppa D, Hess KR, Wu SZ, Shi WM, Wildrick DM (1998). Neurosurgical outcomes in a modern series of 400 craniotomies for treatment of parenchymal tumors. Neurosurgery. 42: 1044–1056.
- 297. Stewart LA (2002). Chemotherapy in adult high-grade glioma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from 12 randomised trial. Lancet.
 359(23): 1011-1018.
- 298. Jackson RJ, Fuller GN, Abi-Said D, Lang FF, Gokaslan ZL, Shi WM, Wildrick DM, Sawaya R (2001). Limitations of stereotactic biopsy in the initial management of gliomas. Neurooncology. 3: 193-200.

- 299. Nimsky C, Ganslandt O, Buchfelder M, Fahlbusch R (2006). Intraoperative visualization for resection of gliomas: the role of functional neuronavigation and intraoperative 1.5 T MRI. Neurol Res. 28(5): 482-487.
- 300. Pang BC, Wan WH, Lee CK, Khu KJ, Ng WH (2007). The Role of Surgery in High-grade Glioma - Is Surgical Resection Justified? A Review of the Current Knowledge. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 36(5): 358-356.
- 301. Mueller WM, Yetkin FZ, Hammeke TA, Morris GL 3rd, Swanson SJ, Reichert K, Cox R, Haughton VM (1996). Functional magnetic resonance imaging mapping of the motor cortex in patients with cerebral tumors. Neurosurgery. 39(3): 515-520.
- 302. Oh DS, Black PM (2005). A low-field intraoperative MRI system for glioma surgery: is it worthwhile? Neurosurg Clin N Am. 16: 135-141.
- 303. Meyer FB, Bates LM, Goerss SJ, Friedman JA, Windschitl WL, Duffy JR, Perkins

WJ, O'Neill BP (2001). Awake craniotomy for aggressive resection of primary gliomas located in eloquent brain. Mayo Clin Proc. 76(7): 677-687.

- 304. Low D, Ng I, Ng WH (2007). Awake craniotomy under local anaesthesia and monitored conscious sedation for resection of brain tumours in eloquent cortex outcomes in 20 patients. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 36(5): 326-326.
- 305. Reilly JT (2003). Receptor tyrosine kinases in normal and malignant haematopoiesis. Blood Rev. 17(4): 241-248.
- 306. Pawson T (2002). Regulation and targets of receptor tyrosine kinases. Eur J Cancer.38 Suppl 5: S3-10.

- 307. Katso R, Okkenhaug K, Ahmadi K, White S, Timms J, Waterfield MD (2001). Cellular function of phosphoinositide 3-kinases: implications for development, homeostasis, and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 17: 615-675.
- 308. Veit C, Genze F, Menke A, Hoeffert S, Gress TM, Gierschik P, Giehl K (2004). Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinase is required for glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-induced migration and invasion of pancreatic carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 64(15): 5291-5300.
- 309. Hansford LM, Marshall GM (2005). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family ligands reduce the sensitivity of neuroblastoma cells to pharmacologically induced cell death, growth arrest and differentiation. Neurosci Lett. 389(2): 77-82.
- Diensthuber M, Lenarz T, Stover T (2006). Neurotrophic factor expression in vestibular schwannoma. An overview. Laryngorhinootologie. 85(10): 731-777.
- 311. Song H, Moon A (2006). Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) promotes low-grade Hs683 glioma cell migration through JNK, ERK-1/2 and p38 MAPK signaling pathways. Neurosci Res. 56(1): 29-38.
- 312. Tan TC, Ho LC, Yu CP, Cheung FC (2004). Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma: report of two cases and review of the prognostic factors. J Clin Neurosci. 11(2): 203-207.
- 313. Giannini C, Scheithauer BW, Burger PC, Brat DJ, Wollan PC, Lach B, O'Neill BP (1999). Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma: what do we really know about it? Cancer. 85(9): 2033-2045.

- 314. Bayindir C, Balak N, Karasu A, Kasaroglu D (1997). Anaplastic pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma. Childs Nerv Syst. 13(1): 50-56.
- 315. Korshunov A, Golanov A (2001). Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytomas:
 immunohistochemistry, grading and clinico-pathologic correlations. An analysis of
 34 cases from a single Institute. J Neurooncol. 52(1):63-72.
- 316. Cervoni L, Salvati M, Santoro A, Celli P (1996). Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma: some observations. Neurosurg Rev. 19(1): 13-16.
- 317. Chakrabarty A, Mitchell P, Bridges LR, Franks AJ (1999). Malignant transformation in pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma--a report of two cases. Br J Neurosurg. 13(5): 516-519.
- 318. Charlet-Berguerand N, Le Hir H, Incoronato M, di Porzio U, Yu Y, Jing S, de Franciscis V, Thermes C (2004). Expression of GFRalpha1 receptor splicing variants with different biochemical properties is modulated during kidney development. Cell Signal. 16(12): 1425-1434.
- 319. Yoong LF, Too HP (2007). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and neurturin inhibit neurite outgrowth and activate RhoA through GFR alpha2b, an alternatively spliced isoform of GFR alpha2. J Neurosci. 27(21): 5603-5614.
- 320. Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL (2001). Stem Cells, cancer and cancer stem cells. Nature 414: 105-111.
- 321. Hirschmann-Jax C, Foster AE, Wulf GG, Nuchtern JG, Jax TW, Gobel U, Goodell MA, Brenner MK (2004). A distinct "side population" of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 101(39): 14228-14233.

- 322. Hirschmann-Jax C, Foster AE, Wulf GG, Goodell MA, Brenner MK (2005). A distinct "side population" of cells in human tumor cells: implications for tumor biology and therapy. Cell Cycle. 4(2): 203-205.
- 323. Liu G, Yuan X, Zeng Z, Tunici P, Ng H, Abdulkadir IR, Lu L, Irvin D, Black KL, Yu JS (2006). Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Mol Cancer. 5: 67.
- 324. Scala S, Wosikowski K, Giannakakou P, Valle P, Biedler JL, Spengler BA, Lucarelli E, Bates SE, Thiele CJ (1996). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor protects neuroblastoma cells from vinblastine toxicity. Cancer Res. 56(16): 3737-3742.
- 325. Liu YC, Leu CM, Wong FH, Fong WS, Chen SC, Chang C, Hu CP (2002). Autocrine stimulation by insulin-like growth factor I is involved in the growth, tumorigenicity and chemoresistance of human esophageal carcinoma cells. J Biomed Sci. 9(6 Pt 2): 665-674.
- 326. Hansford LM, Marshall GM (2005). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family ligands reduce the sensitivity of neuroblastoma cells to pharmacologically induced cell death, growth arrest and differentiation. Neurosci Lett. 389(2): 77-82.
- 327. Lee RH, Wong WL, Chan CH, Chan SY (2006). Differential effects of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and neurturin in RET/GFRalpha1-expressing cells. J Neurosci Res. 83(1): 80-90.
- 328. Chakravarti A, Chakladar A, Delaney MA, Latham DE, Loeffler JS (2002). The epidermal growth factor receptor pathway mediates resistance to sequential

administration of radiation and chemotherapy in primary human glioblastoma cells in a RAS-dependent manner. Cancer Res. 62(15): 4307-4315.

- Cogoni C, and Macino G. (2000) Post-transcriptional gene silencing across kingdoms. Genes Dev 10: 638-643.
- 330. Guru T. (2000). A silence that speaks volumes. Nature 404: 804-808.
- 331. Hammond SM, Caudy AA, Hannon GJ. (2001) Post-transcriptional Gene Silencing by Double-stranded RNA. Nature Rev Gen 2: 110-119.
- 332. Maehama T, Dixon JE (1998). The tumor supressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5triphosphate. J Biol Chem 273 : 13375-13378.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1

CONSENT FOR USE OF BRAIN TUMOUR TISSUE FOR RESEARCH

Background of project

Astrocytomas are the most common primary brain tumours. They are classified into two broad groups: low-grade astrocytomas and high-grade astrocytomas.

The biological behaviour can range markedly. Generally, low-grade astrocytomas are tumours that exhibit slow, progressive growth whereas high-grade astrocytomas tend to grow more rapidly.

Many factors can influence this growth rate. One such factor is the influence of growth factors. There are numerous growth factors which have been shown to influence the behaviour of these tumours. Glial Cell-Line Derived Neurotrophic Factor (GDNF) is an important growth factor which has not been studied extensively.

GDNF is produced in normal brain tissues. We believe that it is produced in excessive quantities in patients with astrocytomas and that the excessive levels of GDNF stimulate tumour growth.

We hope that understanding the role of GDNF on tumour growth will allow us to understand tumour biology better and ultimately be able to develop new treatment strategies for the future.

How can you help?

At the time of surgery, tumour tissue is removed. Some tissue is collected for histology and at times microbiological tests if indicated. These tests allow us to make an accurate diagnosis. Excess tissue is discarded. We hope to be able to use this tissue for our research. Only some of this tissue will be used for this research project and extra tissue will be stored in freezers. Should we require the tissue for future research projects, we will obtain consent from you again.

The research data will be coded and your identity will not be revealed and your confidentiality maintained at all times.

You can be assured that your care is the top priority. In situations where only small amounts of tissue are obtained, they will be sent for the relevant tests and not for research. We will not compromise on your care.

What if I choose not to participate in the research project?

Participation in this project is totally voluntary. Non-participation will not influence your care in any way and you will receive the same level of care as a patient who chooses to participate in the project.

Who can I contact for more information?

You can contact the following persons if you have any queries:

Dr Ng Wai Hoe (Principle Investigator)

Dr Yeo Tseng Tsai (Collaborator)

Ms Emily Ang (Neuro-oncology Nurse Clinician)

Contact Number: 63577191

I have read and understood the information regarding consent for the use of brain tumour tissue for research. I understand that:

- 1. Participation in this research project is totally voluntary
- 2. Only excess brain tumour tissue that will normally be discarded will be used for research
- 3. My clinical care is the first priority and non-participation will not influence my care in any way

I give consent for the use of any excess brain tumour tissue for research.

(Signature)

(Name/NRIC)

I have explained the background and purpose of the research project to the patient and answered all queries.

(Signature)

(Name/Designation)